"The highest education is that which does not merely give us information but makes our life in harmony with all existence"

Rabindranath Tagore

University of Alberta

NOREPINEPHRINE-MEDIATED SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY: A NOVEL SIGNALING DIALOGUE BETWEEN RECEPTORS AND NUCLEUS

by

Sabyasachi Maity

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Physiology

©Sabyasachi Maity Spring 2014 Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Abstract

Norepinephrine (NE) helps in the consolidation and retention of memories of emotionally charged events. However, the pathway from membrane receptors to nucleus in noradrenergic signaling in the brain is not completely understood. The cyclic AMP-PKA pathway is one of the most studied signaling pathways recruited by norepinephrine to induce and maintain LTP, a cellular correlate of long term memory. In the present study, I describe a novel signaling mechanism of NEmediated induction and expression of LTP when paired with a specific stimulus protocol, through cAMP receptors (Epac) instead of PKA. I demonstrate that this pathway involves transcriptional and epigenetic mechanisms other than local protein synthesis. Hence, this unique pathway may be recruited upon novel experience to form a stable memory. Considering that many memory-related cognitive impairments are due to altered pathophysiology of the noradrenergic system, these results both increase our understanding and move us closer to a possible solution for neurological diseases involving neuromodulators like NE.

Highlights

- Norepinephrine engages Epac to facilitate LTP
- Translation and transcription are recruited by norepinephrine
- Epigenetic mechanisms are recruited by noradrenergic stimulation
- Epigenetic regulation by NE offers a novel mechanism for maintaining LTP

Acknowledgments

Today, close to my graduation, I realized how blessed I am being around many wonderful people. I would like to take this opportunity to thank all of them who contributed to my doctoral study actively or passively. First and foremost, a hearty thanks to my friends and family for always being with me for ups and downs and provide support throughout my study.

Getting a PhD was not always on my to-do list. However, it is the most wonderful experience in my life so far. I can still remember the day when I was completely lost in my mind about the future of my life. But I was relieved when somebody came on my way and guided me through. That was my Master's professor Dr. J.P. Rao who always encouraged me to go for research and get surprised every day. My sincerest thanks to Dr. Rao for his wonderful guidance to pursue PhD in Physiology. He channeled my energy to the right path of education without letting me divert.

My sincere thanks to my current supervisor Dr. Peter Nguyen for letting me work under his guidance and pursue a PhD in physiology. His tremendous knowledge in the field has taught me many avenues of science which I think will be an asset throughout my life. Outside science, his mastery in arts and history also have opened my eyes to look at the world in an artistic way and to find the joy of life through travelling. A special thanks to all the present and past members of Nguyen's lab with whom I have had opportunity to work. I would like to thank Dr. Steven A. Connor and Ms. Hilary Edison for creating an excellent environment of work throughout my study. Thanks to our previous summer students and to our current part-time student, Stephanie Del Alba for the time and inputs they had provided for my project. Nothing would have been possible without their kind support, friendship and helping hand to reach today.

A huge appreciation to all the wonderful people of physiology department at the 7th floor of MSB for creating such a friendly and enjoyable atmosphere to work. Special thanks to all the office staff for their endless help throughout the program.

Thanks to my committee members, Drs. Clayton Dickson and Declan Ali for their valuable critical insights to help me to be successful in my graduate study. I would also like to extend my thanks to Drs. Simon Gosgnach and Ian Winship for serving as committee members for my candidacy examination and helping me to broaden my scientific knowledge. A special thank you to Dr. John McLean from Memorial University for being my external and to Dr. Esther Fujiwara from University of Alberta for being an internal examiner outside department.

Additionally, I greatly appreciate the time and efforts of my collaborators Drs. Christos G. Gkogkas and Nahum Sonenberg from McGill University to work on molecular biology experiments for my project. Finally, I would like to thank the funding agencies (CIHR & AHFMR) for support toward my research.

Table of Contents

Abstract

Highlights

Acknowledgements

Table of Contents

List of Figures

List of Tables

List of Abbreviations

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1	Learning and memory: A historical perspective		
1.2	Theories of learning and memory	3	
1.2.1	Multiple memory systems	3	
1.2.2	Memory phases and consolidation	7	
1.2.3	Hippocampal memory system	9	
1.3	Hippocampal neuroanatomy and physiology	12	
1.3.1	Hippocampal tri-synaptic circuitry	12	
1.3.2	Neuronal communication and glutamatergic transmission in hippocampal circuit	14	
1.4	Synaptic plasticity	18	
1.4.1	Synaptic plasticity: Study from Aplysia	19	
1.4.2	Synaptic plasticity in mammalian brain: Long-term potentiation and long-term depression	22	
1.4.3	Hippocampal LTP phases and mechanisms	24	
1.5	Signature of LTP/LTD in learning and memory	30	

1.6	Epigenetics in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory	35
1.6.1	Defining epigenetic mechanisms	35
1.6.2	Epigenetic marks and tags: A brief molecular mechanism	36
1.6.3	Epigenetics in the nervous system	42
1.6.4	Inhibitors of epigenetic modifications	43
1.6.5	Influence of upstream signaling in epigenetic regulation	45
1.6.6	Epigenetic code in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory	46
1.6.7	Epigenetics and neurodegenerative diseases	54
1.7Noradrenergic neuromodulation in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory5		
1.7.1	Noradrenergic system in the mammalian brain	56
1.7.2	Noradrenaline biosynthesis	56
1.7.3	Noradrenergic receptor subtypes	58
1.7.4	Functional aspects of adrenergic receptors in hippocampal neuron	61
1.7.4.1	α -adrenergic receptors and hippocampal neuronal excitability	61
1.7.4.2	β -adrenergic receptors and hippocampal neuronal excitability	62
1.8	Objectives of the current study	66
Chapt	er 2: Materials and Methods	
2.1	Animals	68
2.2	Hippocampal slice preparation and two pathway extracellular field potential recording	68
2.3	Tissue collection and quantitative Western blot	71

2.4	Data analysis	71
2.5	Drugs and protocol	73
Chap	ter 3: Results	
3.1	Norepinephrine facilitates the induction of LTP through	
	mechanisms requiring both β -adrenergic and NMDA receptors	77
3.2	Adrenergic receptor subtypes in NE-LTP	79
3.3	Intracellular signaling pathway for NE-LTP	81
3.4	mTOR-dependent protein synthesis is upregulated in NE-LTP	85
3.5	Nuclear signaling: Transcription and NE-LTP	88
3.6	Epigenetic modification in NE- LTP/	
	DNA methylation in NE-LTP	90
3.7	Acetylation of histones is required for NE-LTP	93
3.8	Inhibiting HDAC does not cause any further	
	enhancement of NE-LTP	96
3.9	Norepinephrine triggers histone phosphorylation	
	through Aurora kinase	98

Chapter 4: Discussion

4.1	Noradrenergic modulation of cognitive function	
4.1.1	Noradrenergic modulation of declarative memory:	
	A role in consolidation and retrieval	101
4.1.2	Noradrenergic influence in emotional memory	102
4.2	Novel signaling in noradrenaline-induced long term potentiation	103

4.2.1 Adrenergic receptor specificity and the role of		
	NMDARs in NE-induced plasticity	105
4.2.2	Epac-dependent protein synthesis	107
4.2.3	Transcription and epigenetic mechanisms in	
	NE-induced synaptic plasticity	109
4.2.4	Therapeutic implication of noradrenaline	
	signaling mechanisms	114
4.3	Future directions	116
Chap	ter 5: References	118

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Various forms of long term memory	5
Figure 1.2	Brain regions and associated Memory systems	10
Figure 1.3	Hippocampal circuitry and information flow	13
Figure 1.4	Three types of glutamate receptors	16
Figure 1.5	Gill withdrawal response in Aplysia	21
Figure 1.6	Molecular mechanisms of phases of LTP	29
Figure 1.7	Epigenetic marks and tags	37
Figure 1.8	Biosynthesis of norepinephrine	57
Figure 1.9	Noradrenergic regulation of memory	59
Figure 2.1	Field EPSP and LTP recording model	70
Figure 2.2	Tissue collection and quantitative Western Blot	72
Figure 3.1	Norepinephrine-induced LTP is maintained for several	
	hours and mediated through NMDA receptors	78
Figure 3.2	LTP elicited by NE application during 100 Hz stimulation	
	requires β -adrenergic receptors but not α	80
Figure 3.3	L-LTP induced by NE paired with 1 x 100 Hz stimulation requires Epac enzyme activity but not PKA	83
Figure 3.4	Protein synthesis through mTOR is required for	
	NE-induced L-LTP	87
Figure 3.5	L-LTP induced by NE paired with 1 x 100 Hz	
	stimulation is transcription dependent	89
Figure 3.6	L-LTP induced by NE pairing with 1 x 100 Hz	
	stimulation requires DNA methylation	92

Figure 3.7	Histone acetylation and its time restricted		
	role in NE-LTP	94	
Figure 3.8	Occlusion of NE-LTP with HDAC inhibitor TSA	97	
Figure 3.9 Histone phosphorylation is required for			
	NE-induced L-LTP	99	
Figure 4.1	Schematic representation of signaling mechanisms		
	in NE-LTP	104	
Figure 4.2	Suggested model of epigenetic modification in NE-LTP	113	

Table 1.1	Drugs and concentrations used	74
-----------	-------------------------------	----

List of Tables

Table 1.1Drugs and concentrations used

List of Abbreviations

4E-BP	4E-binding protein
α-AR	alpha-adrenergic receptor
AC	adenylyl cyclase
ACSF	artificial cerebrospinal fluid
AMPAR	L - α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor
ANOVA	analysis of variance between groups
β-AR	beta-adrenergic receptor
bdnf	brain-derived neurotrophic factor
Ca ²⁺	calcium
CA	cornu ammonis
cAMP	adenosine 3', 5'-cyclic monophosphate
CaM	calmodulin
CaMKII	calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
CBP	CREB binding protein
CCAC	Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines
CREB	cyclic AMP response element binding protein
DG	dentate gyrus
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
eIF4E	eukaryotic initiation factor 4E
EME	emetine
EPSP	excitatory postsynaptic potential
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase

fEPSP	field excitatory postsynaptic potential
G-protein	guanine nucleotide-binding regulatory protein
GluR	glutamate receptor
НАТ	histone acetyl transferase
HDAC	histone deacetyl transferase
HFS	high-frequency stimulation
IEG	immediate early gene
LFS	low-frequency stimulation
LTP	long-term potentiation
LTD	long-term depression
LTM	long-term memory
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEK	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
Mg^{2+}	magnesium
mGluR	metabotropic receptor
mRNA	messenger RNA
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
MSDS	Material Safety Data Sheets
MTL	medial temporal lobe
MWM	Morris water maze
NMDAR	N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor
PP1	protein phosphatase 1
РКА	cAMP-dependent protein kinase

РКС	protein kinase C
PSD	postsynaptic density
RAP	rapamycin
RNA	ribonucleic acid
S	stimulating electrode
SEM	standard error of the mean
STM	short-term memory
WT	wild type

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Learning and memory: A historical perspective

The human brain, over decades of evolution, acquires properties which make us respond in accordance to our environment. The brain has specialized structures and components within it to perform higher cognitive functions. Learning and memory is one such higher nervous function where we learn about specific tasks, places, faces, etc., and store this information within the memory storage system of brain for future use.

Today's knowledge about synaptic plasticity and memory is rooted in psychological studies of the late 18th and 19th centuries. The German psychologist Hermann Ebbinghaus (1850-1909), performing many experiments on himself, such as memorizing lists of nonsense syllables and testing, revealed some of the basic properties of memory in terms of duration and influence of repetition on retention of that memory. Sergei Korsakoff (1887) published a classic paper on alcoholism and established a memory disorder as a measure to study mnemonic processes. William James in 1890 wrote *Principles of Psychology*, which introduced the concept of short- (primary) and long-(secondary) term memory with their distinctive features. Edward Thorndike then in 1898 published his work using animals to study memory, and introduced the concept of operant conditioning.

The 19th century brought the idea of behavioural neuroscience to the study of learning and memory. In 1904, Ivan Pavlov worked on classical conditioning, where he demonstrated that a conditioned reflex (i.e., salivation) could be altered with learning. In the 1930s and '40s, behavioural psychologists such as John Watson, B.F. Skinner, and Clark Hull introduced different theories of learning to explain complex behaviour. Tolman (1948) published a paper on cognitive maps in rats and men and argued for the cognitive mechanisms in learning involving knowledge about the world. Before the origin of behavioral psychology to explain memory mechanism, the great neuroanatomist Ramon y Cajal (1890) suggested that structural changes of synapses in the brain might be responsible for the memory engram, and Charles Sherrington (1897) supported this by naming these synaptic changes as a mechanism of learning. Karl Lashley in the early 1920s performed experiments by removing a mass of cortical tissue and measuring its effect on maze learning. He concluded that different memories were diffusely distributed throughout the cortical region. In 1938 Wilder Penfield demonstrated that electrical stimulation of the brain could elicit memories, perceptions, and hallucinations including voices, images, and music. In 1949, the Canadian neuroscientist Donald Hebb published his book the Organization of Behavior in which he argued for a neural network system to be responsible for memory storage in the brain. In the 1960s and '70s Scoville and Milner conducted tremendous work on the patient H.M. Their publications described H.M.'s severe loss of memory without loss of intellectual or cognitive abilities that resulted from partial removal of bilateral medial temporal cortex. This suggested a clear

functional heterogeneity within the brain, in contrast to the earlier theory of Lashley. Brenda Milner (1968) again demonstrated that procedural memory in H.M. was unaffected, suggesting different types of memory could be maintained by different brain regions.

1.2 Theories of learning and memory

1.2.1 Multiple memory systems

The idea of memory not being a single faculty of mind appeared in the writing of famous psychologists and philosophers more than a century ago. The philosopher Maine de Biran (1804/1929) proposed three forms of memory: mechanical, sensitive, and representative, each of which has unique properties and mechanisms (Schacter and Tulving, 1994). Although the idea of distributed memory systems in the brain was promising at the beginning, those ideas were ignored until the 1960s and '70s, when combined evidence from cognitive neuropsychology, psychology, and neurobiology supported the view of *multiple* memory systems. The research was directed then toward the efforts to experimentally dissociate different memory systems. Work with experimental animals and amnesic patients then renamed these systems into procedural, declarative, and emotional memory, respectively (Scoville and Milner, 1957; Schacter, 1990; Squire, 1992). Declarative memory refers to the conscious recollection of facts and events that is impaired in amnesia and dependent on structures in the medial temporal lobe. On the other hand, procedural memory is learned by gradual acquisition of skills and expressed through performance or

motor functions. Emotional memories are modified by emotionally charged events (Fig. 1.1).



Fig. 1.1: Various forms of long term memory

The evidence supporting the notion of multiple memory systems came from the various psychological experiments conducted on the amnesic patient H.M., who had a brain surgery in which a portion of medial temporal lobe (MTL) was removed to cure the epileptic attacks which made H.M.'s life unimaginable. Though the surgery was successful, H.M. developed a severe anterograde amnesia in which he was unable to form any new memories of people, places, facts and events, while maintaining a perfect intellectual capability (Corkin, 1984; Milner et al., 1968). However, H.M did retain specific types of memory (Corkin, 2002), although he performed poorly on tests designed to assess retention of information such as pictures, stories, etc. For example, H.M. could learn new sensory motor skills such as the task of mirror-drawing, and improve over trials despite an inability to remember the event of performing the task before. He did perform normally in other tests such as repetition priming, classical conditioning, and habit learning. In summary, H.M. had a specific deficit in declarative memory whereas his non-declarative memory was intact. H.M.'s study, along with studies from other amnesic patients, strongly supported the notion of different memory systems being localized at different part of the brain (Cohen and Squire, 1980; Squire and McKee, 1993; Tulving and Schacter, 1990; Warrington and Weiskrantz, 1968). With the advancement in pharmacological and surgical manipulations of the brain using different animal models, an in-depth knowledge of neural pathways responsible for memory can be assessed. To this end, several lines of amnesic animal models were developed and a rigorous study on rats and mice provided solid information about multiple memory systems in the brain and their

interactions. Based on several key observations from human studies and animal experiments regarding distinctive memory systems in the brain, Squire coined the term "medial temporal lobe system", which consists of the hippocampal formation, perirhinal cortex, and parahippocampal cortex, and suggested that it is responsible for encoding of declarative memories distinct from other types of memories. The striatum is responsible for habitual memory, neocortex for percepts and priming, amygdala for emotional memory, and cerebellum for motor learning or procedural memory (Squire and Zola-Morgan, 1988; Squire, 1992; Squire and Zola, 1997; Squire and Zola-Morgan, 1991).

1.2.2 Memory phases and consolidation

Though different classification systems exist to describe the phases of memory duration, for the purpose of simplicity it can be classified into three distinct phases: working memory, short-term memory (STM) and long-term memory (LTM). Working memory lasts for 10-30 seconds (Craik, 1979) and incorporates fragments of information such as a visuospatial sketchpad to hold and manipulate visual images, a phonological loop to retain speech, a fraction of episodic information of an episodic event, and an attentional component from the central executive to hold the information during the learning period (Baddeley, 1996; Baddeley, 2003; Repovs and Baddeley, 2006; Pickering, 2001). The prefrontal cortex plays an important role in the regulation of working memory (Fuster, 1998). Though patients with selective damage of MTL demonstrate severe anterograde amnesia, they have perfect working memory (Squire and Zola, 1997).

This proves that working memory is separate from other types of memory. Another example of this separation is H.M.'s normal working memory (in terms of recognition and recall without any distraction) (Corkin, 2002).

The STM can retain memory for longer than working memory but shorter than LTM (from minutes to hours). STM and LTM operate in parallel fashion (Izquierdo and McGaugh, 2000) instead of a temporal progression of memory storage as previously thought (James, 1890). Injecting specific kinase inhibitors of STM into the hippocampus inhibits STM without affecting LTM expression at later time points (Izquierdo et al., 1999). Therefore, STM and LTM may use separate mechanisms to progress from one phase to the other.

The formation of LTM requires a process called consolidation during which new or temporary memories are transferred from a labile to a more resilient form (Alvarez and Squire, 1994; McGaugh, 2000). Although the processing of information can exist in the hippocampus, the long term storage of this information is thought to be the neocortical region (Alvarez and Squire, 1994; Bontempi et al., 1999). Consolidation is a slow process during which cortical structures are reorganized and finally become independent of the memory processing systems. The slow process of consolidation can be understood from the studies of retrograde amnesia, in which patients experience an impairment of retention of more recent memories but old memories remain intact (Squire and Alvarez, 1995). For example, patient E.P. who had bilateral hippocampal damage

was able to recall the neighbourhood where he spent his childhood (Teng and Squire, 1999) and his performance was perfect in comparison to the aged-matched control who also grew up in the same place and later moved. However, E.P. had no memories of his current place, where he moved after he became amnesic (Teng and Squire, 1999). Therefore, the hippocampus as memory processing system reorganizes over time so that it is no longer needed for retention of memories.

1.2.3 Hippocampal memory system

The hippocampus receives neuronal projections from all different cortical areas to process specific information (**Fig. 1.2**) and act as a window through which the brain can see the outside world. In doing so, it acts as a gateway to associate information from different inputs over time to encode explicit memory (Mishkin et al., 1998). For example, cortical association areas from frontal, parietal and temporal lobes converge on the hippocampus through parahippocampal and entorhinal cortices (Suzuki and Amaral, 1994a; Suzuki and Amaral, 1994b) and information from the hippocampus also flows back to the same cortical association areas (Deacon et al., 1983; Van Hoesen et al., 1972; Amaral and Witter, 1989).



Fig. 1.2: Brain regions and associated Memory systems (adapted and modified from Squire and Zola-Morgan, 1988).

Why does the hippocampus have those complicated innervations? Initially it was suggested that the hippocampus is involved in olfaction, sensation, perception and higher cognitive functions (reviewed in Anderson et al., 2007). However, after tremendous research on human case studies, the MTL theory was proposed by Larry Squire, where he suggested that the hippocampus, along with the parahippocampal and perirhinal cortices, plays a selective role in the formation of declarative memory (Cohen and Squire, 1980). Even before MTL theory, hippocampal single unit recording from awake rats suggested a cognitive map theory of hippocampal function (O'Keefe and Dostrovsky, 1971) in which an individual neuron has a spatial map of the environment and that information is coded by its firing patterns. Anatomical and behavioral studies across species indicate that the functional organization of the MTL system is similar (Squire, 1992), and the requirement of hippocampus for memory formation is common among humans, non-human primates and rodents.

In summary, the hippocampus covers a broad range of functions that include spatial, non-spatial, and contextual forms of learning and memory, which allow it to support the formation of relational representations of information in memory (Eichenbaum et al., 1992).

1.3 Hippocampal neuroanatomy and physiology

1.3.1 Hippocampal tri-synaptic circuitry

The mammalian hippocampus is a C-shaped structure in the temporal lobe extending from the caudoventral temporal lobe to the septal nuclei rostrodorsally (Amaral and Witter, 1989). Histologically, the hippocampus is separated into distinct subregions thought to be responsible for information processing and memory formation. These subregions are termed Ammon's horn, the dentate gyrus and the subiculum. Ammon's horn is further subdivided into four regions: cornu ammonis 1-4 (i.e., CA1-CA4). Several anatomical (Blackstad et al., 1970; Hjorth-Simonsen, 1973; Hjorth-Simonsen and Jeune, 1972) and electrophysiological (Krnjevic and Ropert, 1982) studies on hippocampus have described it as a layered, organized structure which is amenable to cellular electrophysiology experimentation. A typical hippocampal slice, commonly used for in vitro preparation, contains the tri-synaptic circuit consisting of the dentate gyrus, CA1 and CA3 connected sequentially (Fig. 1.3). Though all subregions receive direct subcortical input, cortical output flows systematically through the hippocampal circuitry. The perforant pathway, originating from the entorhinal and perirhinal cortices, terminates in the molecular layer of the dentate gyrus. The granule cells of the dentate gyrus then send output through mossy fibres to the proximal dendrites of the CA3 pyramidal cells. The large collateral axons of CA3 cells then either terminate in CA1 region through the Schaffer collateral pathway or project to other CA3 cells within the same field. A connection from area CA1 to subiculum, and efferents from both areas back to the parahippocampal region



Fig. 1.3: Hippocampal circuitry and information flow

complete the circuit. The parahippocampal region can also project to the CA1 region directly without following through long pathways.

Evidence from neural network organization, lesion studies and computational modelling suggests a subregional specificity of function (Zola-Morgan et al., 1986; Gold and Squire, 2005; Suthana et al., 2009; Kim and Frank, 2009; Kartsounis et al., 1995). Furthermore, with the advancement of science, studies using genetic approaches have shown that synaptic plasticity in the CA1 region is required for certain forms of memory (Tsien et al., 1996; Nakazawa et al., 2002).

1.3.2 Neuronal communication and glutamatergic transmission in the hippocampal circuit

Neurons communicate through a specialised structure called a synapse, termed by Sir Charles Scott Sherrington and colleagues. Synapses are junctions where presynaptic and post synaptic neurons communicate by chemical or electrical signals. In the brain, most neurons use chemical synaptic transmission to communicate and this underlies numerous cognitive processes. Though the final outcome of complex neuronal information processing is visible through a behavioral or cognitive phenomenon, individual neurons act as a unit for this purpose. Thus, an understanding of basic properties of individual neurons would be helpful to elucidate the cellular basis of behaviour (Kandel, 1976).

Upon depolarisation of the presynaptic terminal by an invading action potential, the Ca^{2+} channels open up, causing fusion and release of neurotransmitter-

containing vesicles from presynaptic terminals onto the synaptic cleft. The neurotransmitter then binds to its specific receptor on the post synaptic membrane close to the synaptic cleft. This binding of neurotransmitter leads to changes of the ion channels and of the membrane conductance, which leads to initiation of a graded membrane potential. This electrotonic membrane potential is known as an excitatory or inhibitory post synaptic potential (EPSP or IPSP, respectively). A special property of the synapse is its plastic nature, which means the strength of a synapse often can be enhanced or depressed depending upon the type of input it receives from other sources of influence. Such modifications of synaptic strength are key players in many important cognitive and behavioural phenomena such as sensory adaptation and alteration of receptive fields (O'Shea and Rowell, 1976) and habituation of escape responses to repeated stimuli (Auerbach and Bennett, 1969; Zucker, 1972; Zilber-Gachelin and Chartier, 1973). The plasticity of synapses in learning and memory is further described in the next section.

The majority of synapses in the hippocampal circuit are glutamatergic, which means these synapses release glutamate as a neurotransmitter at their nerve terminal. Most of the action of glutamate is upon the binding of two separate classes of glutamate receptors: the ionotropic receptors (or ligand-gated ion channels) and the metabotropic receptors (G-protein coupled receptors) (**Fig. 1.4**). This discussion will focus on ionotropic receptors as they have been shown to play an active role in synaptic plasticity. On the basis of reactivity to specific







Metabotropic glutamate receptor



Fig. 1.4: Three types of glutamate receptors.

agonists and antagonists, the ionotropic receptors were categorised into two distinct types of glutamate receptors (Watkins and Evans, 1981): N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) and non-NMDA types. The post synaptic potential/current (EPSP/EPSC) of CA1 pyramidal cells has been characterized by the electrophysiological whole-cell recording technique (Blanton et al., 1989). The excitatory synaptic responses of CA1 pyramidal cells have two kinetically distinct components: a fast, rapidly decaying non-NMDA mediated response, and a late, slow-rising NMDA-mediated response (Hablitz and Langmoen, 1982; Herron et al., 1985; Collingridge et al., 1988; Collingridge et al., 1992; Hestrin et al., 1990).

The NMDA receptors are composed of two subunits: NMDAR1 and NMDAR2, with NMDAR2s having four isoforms: NMDAR2A-D (Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994; Dingledine et al., 1999; Bochet and Rossier, 1993). The benefit of having different subunits is to alter receptor function according to subunit combination; NMDAR1 serves as a fundamental unit and NMDAR2 subunits as modulatory. The NMDARs in CA1 pyramidal cells are Ca²⁺-conducting glutamate receptor ion channels (MacDermott et al., 1986; Mayer and Westbrook, 1987; Iino et al., 1990; Ogita et al., 1998) and act as coincidence detectors of simultaneous presynaptic firing with postsynaptic depolarization. This coincidence detection is needed to expel Mg²⁺ ions from the NMDAR channel pores and to conduct Ca⁺² influx subsequently (Mayer et al., 1984; Nowak et al., 1984; Kumamoto, 1996; Mayer and Westbrook, 1987).

Another type of fast excitatory glutamatergic synaptic transmission in hippocampal cells is mediated through a type of glutamate receptor activated by α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazol-proprionate (AMPA), known as AMPA receptors (AMPAR). The AMPARs are composed of four subunits, GluR1-4 or GluRA-D (Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994; Dingledine et al., 1999). The kinetics of AMPA receptors are dictated by the subunit composition, which can be expressed as either homomeric or heteromeric oligomers. For example, AMPARs containing GluR2 subunits are predominantly Ca²⁺ - impermeable and outward-rectifying (Jonas et al., 1994; Liu and Cull-Candy, 2002; Tanaka et al., 2000).

An additional, kainate-sensitive glutamate receptor subtype has been also identified (Castillo et al., 1997; Vignes and Collingridge, 1997; Frerking et al., 1998), and these kainate receptors are encoded by the GluR5-7 and KA-1/2 family of genes with structural homology to AMPA receptors. The final class of glutamate receptors are G-protein coupled receptors, known as metabotropic glutamate receptors. Based on their homology, these receptors are divided in three broad categories: mGluR 1-3. Activation of mGluRs causes physiological functions such as inhibition of calcium and potassium channels (Anwyl, 1999).

1.4 Synaptic plasticity

Since the discovery of neurons as signal-conducting elements of the brain, it was postulated that they may also have the ability to store and retrieve information in terms of various electrochemical mechanisms. Ramon y Cajal (1893) suggested a

correlation between mental activity and synaptic strength. Interestingly, Donald Hebb (1949) in his landmark study postulated a theory of cellular memory formation where synaptic activity could generate long-lasting changes in excitability of the neurons and these changes comprise a cellular memory. He wrote, "When an axon of cell A is near enough to excite cell B and repeatedly or persistently takes part in firing it, some growth process or metabolic change takes place in one or both cells such that A's efficiency, as one of the cells firing B, is increased," (p.62). Since then, it was hypothesized that neurons retain previous information and mediate learning and memory.

1.4.1 Synaptic plasticity: Study from Aplysia

Although hypotheses regarding cellular mechanisms of memory formation existed in the 19th century, it was difficult to design and perform experimental investigation on the neuronal level considering the complex architecture of mammalian nervous system. To this end, in the 1970s Eric Kandel and groups used the marine invertebrate *Aplysia californica*, which has a relatively simple nervous system consisting of fewer and larger easily identifiable neurons, to address and investigate the cellular mechanisms of memory formation (Kandel et al., 1976). One of the observable and modifiable behavioural responses of *Aplysia* is the gill-withdrawal reflex, which allows it to protect its gill and siphon from an external noxious stimulus. In the laboratory, the strength of this behavioral response to a graded stimulus to the siphon is determined by its previous experience and considered indicative of learning (Pinsker et al., 1973). Generally,
a tactile stimulus activates siphon sensory neurons which eventually excite the motor neurons innervating the gill and initiate withdrawal of the gill from the stimulus environment. These gill-withdrawal responses are sensitized in such a way that a noxious stimulus at the tail induces a withdrawal response which is increased in both strength and duration upon subsequent stimulation with a neutral stimulus. Mechanistically, sensory input from the siphon skin modulates responses of excitatory and inhibitory interneurons to alter postsynaptic motor neuron responses. A tail shock activates excitatory serotonergic interneurons which release serotonin (5-HT) onto presynaptic sensory neuronal terminals originating from the siphon and generates a stronger postsynaptic response to the motor neuron and consequently a larger withdrawal response of gill (Mackey et al., 1989; Glanzman et al., 1989). The relative simplicity and accessibility of the nervous system in *Aplysia* has permitted an in-depth investigation of the neuronal mechanisms of short- and long-term sensitization in Aplysia (Byrne et al., 1974; Hawkins, 1981). In brief, transient local kinase activation and protein phosphorylation constitutes presynaptic facilitation in short-term sensitization (Castellucci et al., 1980; Klein and Kandel, 1980), whereas persistent protein activation and macromolecular synthesis constitute long-lasting kinase sensitization of the gill-withdrawal response (Sweatt and Kandel, 1989; Sossin et al., 1994; Castellucci et al., 1986) (Fig. 1.5).



Fig. 1.5: Gill withdrawal response in *Aplysia* (adapted and modified from Kandel et al., 2001)

- A: Aplysia Anatomy and experimental set up.
- B: Cell-signaling in short-term sensitization response
- C: Cellular-signaling in long-term sensitization response

Thus, studies on *Aplysia* demonstrate a direct link between the neuronal mechanism of action to the behavioral response and establish a framework for investigation of synaptic plasticity and learning and memory that is also observed in the more complex mammalian system.

1.4.2 Synaptic plasticity in the mammalian brain: Long-term potentiation and long-term depression

Though studies from the simple Aplysia model postulated that alterations of strength of synapses could mediate information storage in the mammalian brain, the experimental evidence of such phenomena was not available until the 1970s, when Bliss and Lømo conducted a series of experiments on rabbit hippocampus and discovered long-term potentiation (LTP) of synaptic strength in dentate gyrus, similar to the long-term sensitization of Aplysia (Bliss and Lomo, 1973; Bliss and Gardner-Medwin, 1973). In short, they observed a persistent enhancement of synaptic strength when a high frequency electrical stimulation was applied at synapses in the hippocampus of the rabbit, and thought it to be responsible for encoding of new information. Accumulating evidence supported the idea that LTP is responsible for memory formation and consolidation (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993; Martin and Morris, 2002; Moser et al., 1998). Initial observations on the characteristics of LTP have made it a crucial candidate for the information storage system. Like long-term memory, the duration of LTP may persist from days up to a year (Bliss and Gardner-Medwin, 1973; Abraham et al., 2002; Staubli and Lynch, 1987).

There are several other properties of LTP which make it a unique candidate for memory formation and storage. Importantly, LTP is pathway-specific, which means only stimulated synapses are affected, not nearby inactive synapses (Andersen et al., 1977). The purpose of this pathway specificity is to process information precisely from individual synapses through a complex computational mechanism. LTP also shows the properties of cooperativity and associativity. Cooperativity means numerous presynaptic fibres should fire together to bring sufficient depolarization of the post-synaptic neuron to induce LTP (Bliss and Lomo, 1973; Bliss and Gardner-Medwin, 1973; Malenka, 1991; McNaughton et al., 1978). Associativity implies that LTP could be elicited if a weak stimulus at one input is paired temporally with a strong stimulus at an independent input (Gustafsson et al., 1987; Levy and Steward, 1979). Using these properties, neurons can perform information processing and generate LTP.

Unlike long-term potentiation, synaptic strength can also be persistently weakened, termed long-term depression (LTD), which is thought to balance the enhancement of synaptic strength during LTP and prevent the saturation of synapses. A low frequency stimulation of presynaptic neurons or an inconsistent presynaptic firing which eventually fails to activate postsynaptic cells would decrease the synaptic strength between these cells and cause LTD (Stent, 1973; Dudek and Bear, 1992; Heynen et al., 1996; Milner et al., 2004). Some forms of

LTD are thought to be necessary for information storage (Etkin et al., 2006; Manahan-Vaughan and Braunewell, 1999; Nakao et al., 2002).

1.4.3 Hippocampal LTP phases and mechanisms

Traditional teaching divides hippocampal LTP into three phases: immediate, early and late LTP. Immediate LTP is thought to be protein-kinase independent and lasts about 30 minutes. Early LTP lasts for 2-3 hours and is due to persistent activation of various protein kinases. The late phase of LTP lasts many hours to days, and is hypothesized to be due to translation and transcription mechanisms.

LTP typically goes through three stages: induction, expression and maintenance. Commonly, a brief, 100Hz, high frequency stimulation (HFS) is used to elicit LTP. Several other protocols have also been employed to induce LTP, such as the application of electrical stimulation in the range of 3-12 Hz (also known as theta frequency) (Staubli and Lynch, 1987). This type of stimulation is believed to be more physiological as oscillations in this range are observed in the hippocampus and thought to be mediated by release of acetylcholine, GABA and glutamate from neurons of medial septum and entorhinal cortex (Alonso and Llinas, 1989). For example, short high-frequency bursts of stimulation with an interburst interval of 200 ms, which resemble and phase-lock with the complex spike activity of pyramidal neurons, facilitates the induction of LTP (Buzsaki, 1986; Otto et al., 1991). Electrophysiological recordings of LTP make use of these stimulation protocols to induce LTP in hippocampal slices. Mechanistically, induction of LTP is due to increased intracellular calcium concentration through NMDA receptors (Collingridge et al., 1983; Lynch et al., 1983; Malenka et al., 1988). In this respect, NMDA receptors play a crucial role as coincidence detectors to ensure that LTP is induced properly only when there is a simultaneous activation of preand post-synaptic neurons (to remove the magnesium blockade from NMDARs). For example, weak tetanic stimulation might not be able to depolarise the postsynaptic neuron to reach the threshold for NMDAR activation, even though there is enough glutamate present at the synaptic cleft for AMPAR activation. However, a strong synchronous tetanic stimulation of presynaptic neurons (within a specific spatial and temporal window) activates immediate or nearby postsynaptic neurons to reach to their threshold depolarization for NMDAR activation and calcium influx, leading to LTP induction.

LTP, after its induction through NMDAR activation, follows through the expression (E-LTP) and maintenance (L-LTP) phases. LTP expression is a consequence of the interaction of multiple intracellular signaling cascades (Sanes and Lichtman, 1999; Soderling and Derkach, 2000) leading to enhancement of synaptic transmission through increasing post-synaptic receptor conduction or insertion of extrasynaptic receptor subunits on post-synaptic sites. In this respect, signaling molecules such as CaMKII, PKA and PKC have been described to phosphorylate subunits of AMPA and NMDA receptors (Malenka and Bear, 2004; Roche et al., 1996; Lee et al., 2000) to alter the kinetics of function (Benke et al., 1998; Derkach et al., 1999). Many studies have reported a deficiency in LTP expression using pharmacological blockers or genetic approaches to block

signaling molecules such as CAMKII or PKC, confirming the previous notion (Malinow et al., 1989; Hu et al., 1987; Silva et al., 1992). PKA, however, behaves in such a way that its inhibition does not disrupt E-LTP generation by 1x100Hz stimulation (Abel et al., 1997; Duffy and Nguyen, 2003; Huang and Kandel, 1994). Further investigation revealed that PKA phosphorylates I-1, which suppresses the inhibitory effect of PP1 on synaptic potentiation (Blitzer et al., 1998). In this way, PKA can gate LTP expression through phosphatase regulation (Blitzer et al., 1998; Woo et al., 2002). Insertion of extrasynaptic AMPARs to the "silent synapses" (synapses with no AMPARs) or AMPAR trafficking due to enhanced CAMKII and PKA activity are proposed to be other candidate mechanisms of LTP expression (Kullmann, 2003; Poncer, 2003; Esteban et al., 2003; Hayashi et al., 2000). Thus, both E-LTP (LTP expression) in hippocampus and short-term facilitation in *Aplysia* are decremental (lasting only hours) and rely on covalent modification of pre-existing proteins. The subsequent phase of LTP maintenance (L-LTP) requires additional synaptic modifications, such as macromolecular synthesis.

L-LTP or LTP maintenance phase lasts for several hours and is generally initiated by applying multiple (>2) trains of HFS (Abraham et al., 2002). The multiple trains of HFS activate intracellular signaling that engages translation and transcriptional machinery to produce new mRNAs or proteins in support of structural and functional plasticity (Deadwyler et al., 1987; Nguyen et al., 1994; Stanton and Sarvey, 1984). In this context, it should be noted that studies using inhibitors of translation and transcription mechanisms suggest a temporal window for these mechanisms to support LTP maintenance. Translation is required for persistence of LTP at the beginning but transcription is generally recruited at a later time point (Frey and Morris, 1997; Frey et al., 1996; Nguyen et al., 1994). The requirement of translation and transcription for LTP maintenance is a complex mechanism needing further clarification.

The initial idea of a translational requirement for LTP was revealed by a series of studies showing the presence of polyribosomal complexes in dendrites (Steward and Schuman, 2001; Steward and Schuman, 2003). Meanwhile, several groups also showed the presence of translational factors in dendrites. These translational factors could be recruited at synaptic sites upon electrical stimulation (Kanhema et al., 2006; Tang and Schuman, 2002; Smart et al., 2003; Moon et al., 2009; Ostroff et al., 2002; Bourne et al., 2007; Mitsuyama et al., 2008). Electrical stimulation of neurons activates many intracellular signaling cascades, such as ERK and mTOR, to control protein synthesis (Banko et al., 2006; Kelleher, III et al., 2004; Tsokas et al., 2007; English and Sweatt, 1997; Wu et al., 1999). Interestingly, various neuromodulators can influence synaptic plasticity by upregulating the translational machinery and hence modulate some types of memory formation. Thus, local protein synthesis is connected to synaptic plasticity as well as memory through a yet-to-be clarified mechanism involving many intracellular signaling molecules.

Initial reports on transcriptional regulation of LTP maintenance appeared in studies in which cell bodies were cut from dendrites, resulting in decremental LTP (Frey et al., 1989). Furthermore, inhibitors of transcription have also been shown to block L-LTP maintenance (Frey et al., 1996; Nguyen et al., 1994) supporting the notion that transcription is required for maintenance of LTP. Phosphorylation of the transcription factor CREB by upstream kinases such as PKA, PKC and MAPK is crucial for transcriptional regulation (Impey et al., 1998; Impey et al., 1996; Bito et al., 1996; Pokorska et al., 2003), and inhibiting CREB phosphorylation with PKA/MAPK blockers prevents L-LTP (Davis et al., 2000; Sweatt, 2004; Shaywitz and Greenberg, 1999; Johannessen and Moens, 2007). High, but not low, frequency stimulation phosphorylates CREB to bind with CREB binding proteins (CBP) of various immediate early genes to stimulate transcription (Lee and Masson, 1993; Tian et al., 1996). The possibility of cellwide distribution of translation products challenges the idea of input specificity in synaptic plasticity. However, recent theories suggest that these gene products are available to be captured only by previously activated ("tagged") synapses (Sossin et al., 1994; Frey and Morris, 1997). A model for different phases of LTP is shown in Fig. 1.6.



Fig. 1.6: Molecular mechanisms of phases of LTP (Adapted and modified from Kandel et al., 2001).

1.5 Signature of LTP/LTD in learning and memory

The link between synaptic plasticity and memory was formalized by Morris and colleagues as the synaptic plasticity and memory (SPM) hypothesis: "Activitydependent synaptic plasticity is induced at appropriate synapses during memory formation, and is both necessary and sufficient for the information storage underlying the type of memory mediated by the brain area in which that plasticity is observed" (Martin et al., 2000). Decades of research have established a possible connection between synaptic plasticity, such as LTP or LTD, and memory formation; however, a direct link has been difficult to prove. Although we have many interesting studies in vitro establishing the electrophysiological and molecular events responsible for activity-dependent changes in synaptic strength (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993; Engert and Bonhoeffer, 1999; Malenka and Nicoll, 1999; Lynch, 2004), the data demonstrating a role for synaptic plasticity during actual learning in vivo are sparse. However, several landmark experiments (described below) have provided evidence for changes in synaptic strength which coincide with learning and memory processes.

If LTP is a mechanism that supports the formation of a spatial cognitive map of the external world which can be later retrieved, then disruption of LTP should interfere with spatial memory formation. Experiments with two types of mutant mice provided more direct evidence for a possible role of LTP in spatial memory formation. In the first type of mutant mouse, the NR1 subunit of NMDA receptors was knocked out in the CA1 region of hippocampus, which resulted in disruption

of LTP and simultaneous impairment of spatial memory formation in the Morris water maze (MWM) test (Tsien et al., 1996). In a second mutant, expression of a persistently active form of $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase can be turned on and off at will. Activation of this transgene selectively impaired LTP in the frequency range of 1-10 Hz and caused instability of place fields. The mutant mice also performed poorly in spatial tasks. However, LTP was restored and the animal's capability to form spatial memory was re-established when the transgene was turned off (Mayford et al., 1996). These two sets of early genetic experiments on mutant mice established a foundation for LTP in the Schaffer collateral pathway as an important mechanism for spatial memory.

More recently, Whitlock et al. (2006) have shown that animals (rats) that have undergone inhibitory avoidance (IA) training (a test of memory trace formation) displayed an immediate NMDA receptor-dependent enhancement of phosphorylation at Ser 831 (but not Ser 845) of the GluR1 AMPAR subunits. IA training causes trafficking of GluR1/2 subunit of AMPA receptor in the hippocampus of trained animals compared to naive or control. Moreover, using multielectrode recordings, it has been shown that IA training induces fEPSP enhancements which occlude subsequent LTP induction *in vivo* in CA1. These data support the hypothesis that learning actually does induce LTP, a necessary corollary to the notion that LTP underlies learning.

Activity-dependent synaptic plasticity, such as LTP and LTD at glutamatergic synapses in hippocampal neurons, is considered a cellular mechanism for information encoding and consolidation of memory. LTP and LTD mechanisms are NMDA receptor subunit-specific, and pharmacological or genetic disruption of different subunits leads to changes in LTP or LTD. Blocking NMDA receptors pharmacologically prevents formation of the associative memories required for performing the MWM test (Morris et al., 1986). However the exact role of LTP and or LTD in MWM performance remained poorly understood and required additional experimental approaches that could selectively inhibit either LTP or LTD in freely moving rats. To this end, Ge et al. (2010) found that in freely moving rats, blocking LTP with the NR2A subunit-specific antagonist NVP-AAM077 leaves spatial memory intact, whereas preventing LTD with the NR2Bspecific antagonist Ro25-6981 impaired performance. For further confirmation, they performed bilateral intrahippocampal injections of a membrane-permeable peptide, Tat-GluA23Y, which prevents LTD expression by inhibition of AMPA receptor endocytosis. Similar to the effects of Ro25-6981, injection of the Tat-GluA23Y peptide prevented spatial memory consolidation. Hence, this study supports the importance of LTD in CA1 in the consolidation of long-term spatial memories in the intact animal.

The hippocampus is involved in a variety of learning paradigms, including classical conditioning of eye blink responses (Berger et al., 1983; Sanchez-Andres and Alkon, 1991; McEchron et al., 2003; Munera et al., 2001). Bilateral

hippocampal lesions lead to impairment of the acquisition of trace eye blink conditioning, leaving delay conditioning unaltered (Thompson, 1988; Moyer, Jr. et al., 1990). Based on this, Gruart et al. (2006) set out to test the hypothesis that the strength of the hippocampal CA3-CA1 synapse can be modified by acquisition of associative learning. Using classical conditioning of eye blink responses, they have shown that the hippocampal CA3-CA1 synapse is involved in the acquisition, extinction, recall, and reconditioning of conditioned responses (CRs). CA3-CA1 synaptic strength can be enhanced or decreased in parallel with the acquisition or extinction of eye blink conditioning. They have also shown that LTP, evoked by HFS of the Schaffer collaterals, interferes with both the acquisition of CRs and the linear relationships between learning scores and fEPSP slopes. Saturating CA3-CA1 synapses with LTP-inducing stimulation prevented additional synaptic changes in plasticity (Barnes et al., 1994; Otnaess et al., 1999), leading to both anterograde and retrograde amnesia. Finally, Gruart et al. showed that an NMDA-receptor antagonist is not only able to prevent LTP induction in vivo, but also interferes with both the formation of eye blink CRs and functional changes in strength at the CA3-CA1 synapse. Thus, they concluded that functional transformations of CA1 pyramidal cells are necessary for the proper acquisition, extinction, recall and reconditioning of eyelid CRs.

While it was quite difficult to delineate a causal link between hippocampal LTP/LTD and memory formation, two groups came up with evidence by directly demonstrating the occurrence of LTP in association with behavioural training in

animals (McEchron et al., 2003; Rogan et al., 1997). Both of these groups directly measured LTP, either through *ex vivo* or *in vivo* recording techniques, respectively, in the amygdala in response to behavioural training (fear conditioning training). Both groups eventually arrived at the same conclusion: fear conditioning induces synaptic potentiation of CS inputs into the amygdala. Further research indicated that this type of LTP is similar to hippocampal synaptic plasticity. These papers were the first to demonstrate that LTP could be triggered by endogenously occurring, natural patterns of neuronal firing, initiated by environmental signals.

While it has been difficult to directly demonstrate LTP physiologically in association with spatial learning, biochemical markers for LTP induction such as ERK, CaMKII and PKA/PKC activation, and altered gene expression, have been demonstrated to occur with spatial learning. Such a broad spectrum of molecular changes occurring with both LTP *in vitro* and spatial learning *in vivo* strongly suggest a co-occurrence of LTP with hippocampus-dependent memory formation. In conclusion, we can say that although there is a need for extensive study to pinpoint the exact mechanism correlating LTP or LTD to memory, our current understanding from the previous studies strongly suggests a causal link between LTP or LTD and memory formation.

1.6 Epigenetics in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory

1.6.1 Defining epigenetic mechanisms

Waddington coined the term epigenetics to explain some concepts in developmental biology (Waddington, 1957). Somatic cells of multi-cellular organisms have identical genomes, but cells of different systems differ from each other in cellular structure and function, which is due to use of different genes: that is epigenetics. For example, a liver cell differs from a neuron in structure and function although they have the same DNA. To explain the central dogma of variation of functions in different cells having the same DNA, Waddington suggested that some mechanisms above the level of genes encoded by DNA exist that controlled DNA readout to produce different gene products for different cells even though all cells carry the same DNA. This is what we now refer to as epigenetics. During the cell fate determination of the cell cycle, these epigenetic marks are tagged on the DNA to serve as a cellular phenotype over the cell's lifespan. Wolffe later coined the term epigenetics to describe "heritable changes in gene expression that occur without a change in DNA sequence" (Wolffe and Matzke, 1999). However, evidence from recent studies on the nervous system (containing terminally-differentiated, non-dividing cells) is accumulating to prove that epigenetic mechanisms are not only responsible for phenotypic determination of cells, but also play a role in gene expression in response to memory-inducing events.

1.6.2 Epigenetic marks and tags: A brief molecular mechanism

Epigenetic mechanisms are the key regulators of transcription. A nucleosome, consisting of a long stretch of DNA along with histone proteins such as H2A-H2B dimers or H3-H4 tetramers, exists as a highly compressed structure in the nucleus (Quina et al., 2006) and connects to the next nucleosome through linker histone H1 to form what is known as chromatin (Happel and Doenecke, 2009). The chromatin can exist in an active or inactive state. In its inactive state, known as heterochromatin, characterized by a closed, highly compacted structure, it is restrictive to transcription, whereas active euchromatin, characterised by an open state, is amenable to transcription (Arney and Fisher, 2004). The switching between these two states and the beginning of transcription is mediated through changes in DNA or post-translational modification of histone proteins, collectively known as epigenetic modification (**Fig. 1.7**).

The changes in DNA occur through the enzyme DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) by the addition of a methyl group from S-adenosyl-methionine (SAM) onto 5'-cytosine positioned adjacent to guanine nucleobases (CpG) (Chiang et al., 1996; Turker, 1999; Bird, 2002; Price et al., 2010). There are different subgroups of DNMTs to carry out different functions. The *de novo* DNMTs (3a and 3b) create new methylation marks when the cell fate is determined, and the maintenance DNMTs (DNMT1) maintain previously marked methylation on DNA (Nakao, 2001) by propagating epigenetic marks in dividing cells. It was initially shown



Fig. 1.7: Epigenetic marks and tags (adapted and modified from Jiang et al., 2008; Levenson et al., 2005)

that DNA methylation represses transcription by blocking transcription factors to bind to regulatory sites on DNA (Iguchi-Ariga and Schaffner, 1989) and by promoting closed chromatin structures through recruitment of transcriptional repressors (Karymov et al., 2001; Fuks et al., 2003; Drewell et al., 2002). Sometimes, extensive methylation can completely silence a gene. The methylation of cytosine residues of DNA recruits DNA binding proteins that have a methyl-DNA binding domain (MBD) and transcription regulatory domain (TRD). The TRD also recruits histone deacetylases (HDAC) to the site through adapter/scaffolding proteins. HDACs alter chromatin (DNA/protein complex) structure by removing an acetyl group from the core histone protein which leads to compacting of DNA and suppression of transcription. However, current studies suggest that methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2) can also activate transcription by interacting with CREB (Chahrour et al., 2008; Cohen et al., 2008). Recent studies also report a duality of function for *de novo* DNMTs (3a and 3b), whereby they are associated with heterochromatin and euchromatin (Chen et al., 2002; Kotini et al., 2011). Growing evidence indicates that DNA methylation is a dynamic and bidirectional mechanism in response to several experience-dependent events, such as neural activity, estrogen's effect on human cells, and exercise in muscle (Kangaspeska et al., 2008; Metivier et al., 2008; Guo et al., 2011a; Guo et al., 2011b; Barres et al., 2012).

A second major category of epigenetic markers is post-translational modification of histone proteins. Modification of histone proteins is a mechanism of epigenetic

tagging and can be mediated independent of DNA methylation. Histores are highly basic proteins with two distinctive portions. The interaction between histone proteins and the DNA molecule of chromatin is mediated through a long stretch of the N-terminal tail of histone proteins. Structural studies have found that the N-terminal tail of histone proteins protrudes from the chromatin core and is the site of post-translational modifications (PTMs) of histone proteins (Luger et al., 1997). The PTMs of histories are the critical regulators of DNA compaction and gene expression. The unmodified, positively charged histone proteins facilitate interaction with negatively charged DNA and inhibit gene expression by promoting the closed chromatin state (Muhlbacher et al., 2006). The N-terminal tail of histone proteins can undergo several covalent modifications, namely acetylation, phosphorylation, methylation, ubiquitination and sumoylation which alter the overall chromatin structure and binding properties of histone proteins (Strahl and Allis, 2000; Muhlbacher et al., 2006; Sanchez and Gutierrez, 2009). These combined PTMs of histone proteins serve as a "histone code" which directs gene expression by engaging transcriptional machinery (Strahl and Allis, 2000). Acetylation is the best and most widely studied PTM of histories and is characterized by the neutralization of the positive charges of amino groups of lysine residues by a group of enzymes known as histone acetyl transferases (HATs), which transfer an acetyl group from acetyl coenzyme A to the lysine residues of the histone tail (Tanner et al., 1999; Tanner et al., 2000b; Tanner et al., 2000a; Lau et al., 2000; Hebbes et al., 1988). The acetylation of histones is a reversible process, and the enzymes that mediate the reversal process are known

as histone deacetylases (HDACs). Histone acetylation is generally associated with the activation of transcription by recruiting transcription factors and RNA polymerase II and is considered a mark of the active state of chromatin or euchromatin (Mujtaba et al., 2007). CREB binding protein (CBP) is one of the best examples of HAT activity in regulation of transcription in learning and memory (Oliveira et al., 2007; Alarcon et al., 2004; Korzus et al., 2004; Martin and Sun, 2004; Vecsey et al., 2007).

Like acetylation, histone methylation is another epigenetic tag, catalyzed by histone methyl transferases (HMTs) which transfer up to three methyl groups from S-adenosine methionine to the lysine residue of the histone tail (Murray, 1964). However, in contrast to acetylation, a seemingly reversible process, methylation is a stable process and involved in long-term maintenance of genes (Cheung and Lau, 2005; Peters and Schubeler, 2005). Another important feature of histone methylation is its dual functional nature in transcription activation or repression depending upon methylation pattern. For example, H3-lys 4 methylation causes transcriptional activation, whereas H3-lys 9 methylation is associated with suppression of transcription (Binda et al., 2010).

Histone phosphorylation, specifically H3, has gained more attention since it is associated with condensation of chromosomes during mitosis (Bradbury et al., 1973; Gurley et al., 1974; Gurley et al., 1978). H3 phosphorylation was first reported in response to the activation of mitogenic signaling pathways

(Mahadevan et al., 1991). Phosphorylation of H3 on Ser 10 residue is mediated by ribosomal protein S6 kinase 2 (RSK2), which is downstream of several other kinases, including extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase 1 (MSK1), and the aurora kinase family member increase in ploidy 1 (IPL1) (Sassone-Corsi et al., 1999; Thomson et al., 1999; Hsu et al., 2000). Recent studies also indicate aurora kinases in H3 Serine 28 phosphorylation (Goto et al., 2002). Histone phosphorylation is a reversible process in which phosphatases remove phosphate groups from histones (Ajiro et al., 1996; Mahadevan et al., 1991). Protein phosphatases 1 (PP1) and 2A (PP2A) have been indicated to regulate H3 phosphorylation (Hsu et al., 2000; Nowak et al., 2003). Taken together, H3 phosphorylation works in concert with other histone modifications to modulate essential cellular functions by regulating transcriptional machinery to bind with the chromatin molecule.

Histone protein 2A (H2A) is the first of its kind identified to be ubiquitylated in the cell (Goldknopf et al., 1975). Like other proteins, histone proteins such as H1, H2A, H2B and H3 are ubiquitylated through the addition of an ubiquitine on the amino terminal of the lysine residue (Goldknopf et al., 1975; West and Bonner, 1980; Chen et al., 1998a; Pham and Sauer, 2000). Ubiquitylated histones take part in transcription regulation (Ogawa et al., 2002; Gearhart et al., 2006) and many other cellular processes.

1.6.3 Epigenetics in the nervous system

Neurons are structurally and functionally different than other cells of the body because of the presence of a neuron-restrictive silencer element (NRSE) portion at their promoter region which can completely silence a gene in non-neuronal cells (Maue et al., 1990; Li et al., 1993; Mori et al., 1992). The repression of neuronspecific gene expression in non-neuronal cells is achieved through interplay of a transcription factor known as RE1-silencing transcription factor (REST), which presents ubiquitously in non-neuronal cells (Chong et al., 1995) and NRSE. Experimentally, deleting REST in non-neuronal tissue causes lethal expression of neuron-specific genes whereas ectopic expression of REST in the nervous system leads to silencing of neuron-specific genes and developmental disorders (Chong et al., 1995; Chen et al., 1998b; Paquette et al., 2000). Another important feature of neuronal phenotype determination is the requirement for two other identical expressed transcription co-repressors such as REST binding protein SIN3A and REST co-repressor (Co-REST) (Andres et al., 1999; Abrajano et al., 2009; Lakowski et al., 2006; Battaglioli et al., 2002; Huang et al., 1999; Naruse et al., 1999). Interestingly, chromatin modification through epigenetic mechanisms such as histone acetylation/deacetylation and DNA methylation is required for RESTdependent gene silencing in such a way that REST/SIN3A repressor complexes are associated with HDAC1 whereas REST/Co-REST complexes are associated with HDAC2 (Naruse et al., 1999; Huang et al., 1999; Grimes et al., 2000; Roopra et al., 2000; Qureshi et al., 2010). This complicated action of REST causes either a decrease in histone acetylation or an increase in DNA methylation to epigenetically mark the neuronal gene.

1.6.4 Inhibitors of epigenetic modifications

With recent advancements in pharmacology, it is now possible to design and screen multiple small molecules which target specific kinases of epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation and histone modification (acetylation, deacetylation, methylation, and phosphorylation). Currently available DNMT inhibitors (5-AZA and zebularine) are cytosine analogues with similar modes of action (Christman, 2002; Stresemann et al., 2006; Stresemann and Lyko, 2008). These compounds are rapidly incorporated into DNA during replication and interfere with covalent binding of DNMTs with DNA which leads to demethylation and gene reactivation (Christman, 2002; Liu et al., 2003; Momparler, 2005; Zhou et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 2004; Weisenberger et al., 2004). With FDA approval (Issa, 2005), ongoing clinical trials have shown promising results in treatment of diseases including myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and other leukemias (Gore et al., 2006; Tsujioka et al., 2013; Ghoshal and Bai, 2007) using these drugs.

A number of HAT family members, such as the p300/CBP family and PCAF family (Bannister and Kouzarides, 1996; Ogryzko et al., 1996; Yang et al., 1996) have been identified to regulate gene expression (Mizzen and Allis, 1998; Struhl, 1998) through acetylation of histones (Bannister and Kouzarides, 1996; Ogryzko et al., 1996; Yang et al., 1996) or other substrates (Imhof et al., 1997; Gu and

Roeder, 1997). Several cell permeable, small molecule modulators with minor homology in sequence and structures have been designed to specifically inhibit HATs (Vetting et al., 2005). Prior to the specific HAT inhibitors, several cellimpermeable non-specific HAT inhibitors, such as polyamine CoA conjugates (Cullis et al., 1982; Erwin et al., 1984) and natural plant derivatives (Balasubramanyam et al., 2003; Balasubramanyam al.. 2004a; et Balasubramanyam et al., 2004b) were found to block HAT activities. Despite their application in past studies, many challenges still exist in terms of the potency, bio-availability and cell permeability of these drugs until recently. I used a more selective p300/CBP HAT inhibitor known as C646 to probe the role of histone acetylation. C646 is a reversible, cell-permeable p300/CBP HAT inhibitor (Ki = 400 nM), which competes with acetyl-CoA for the p300 Lys-CoA binding pocket (Bowers et al., 2010). The steady state level of histone acetylation depends on the balance between the activity of HATs that add acetyl groups and HDACs that remove acetyl groups from histone proteins. The HDACs are broadly divided into two classes of isoforms. The class I isoform includes HDACs 1, 2, 3, and 8, while class II are HDAC isoforms 4, 6, 9, 10 and 11. There are several commonly used HDAC inhibitors (HDI): trichostatin A (TSA) inhibits both class I and class II; sodium butyrate (NAB) and suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) are specific for class I. HDI blocks the reversible removal of acetyl groups from the lysine residue of the histone tail resulting in hyperacetylation of histones and altered gene expression (Thiagalingam et al., 2003; Dokmanovic et al., 2007; Martinez-Iglesias et al., 2008; Marks et al., 2000; Xu et al., 2007).

Phosphorylation at Ser 10, Ser 28, and at Ser 11 position of the histone (H3) is associated with condensation of chromosomes in mammalian cells (Gurley et al., 1978; Goto et al., 2002; Goto et al., 1999; Preuss et al., 2003). The Aurora kinase family of enzymes has been found to be involved in H3 phosphorylation at Ser 10 (de la Barre et al., 2000; De Souza et al., 2000; Giet and Glover, 2001). Phosphorylation at Ser 10 then recruits HATs and HMTs to activate transcription. I used the recently developed, specific Aurora kinase B inhibitor AZD1152 (Mori et al., 2011) to probe its role in histone phosphorylation.

1.6.5 Influence of upstream signaling in epigenetic regulation

The influence of upstream signaling on gene expression and cellular differentiation has been shown in both non-neuronal and neuronal tissue. Signaling through the MAPK pathway (Bading and Greenberg, 1991; English and Sweatt, 1996; Fiore et al., 1993) is one such influence. The MAPK pathway is critical for learning and memory (Atkins et al., 1998; Schafe et al., 2000; Sweatt, 2001). The ERK/MAPK pathway is the central integrating mechanism of many posttranslational modification of histones (Brami-Cherrier et al., 2009; Borrelli et al., 2008; Reul et al., 2009; Swank and Sweatt, 2001). One of the mechanisms of ERK is phosphorylation of the transcription factor CREB (Eckel-Mahan et al., 2008; Impey et al., 1998; Roberson et al., 1999) and subsequent recruitment of transcription co-activator CBP (Vecsey et al., 2007), which has intrinsic HAT activity. It has been shown that this ERK/MAPK pathway is also involved in histone (H3) acetylation and phosphorylation through mitogen- and stress-

activated protein kinase 1 (MSK1) (Levenson et al., 2004a; Chwang et al., 2006a; Chwang et al., 2007; Davie, 2003). More recently, the enhancing effect of HDAC inhibitors on object recognition memory was prevented by PKA inhibitors (Roozendaal et al., 2010) which again implies that specific signaling is required to alter chromatin structure and to enhance memory. Likewise, DNA methylation also appears to be dependent on the ERK/MAPK pathway, as evident by impaired DNA methylation with an intrahippocampal injection of a NMDA receptor antagonist (Lubin et al., 2008; Miller et al., 2008) and decreased DNMT3 expression with ERK/MAPK inhibition in amygdala (Monsey et al., 2011). Overall, these findings indicate a regulated mechanism in which upstream extracellular or environmental influences can be read out through a specific signaling cascade (ERK/MAPK) to induce transcription and epigenetic modification of chromatin for the purpose of memory formation.

1.6.6 Epigenetic code in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory

As previously discussed, the epigenetic code consists of two important modification of chromatin structure: DNA methylation and post translational modification (i.e., acetylation, deacetylation, phosphorylation, methylation) of histone proteins. I will discuss how these mechanisms play a role in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory. For the purpose of simplicity, my discussion will be limited to only those epigenetic mechanisms whose role in NE-mediated synaptic plasticity I probed. Griffith and Mahler (1969) first proposed the role of DNA modification in memory storage. The principle behind this postulation was

that DNA acts as an information storage unit upon continuous molecular turnover. Supporting this view, Crick (1984) postulated a mechanistic theory of preservation of information in DNA through a maintenance molecule (matching the function of DNMT1) against constant dissipation of acquired changes by molecular turnover. Holliday (1999) supported and extended this theory by suggesting that modification of the cytosine residues of DNA provides stability for long term memory storage. Later on, several studies showed an active DNA methylation in several brain regions (Feng et al., 2005; Feng and Fan, 2009; Feng et al., 2010; Hutnick et al., 2009; Veldic et al., 2005) in a time-dependent way. Recent studies also indicate a cortical layer specific distribution of DNMTs in the adult human brain (Veldic et al., 2005; Veldic et al., 2004). The presence of DNMTs in post-mitotic neurons raises the question of their role in the adult brain. To this end several neuroscientists have begun to address this question by investigating the role of DNMTs in learning and memory. Early studies found a change in DNA methylation of genes in the hippocampus upon learning (Miller and Sweatt, 2007; Lubin et al., 2008). Specifically, the upregulation of DNMT gene expression in the hippocampus has been found in the contextual fear conditioning test and inhibiting DNMT expression interfered with contextual fear memory formation (Lubin et al., 2008; Feng et al., 2010; Miller and Sweatt, 2007). Furthermore, a global inhibition of DNA methylation by DNMT inhibitors modifies methylation of specific memory-related genes including *reelin*, *bdnf* and protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) and hence alters synaptic plasticity and learning and memory (Levenson et al., 2006a; Lubin et al., 2008; Miller and Sweatt, 2007).

Since LTP is thought to be a cellular signature of memory formation, it was expected that epigenetic modifications such as DNA methylation should alter, or be altered by, stimuli inducing plasticity. Indeed, the DNA methylation of memory enhancing gene *bdnf* has been found to be altered by synaptic depolarization (Chen et al., 2003; Martinowich et al., 2003). Since maintenance of remote memory requires separate structures such as the anterior cingulate cortex (Frankland et al., 2004), a recent study investigated the role of DNA methylation in the maintenance of remote memory (Miller et al., 2010). In this study, intracortical infusion of DNMT antagonists 29 days after training blocked memory retention. Observations from the above study indicated that altered DNA methylation of memory-inducing (*reelin* and *bdnf*) and memory-repressing (*PP1*) gene promoters in the CNS occurs in memory formation and retention. Furthermore, several novel studies also indicated DNMT3A and DNMT3B as demethylating enzymes (Kangaspeska et al., 2008; Metivier et al., 2008) and hence complicated our understanding of DNA methylation in learning and memory. In addition, other researchers reported the Gadd45 family as a key regulator of DNA demethylation in the CNS (Barreto et al., 2007; Ma et al., 2009a).

In biological systems, it is difficult to establish the incidence of one event independent of others. Likewise, it has been shown that DNA methylation and histone modification work in parallel to regulate transcription in the formation and storage of memory in the rat hippocampus (Barrett and Wood, 2008; Graff and

Mansuy, 2008; Lubin and Sweatt, 2007; Wood et al., 2006b). The cross talk between DNA methylation and histone modification has been nicely demonstrated in a recent study in which hypermethylation of the Zif268 gene promoter is correlated with an increase in H3-methylation upon contextual fear conditioning (Gupta et al., 2010a). Taken together, the balance between methylation and demethylation of DNA and the coordinated action of DNA methylation and histone modifications may engage several transcription molecules not understood properly, to form and maintain memory.

Recently, several studies have indicated a role for post translational modification (PTM) of histone proteins in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory (Levenson and Sweatt, 2005; Reul and Chandramohan, 2007; Levenson et al., 2004a; Barrett and Wood, 2008; Graff and Mansuy, 2008; Roth and Sweatt, 2009). Prior to mammalian studies, several groups used *Aplysia* and crab models to elucidate the role of histone acetylation in memory formation. The *Aplysia* model has been used to demonstrate a role of 5-HT in memory formation by facilitating synaptic responses (Kandel, 2001). It was later shown that 5-HT also induces acetylation of HDACs by TSA causes long-term facilitation (LTF) with just 1 pulse of 5-HT, which proves that 5-HT induces LTF by regulating histone acetylation or deacetylation activity. In another study using the crab model, Federman et al. (2009) demonstrated that strong training in the context-signal memory paradigm enhances LTM formation by inducing H3 acetylation.

Interestingly, inhibition of HDACs by TSA also causes formation of LTM of a weak training protocol. Taken together, these studies suggest a role for histone acetylation and deacetylation in memory formation in invertebrates.

Using other experimental paradigms, studies have focused on histone acetylation and deacetylation in LTP modulation in the mammalian hippocampus to study memory formation. Investigating the role of HDAC inhibition on LTP modulation, Levenson et. al. in 2004 found that induction and maintenance of L-LTP by HDAC inhibition is transcription dependent. In another study, Vecsey et. al (2007) found that pairing a sub-threshold stimulus with HDAC inhibitor induces a PKA/CREB transcription-dependent L-LTP in hippocampal CA1 region. The CREB-binding protein (CBP) has intrinsic HAT activity and it has been found that CBP +/- mice are L-LTP deficient with normal E-LTP (Alarcon et al., 2004). Interestingly, HDAC inhibition was able to restore L-LTP, which indicates that the reduced L-LTP in those mice is due to a deficiency of HAT activity. In addition, it is also reported that application of TSA enhanced forskolin-induced LTP in amygdalar slices. Since LTP is thought to be a cellular mechanism of memory formation, these studies show that acetylation and deacetylation of histones play a major role in hippocampal and amygdalar synaptic plasticity, as well as memory formation.

Behaviourally, the contextual fear conditioning test in rodents has served as a model to study formation of LTM in mammals. It has been found that contextual

fear conditioning in rodents is associated with transient increase of H3 acetylation while H4 acetylation remains unchanged, and the LTM formation in this contextual test is NMDA and ERK2 dependent (Levenson et al., 2004). In addition, injection of HDAC inhibitor 1 hour before contextual fear conditioning caused increased freezing behavior when assessed 24 hrs after the test, suggesting long-term fear-enhanced memory formation.

CBP, with its intrinsic HAT activity, recruits many other transcriptional coactivators to induce gene transcription. Heterozygous mutation of CBP causes cognitive disorders including Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome, characterized by severe mental retardation (Petrij et al., 1995). Considerable advances in genetic engineering allow us to alter specific genes of interest. Using this, Korzus et al. (2004) have generated transgenic mice carrying a dominant-negative CBP transgene which specifically blocks HAT activity with an inducible tet system. These mice were deficient in declarative and spatial memory formation, while their contextual fear memory formation was intact. The behavioral phenotype was reversible upon turning off the transgene. Similarly, Alarcon et al. (2004) used CBP +/- heterozygous mice to assess the role of CBP HAT activity in memory formation. They have found that CBP +/- heterozygous mice froze less than control animals in the contextual fear conditioning test, but showed no difference in latency and path length in MWM spatial memory test. Administration of the HDAC inhibitor restored the deficit in LTM formation in both transgenic and mutant mice. Beside CBP, two other transcriptional co-activators, p300 and p300/CBP associated factor (PCAF), also have acetyltransferase activity and play roles in LTM formation (Maurice et al., 2008; Olivera et al., 2007). These studies underpin the importance of CBP and other transcription co-activators with HAT activity in gene transcription in memory formation.

Many other studies also examine the role of histone acetylation in memory formation. Training for eye-blink conditioning and object recognition memory induces H3 acetylation, and inhibition of HDAC causes enhanced memory formation with this training (Fontan-Lozano et al., 2008). Several studies have found an increase in histone acetylation in the BDNF promoter region in the hippocampus and the prefrontal cortex upon a fear conditioning test (Lubin et al., 2008; Bredy et al., 2007). More recently, it was shown that a weak training stimulus which is unable to form LTM, when paired with HDAC inhibitor, induces LTM formation (Stefanko et al., 2009). This is in line with the observation of Vecsey et al. (2007) who reported that a single train of high frequency stimuli which normally generates E-LTP, can induce transcriptiondependent L-LTP when paired with HDAC inhibitors. Protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) acts as a memory suppressor gene and inhibition of PP1 has been shown to induce acetylation of H2B, H3 and H4 to promote LTM formation in the MWM task and object recognition test (Koshibu et al., 2009). Thus, this study underlines a mechanistic way in which histone acetylation by PP1 could support LTM formation. Considering the cross talk between DNA methylation and histone acetylation, it has been found that inhibition of DNMTs blocks training induced

H3 acetylation which could be rescued with HDAC inhibition (Miller et al., 2008), which points to a complex interaction between these two mechanisms in memory formation. These studies also suggest that HDAC might act as a negative constraint on memory formation (Abel et al., 1998). Indeed, accumulating evidence support this by showing that overexpression of the HDAC2 gene impaired, but deficiency of HDAC2 enhanced LTP as well as memory formation (Guan et al., 2009).

Histone phosphorylation is another PTM which provides a unique epigenetic mark to regulate chromatin dynamics (Graff and Mansuy, 2008). In this regard, the mitogen-and stress-activated protein kinase 1 (MSK1) plays a major role in bringing on the function of histone phosphorylation. Consistent with this, germline knockout of MSK1 impairs long-term spatial and contextual fear memory formation, leaving cued fear memory intact (Chwang et al., 2007). In contrast to the previous findings, HDAC inhibitors failed to rescue the memory deficit in MSK1 knockout mice, suggesting a critical interrelation between histone acetylation and phosphorylation through a common upstream regulator of both. In addition to MSK, another kinase complex known as the IkB kinase (IKK) complex also regulates histone phosphorylation in the hippocampus (Lubin and Sweatt, 2007). Taken together, these studies indicate a critical role of histone kinases in memory formation.

1.6.7 Epigenetics and neurodegenerative diseases

There is considerable evidence to indicate the role of epigenetic mechanisms in human cognition and behaviour. Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome (RTS) is an inherited autosomal-dominant disorder resulting from the mutation of transcription co-activators CBP HAT (Petrij et al., 1995; Blough et al., 2000). Several studies on animals indicate that CBP deficiency is a crucial factor in deficiency of memory formation in those animals and hence imply a molecular basis for RTS in humans (Korzus et al., 2004; Alarcon et al., 2004; Oike et al., 1999; Bourtchouladze et al., 2003). Rett syndrome (RT) is another inherited Xlinked disease due to mutation of MECP2 (Ellaway and Christodoulou, 2001; Sirianni et al., 1998; Amir et al., 1999; Chen et al., 2001). Overexpression of MECP2 in animals causes an enhancement of hippocampal LTP as well as LTM formation (Collins et al., 2004). Fragile X syndrome is the most common form of inherited mental retardation, due to an abnormal sequence in the FMR1 and FMR2 genes (Turner et al., 1996; Ashley et al., 1993). The abnormal expansion of the CGG or CCG trinucleotide in Fragile X syndrome results in increased DNA methylation and histone acetylation that eventually leads to transcriptional silencing of FMR genes (Gecz et al., 1996; Gu et al., 1996). Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of dementia due to an increase in accumulation of soluble β -amyloid peptide in the brain (Kuo et al., 1996). Some of the pathology of AD is due to dysregulation of histone acetylation (Sastre et al., 2001; Kimberly et al., 2001; Cao and Sudhof, 2001; von Rotz et al., 2004). Finally, schizophrenia is a serious cognitive disorder, leaving individuals almost incapable of maintaining social life and performing daily cognitive activity. Extensive research has indicated that deficiency of memory promoting genes such as *reelin*, is the causative factor in schizophrenia (Costa et al., 2002). The promoter region of *reelin* contains several sites of DNA methylation, and inhibitors of HDACs and DNMTs increase *reelin* expression, supporting the notion that different epigenetic mechanisms regulate *reelin* expression (Chen et al., 2002). These findings indicate that alterations in epigenetic marks of the genome can cause severe abnormality in gene expression, which eventually leads to cognitive impairment.

1.7 Noradrenergic neuromodulation in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory

Communication between neurons is achieved by synaptic transmission in which neuroactive chemicals, upon binding to their receptors, generate a brief and temporally-restricted post-synaptic potential. Neuromodulators, in contrast, are a class of neuroactive agents that act upon either pre-or post-synaptic sites without generating synaptic potentials. These neuromodulators act through second messenger systems, instead of binding to a ligand-gated ion channel as in case of neurotransmitters, to bring widespread and long-lasting cellular effects (Hasselmo, 1995). Recently, it has been reported that neuromodulators too can generate synaptic potentials like neurotransmitters, which opens up a new avenue for further research on neurophysiology. Irrespective of their mode of action, these modulators are important candidates for normal and pathological brain function.
1.7.1 Noradrenergic system in the mammalian brain

The central noradrenergic neurons originate primarily from the locus coeruleus (LC) and lateral tegmental regions (Cooper et al., 2003), and project diffusely to the cerebral cortex, midbrain, thalamus, cerebellum, amygdala, hippocampus (Moore and Bloom, 1979; Morrison and Foote, 1986; Barone et al., 1981) and many subcortical structures. This wide noradrenergic projection supports the idea of its role in information procession mediated through activity of different brain regions (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003).

1.7.2 Noradrenaline biosynthesis

Noradrenaline, also called norepinephrine (NE), is a catecholamine which has multiple roles in the body as a hormone or neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (Vogt, 1954). NE is released from the sympathetic nervous system as a neurotransmitter and increases heart rate and force of contraction. The hormonal effects of NE consist of the fight or flight response upon its release from the adrenal medulla.

NE is synthesized from dopamine through the enzymatic action of dopamine β hydroxylase in the chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla. The rate-limiting step in the biosynthesis of NE is tyrosine hydroxylase, which is again regulated by PKC, PKA and CAMKII. This allows a short term alteration of NE synthesis. The stepwise biosynthesis of NE is shown in the next figure (**Fig. 1.8**).



Fig. 1.8: Biosynthesis of norepinephrine

NE is rapidly degraded once it is released presynaptically by calcium-dependent exocytosis. The release of NE is regulated by presynaptic autoreceptors which can monitor the concentration of NE at the synaptic cleft (Langer, 1976; Dixon et al., 1979).

1.7.3 Noradrenergic receptor subtypes

NE receptors are a large family of G-protein coupled receptors which initiate diverse physiological actions depending upon the type of subunit attached to it (**Fig. 1.9**). Based on the diverse actions of NE, the receptors are classified as α 1-, α 2- and β -adrenergic receptors.

 α 1-adrenergic receptors are diffusely distributed in the CNS neuron (Domyancic and Morilak, 1997), glia (Lerea and McCarthy, 1989), interneurons and subclassified again into α_{1A} , α_{1B} , and α_{1D} subtypes based upon their affinity to various pharmacological agents and their physiological actions upon activation (Harrison et al., 1991; Mizobe, 1997). Interestingly, these receptors are present in pyramidal and granular cells of various hippocampal regions (Jones et al., 1985; Day et al., 1997; Pieribone et al., 1994; Nicholas et al., 1993). These receptors are present in the human brain at CA3 and the dentate gyrus region (Zilles et al., 1991). Generally, α 1-adrenergic receptors are coupled to the G_{q/11} protein, which, upon activation, cleaves the membrane protein phospholipase C into the second messengers inositol triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). These second messengers then mediate diverse physiological actions by elevating the

58



Fig. 1.9: Noradrenergic regulation of memory (adapted and modified from McGaugh, 2000)

intracellular calcium concentration from the cellular calcium store (Cotecchia et al., 1990; Sirvio and MacDonald, 1999). The α 2 receptors can be further divided into α_{2A} , α_{2B} , and α_{2C} subtypes depending upon sensitivity to pharmacological activation and tissue-specific distribution (Harrison et al., 1991). In hippocampus, these receptors are mainly located at presynaptic sites to regulate release of NE (Dismukes et al., 1977), though their presence in the dendritic spines of hippocampal neurons and glial cells have also been observed (Milner et al., 1998). These receptors are coupled to the inhibitory G-protein G_i and thus reduce the activity of adenylyl cyclase, which leads to a decrease in intracellular cAMP concentration (Dismukes and Mulder, 1976).

 β -adrenergic receptors are coupled to the G_s stimulatory protein to induce intracellular signaling, and are broadly classified into β 1-, β 2-, and β 3-subtypes depending upon reactivity with specific agonists. For example, β 1 and β 2 ARs are more reactive to the agonist isoproterenol than the endogenous agonists NA or adrenaline, while β 3 responds more potently to NA. These receptors are present in various regions of the CNS, including the cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, thalamus, and cerebellum (Nicholas et al., 1993; Wanaka et al., 1989). The human brain has a subregional specificity of β -AR expression (Reznikoff et al., 1986). For example, pyramidal cells and dentate granular cells contain mainly β 1- and β 2-ARs, whereas glial cells in the CA1 region contain only β 2-ARs. Additionally, interneurons do not have β -ARs. These receptors have a common second messenger, cAMP, which is enhanced upon activation of β -ARs and causes physiological actions (Raymond, 1995; Morris and Malbon, 1999). These different adrenergic receptors have physiological functions in different hippocampal regions, which is discussed next.

1.7.4 Functional aspects of adrenergic receptors in hippocampal neurons

1.7.4.1 α-adrenergic receptors and hippocampal neuronal excitability

The α 1-adrenergic receptors mediate cell-specific functions in the hippocampus. Activation of these receptors generally decreases the excitability (Harley, 1991; Pang and Rose, 1987; Mynlieff and Dunwiddie, 1988) of principal neurons in the hippocampal regions of dentate gyrus, CA3 and CA1 as evidenced by lowered population spike amplitude. The possible mechanism for this phenomenon is activation of inhibitory interneurons in the hippocampus which in turn hyperpolarize the principal neurons. When released from the LC, noradrenaline causes a biphasic response in pyramidal neurons: an initial suppression, which is thought to be due to α 1-AR activation, followed by activation of pyramidal neurons, which is β -AR-mediated (Curet and de, 1988). In line with this, this biphasic action of NA has also been observed in *in vitro* studies. The specific action of ARs is concentration-dependent; high concentrations of NA activate $\alpha 1$, and lower concentrations activate the β -AR (Rutecki, 1995; Mueller et al., 1981; Mueller et al., 1982). The α l-ARs have a minor role in synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus as they do not cause changes in field potential recordings (Chaulk and Harley, 1998). In the CA3 region, it causes presynaptic inhibition and thus affects LTP induction at mossy fibre synapses as LTP is presynaptic in this region

61

(Zalutsky and Nicoll, 1990). Activation of α 1-ARs, however, has a different action in the CA1 region of hippocampus. When paired with weak electrical stimuli, α 1-AR agonists facilitate LTP induction as well as maintenance (Izumi and Zorumski, 1999; Pussinen and Sirvio, 1998). Together with β -ARs, α 1-ARs confer the immunity to depotentiation of LTP when induced by low-frequency stimulation (Katsuki et al., 1997). These receptors are also involved in LTD in the CA1 region when a high concentration of NA or α 1-agonists is applied (Scheiderer et al., 2004). Many interneurons also express α 1-ARs, and activation of these receptors by NA or α 1-agonists causes depolarization of these cells, which eventually influence the firing properties of pyramidal neurons in the CA1 region (Bergles et al., 1996). The α 2-ARs of CA3 and CA1 regions suppress the firing properties of pyramidal neurons; studies suggest that this post-synaptic effect of α 2-ARs is extrasynaptic (Curet and de, 1988). In the hippocampus, α 2-ARs mediating synaptic plasticity are mainly presynaptic, as these receptors act as auto receptors at the presynaptic terminal to regulate NA release.

1.7.4.2 β-adrenergic receptors and hippocampal neuronal excitability

Stimulation of β -adrenergic receptors modulates many cellular functions in synaptic plasticity, and is one of the primary mechanisms through which the brain noradrenergic system consolidates new information. The rise of the intracellular calcium concentration through calcium channels is critical for cell signaling pathways including PKC and CAMKII (Malenka and Bear, 2004). β -adrenergic receptors can enhance calcium influx through NMDA receptors during excitatory

synaptic transmission (Raman et al., 1996; Vanhoose and Winder, 2003). β adrenergic receptors also modulate the properties of VDCCs and hence cellular calcium dynamics (Fisher and Johnston, 1990; Hoogland and Saggau, 2004). Therefore, β -adrenergic receptors are an important component in the regulation of calcium dynamics in the dendrites of hippocampal neurons. Besides its role in calcium dynamics, many researchers also indicate a role of β -adrenergic receptors in the phosphorylation of the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors (Vanhoose and Winder, 2003; Vanhoose et al., 2006), which has a major role in LTP and its β adrenergic modulation (Shi et al., 2001).

Stimulation of β -ARs generally increases the excitability of hippocampal principle neurons. This increased excitability can be seen as an enhancement of fEPSP population spikes, as in the case of application of NE in the dentate gyrus region (Stanton and Sarvey, 1987), and also in the areas of CA3 and CA1 (Dunwiddie et al., 1992). The effect of β -AR stimulation is pathway-specific in the hippocampal region, suggesting a distinct role in information processing in various hippocampal subregions (Dahl and Sarvey, 1989).

Electrical stimulation of the medial and lateral perforant pathway requires β -AR activation to generate LTP in the dentate gyrus region (Munro et al., 2001). However, the population spike is unaffected while β -AR antagonists inhibit HFS induced EPSPs in that region, suggesting a distinct mechanism of action for modulating plasticity in the dentate gyrus region. LTP in the CA3 region is β -AR

dependent as blockade of these receptors prevents L-LTP expression and maintenance by multiple trains of HFS (Huang and Kandel, 1996). Correspondingly, β -AR stimulation causes a frequency-dependent increase in the magnitude, duration and probability of LTP induction (Hopkins and Johnston, 1988; Hopkins and Johnston, 1984). Conversely, in area CA1, the induction of LTP by HFS does not require β -AR activation (Dunwiddie et al., 1982; Murchison et al., 2004; Swanson-Park et al., 1999; Sarvey et al., 1989). In addition, β-AR agonists do not alter baseline synaptic activity persistently (Thomas et al., 1996). In the CA1 area, β -AR stimulation modulates the effects of LFS on synaptic strength. Pairing LFS with β -AR activation overcomes the inhibitory effects of protein phosphatases to induce LTP (Thomas et al., 1996; Winder et al., 1999). The CA1 pyramidal cells fire bursts of action potentials known as "complex spikes", which could also enhance LTP during β -AR stimulation in a PKA-dependent manner (Hoffman and Johnston, 1999). Furthermore, β-AR-mediated LTP enhancement is observed during theta-burst stimulation, an *in vivo* firing pattern in the pyramidal cells of rodents during spatial navigation (Otto et al., 1991; Swanson-Park et al., 1999). Norepinephrine can alter synaptic responses by influencing the state of the synapse in a process known as metaplasticity (Abraham, 1999). In this process, β -ARs inhibit the metaplastic mechanisms, and permit subsequent LTP induction at previously activated synapses (Moody et al., 1999). Taken together, these studies suggest that β-ARs recruit various distinct mechanisms such as channel modification, neuronal excitation and metaplastic processes in hippocampal subregions to induce and express LTP.

Consistent with its role in LTM formation, β -AR antagonists impair the formation of both spatial and contextual fear memory (Sara, 2009; Ji et al., 2003; Cahill et al., 2000). Conversely, β -AR activation facilitates the hippocampal long-term potentiation necessary for memory formation (Kemp and Manahan-Vaughan, 2008). It has been implicated that β -ARs play a crucial role in memory retrieval (Cahill et al., 1994; Barros et al., 2001; Murchison et al., 2004). A recent study found that restoring NE levels in genetically mutant mice lacking NE improved memory retrieval through a β -AR mechanism (Murchison et al., 2011). Direct injection of NE into the hippocampus preferentially facilitates LTM consolidation (Izquierdo et al., 1998). Additionally, β -ARs also have a role in extinction, a mechanism of formation of new associations to an altered stimulus pattern (Ouyang and Thomas, 2005). Thus, β -ARs engage various physiological mechanisms to encode and store new information.

1.8 Objectives of the current study

Neuromodulatory influences are diffuse in the mammalian brain and strongly influence the cellular and molecular mechanisms of brain functions. Many behavioural or cognitive outcomes of the nervous system are thought to be due to the influences of various neuromodulators on the dynamics of ion channels, the biophysical properties of neurons as a unit, or alteration of function of the neural network as a whole. Learning and memory is a higher cognitive function of the brain which is impaired in many conditions. Norepinephrine, a neuromodulator, is involved in the consolidation and retrieval of memory in humans and other animals. In many neurodegenerative disorders, the level of neuromodulators like NE is altered and causes memory-related cognitive impairment. In addition, emerging studies suggest a role for epigenetic mechanisms in cognitive disorders related to memory impairment. Thus, the present study would be able to narrow down a unique noradrenergic signaling cascade and epigenetic regulation of genes which could be recruited upon a novel experience and facilitate memory encoding. The current study will facilitate the understanding of the different cellular and genetic mechanisms responsible for NE-related cognitive disorders associated with learning and memory deficits, and could have important therapeutic implications.

To this end, my first objective was to characterize the role of NE in long-term synaptic potentiation in area CA1 of mice hippocampal slices. I looked for requirements of macromolecular synthesis, such as translation and transcription,

66

in NE-induced synaptic plasticity. The second objective was to determine the engagement of epigenetic mechanisms, with the primary focus on histone acetylation in NE-induced LTP. Specifically, I attempted to address the following questions for my thesis:

1. Does NE facilitate the induction and maintenance of LTP in the CA1 area?

2. Which receptor subtype(s) are involved in NE-LTP?

3. Is there any specific intracellular signaling molecule(s) that is recruited upon NE-LTP?

4. Does activation of beta-adrenergic receptors by NE engage translation and transcription mechanisms to stabilize LTP?

5. Are epigenetic mechanisms involved in NE-LTP? If so, then what role do they play?

Chapter 2: Materials and methods

2.1 Animals

Male C57BL/6 mice (7-12 weeks) were used for all experiments described in this thesis for their robustness in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and other behavioral learning and memory tests (Schimanski et al., 2002). Animals were housed in the University of Alberta's animal facility center under the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC). Animals were kept on a 12-hr light/dark cycle, with all experiments conducted during the light portion of the cycle. Animals received no environmental enrichment in cages.

2.2 Hippocampal slice preparation and two pathway extracellular field potential recording

Following cervical dislocation and decapitation, the intact brain was removed quickly and placed in a beaker of ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) composed of (in mM) 124 NaCl, 4.4 KCl, 1.3 MgSO₄, 1.0 NaH2PO₄, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 2.5 CaCl₂, and 10 glucose, aerated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂. After an initial few minutes of cooling, the brain was hemisected into two lobes containing two hippocampi and one hippocampus was removed from its surrounding tissue and placed on a manual tissue chopper (Stoelting, Wood Dale, IL, USA). Transverse hippocampal slices (400 μ M) were collected and transferred to an interface recording chamber (for details of method, please refer to Nguyen and Kandel, 1997) and maintained at 30°C with the help of a heating coil within the recording chamber. The slices were under continuous perfusion (1-2 mL/min) of

ACSF. Electrophysiological recording of extracellular field potentials (fEPSPs) from slices began after an initial 90 min recovery period. A glass microelectrode (pulled by a borosilicate electrode puller, resistances of 2–3 M Ω) filled with aCSF was positioned in the stratum radiatum of area CA1 and fEPSPs were recorded. The pyramidal cell layer of CA1 acts as a visual guide for electrode replacement during experimental set up (Fig. 2.1). The hippocampal Schaffer collateral commissural fibers were stimulated at two separate sets of inputs (S1 & S2) converging onto the same postsynaptic population of neurons using two bipolar nickel-chromium electrodes (diameter 130 µm; AM Systems, Carlsborg, WA, USA). fEPSPs of 40% of maximal amplitude (Gelinas and Nguyen, 2007; Woo and Nguyen, 2003) were evoked by adjusting the stimulus intensity (0.08 ms pulse duration) and constituted our baseline responses. Subsequent fEPSPs were obtained at the rate of once per minute at this test stimulation intensity, with S2 stimulation following S1 stimulation by 200 ms. To confirm independence of pathways, interpathway paired-pulse facilitation elicited by successive stimulation through the two electrodes (S1 & S2) at 50, 100, 150 and 200 ms intervals was used and the absence of paired-pulse facilitation was used as the criterion to determine stimulation of independent pathways.

After establishing a 20 min baseline recording, NE-LTP was induced on S1 alone through application of one train of high-frequency stimulation (HFS; 100 Hz, 1 s duration at test strength) following a 10 min application of NE (10 μ M). fEPSPs were measured as percentage of baseline, and these measurements were used as

C57BL/6 Mouse



Fig. 2.1: Field EPSP and LTP recording model

an indicator of LTP in response to 1 x 100 Hz stimulation as this procedure induces early LTP (E-LTP) in mouse hippocampal slices (Duffy et al., 2001). NE was applied for an additional 5 mins following HFS.

All fEPSPs were measured by an amplifier and low pass filtered at 2 kHz. Responses were then digitized at a rate of 20 kHz by a Digidata 1200 system and recordings were analyzed offline with pClamp 10 software (Axon Instrument Inc., Union City, CA, USA).

2.3 Tissue collection and quantitative Western blot

Hippocampal slices were prepared and placed on the recording chamber as previously described. Following drug application or electrical stimulation, slices were harvested from the recording chamber. Area CA1 of the slices was dissected by a razor blade under an upright dissecting microscope (**Fig. 2.2**). CA1 subregions were then flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until assayed as described in Gelinas and Nguyen, 2007.

2.4 Data analysis

Axon Clampex (10.2, Molecular Devices) was used for fEPSP analysis. The initial slope of the fEPSP was measured as an index of synaptic strength (Johnston and Wu, 1995). fEPSP slopes were averaged from 20 min of stable baseline recording to obtain a baseline mean value for each experiment. All subsequent slopes were expressed as percentages of these baseline slopes. To compare LTP levels between two groups, I used data points at 120 or 180 min after LTP



Fig. 2.2: Tissue collection and quantitative Western Blot

induction. Student's *t* test was used for statistical comparison of mean fEPSP slopes between two groups, with a Welch correction if standard deviations were significantly different between groups. p < 0.05 was set as criteria of significance in all experiments. One-way ANOVAs (Graphpad Instat Software, San Diego, CA, USA) were conducted to determine significant difference between more than two groups. Subsequent Tukey-Kramer post-hoc tests were performed to determine which groups were significantly different from others. Data are reported as means \pm SE, with n = number of slices.

2.5 Drugs and protocol

The drugs and their concentrations used in my experiments are shown in **table 1**. Drugs were dissolved in appropriate solutions according to MSDS and literature. Stock solutions of drugs were stored at -20°C. Aliquots of stock solution were thawed, mixed properly, and diluted in ACSF to the final working concentration immediately before experimentation. Fresh stock solutions of NE were made daily to avoid oxidization by oxidizing agents. NE was applied for a total duration of 15 min, starting 10 min before 100Hz stimulation protocol. Drugs such as antagonists and inhibitors were applied 20 min before NE application and were present during NE application and 10 min after NE application. Due to light sensitivity of the drugs, experiments were done under dimmed light conditions.

Name	known for	abbreviat	company	stock	working
		ion		concentr	concentrat
				ation	ion
L-(-)-	adrenergic	NE	Sigma	1mM in	10 µM
norepinephrine	receptor			aCSF	
bitartrate salt	agonist				
monohydrate					
ICI 118,551	β2	ICI	Sigma	1mM in	1 µM
hydrochloride	antagonist			aCSF	
Betaxolol	β1	Betax	Sigma	1mM in	1 µM
hydrochloride	antagonist			aCSF	
Prazosine	α1	Prazo	Sigma	150 µM	10 µM
hydrochloride	antagonist			in dH ₂ O	
Yohimbine	α2	Yohim	Sigma	1mM	3 μΜ
hydrochloride	antagonist				
DL-2-amino-5-	NMDA	APV	Sigma	50 mM in	50 µM
phosphonopenta	receptor			aCSF	
noic acid	antagonist				
РКІ 14-22	Cell	PKI	Calbioche	1 mM in	20 µM
Amide	permeable		m	distilled	
	РКА			water	
	antagonist				
Brefeldin A	Epac	BFA	Sigma	50 mM in	50 µM

	inhibitor			DMSO	
ESI09	Epac	ESI	Biolog	50 mM in	10 µM
	inhibitor		Life	DMSO	
			Sciences		
Anisomycin	protein	Aniso	Sigma	50 mM in	25 μΜ
	synthesis			DMSO	
	inhibitor				
Cycloheximide	protein	CHX	Sigma	25 mM in	80 µM
	synthesis			DMSO	
	inhibitor				
Actinomycin D	transcriptio	Act-D	Sigma	25 mM in	25 μΜ
	n blocker			DMSO	
5,6-	transcriptio	DRB	Sigma	50 mM in	50 µM
Dichlorobenzim	n blocker			DMSO	
idazole					
1-β-D-					
ribofuranoside					
5-Aza-2'	DNA	Aza	Sigma	100 mM	30 µM
deoxycytidine	methylatio			in DMSO	
	n blocker				
Zebularine	DNA	Zeb	Sigma	65 mM in	25 μΜ
	methylatio			DMSO	
	n blocker				

C646	p300/CBP	C646	Sigma	10 mM in	5 μΜ
	(HAT)			DMSO	
	inhibitor				
AZD1152-	Aurora	AZD1152	Sigma	5 mM in	1 µM
HQPA	kinase B			DMSO	
	inhibitor				
PD 98,059	МАРК	PD98	Sigma	10 mM in	50 µM
	inhibitor			DMSO	
Trichostatin A	HDAC	TSA	Sigma	16.5 mM	1.65 µM
	inhibitor			in DMSO	
Rapamycin	mTOR	Rap	Sigma	1 mM in	1 µM
	inhibitor			DMSO	

Table 1: Drugs and concentrations used

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Norepinephrine facilitates the induction of LTP through mechanisms requiring both β-adrenergic and NMDA receptors

NE has been shown to induce LTP while paired with specific stimulation protocols (Katsuki et al., 1997). Application of HFS alone generates LTP in the CA1 region which returns to pre-stimulation levels within 120 min (Fig. 3.1A: fEPSP slopes were $108 \pm 2\%$; all following statistics are also taken at 120 min post-HFS. To examine the effect of NE (10 µM) on LTP generation, I paired HFS with NE application, which induced LTP that persists for several hours (>3 hr, Fig. 3.1B: fEPSP slopes were $150 \pm 11\%$). To determine if NMDA receptors are required for NE-mediated LTP (NE-LTP), I applied the general NMDA receptor antagonist APV (50 µM) overlapping with NE + HFS. Application of APV inhibited the induction and expression of NE-LTP (Fig. 3.1C: fEPSP slopes were $104 \pm 5\%$). An ANOVA comparing fEPSPs of the three groups (HFS alone, NE + HFS and NE + APV + HFS) revealed a significant difference between groups (F(2,16) = 6.48; p < 0.01) (fig. 3.1D). Subsequently, a Tukey-Kramer post hoc test revealed that persistent LTP was only observed when HFS was paired with NE application, and this LTP was blocked by APV (p < 0.05; Fig. 3.1D).



Figure 3.1: Norepinephrine-induced LTP is maintained for several hours and mediated through NMDA receptors.

A: 100 Hz stimulation alone (open circles) induces transient (< 2 hr) LTP.

B: Pairing 1 x 100 Hz stimulation with NE application induces L-LTP (S1, open diamonds) which lasts for several hours (>3) after stimulation.

C: Application of the NMDA receptor antagonist APV inhibits LTP generated by pairing 100 Hz stimulation with NE application (S1, open squares).

D: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation at S1. Sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recordings and 120 min after stimulation at S1. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 100 Hz stimulation. Results in D represent means \pm SEM, p < 0.05. Calibration: 2 mV, 2 ms.

3.2 Adrenergic receptor subtypes in NE-LTP

To determine which adrenergic receptors (ARs) are required for NE-induced LTP, I used different NE receptor subtype specific antagonists, overlapping with NE + HFS. NE, when paired with HFS, induced long-lasting LTP (Fig. 3.2A: mean fEPSPs were $154.6 \pm 10.8\%$ of baseline; all following statistics given for 120 min post-HFS). Application of the β 1-specific antagonist betaxolol (Betax: 1 μ M, Fig 3.2B: mean fEPSPs were 101.7 \pm 8% of baseline recording) and the β 2-specific antagonist ICI 118,551 (ICI: 1 μ M, Fig. 3.2C: mean fEPSPs were 106.3 ± 8% of baseline recording) blocked the expression of NE-LTP. In contrast, inhibition of α 1-ARs with prazosin (Praz: 10 μ M, Fig. 3.2C: mean fEPSPs were 143.7 \pm 10% of baseline recording) or α 2-ARs with yohimbine (Yohim: 3 μ M, Fig. 3.2D: mean fEPSPs were $137 \pm 5\%$ of baseline recording), failed to inhibit expression of LTP. An ANOVA comparing fEPSPs of different antagonist-treated groups revealed a significant difference between groups (F(4,29) = 7.8; p < 0.001) (Fig. 3.2E). Subsequently, a Tukey-Kramer post hoc test revealed that persistent LTP was prevented significantly only by overlapping co-application of betaxolol and ICI (p < 0.01) but not by prazosin and yohimbine (p > 0.05). Thus, NE induces LTP by engaging β - but not α -ARs in mouse hippocampal slices.



Figure 3.2: LTP elicited by NE application during 100 Hz stimulation requires β -adrenergic receptors but not α .

A: Application of 1 x 100 Hz stimulation paired with NE (open diamonds) elicits long-lasting LTP. β 1 adrenergic receptor antagonist betaxolol (B, open triangles) and β 2 adrenergic receptor antagonist ICI 118551 (C, filled diamonds) inhibit maintenance of LTP generated by 1 x 100 Hz stimulation with NE application. α 1 receptor antagonist prazosin (D, open squares) and α 2 receptor antagonist yohimbine (E, open circles) do not inhibit LTP induced by NE + 1 x 100 Hz paired protocol.

F: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 minutes after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation at S1. All sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recording and 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 1 x 100 Hz stimulation. Results in F represent means \pm SEM, p < 0.05. Calibration: 2 mV, 2 ms.

3.3 Intracellular signaling pathway for NE- LTP

Previous studies have implicated a role of cAMP dependent protein kinase A (PKA) in β -AR mediated LTP (Thomas et al., 1996) and long-term memory formation (Nayak et al., 1998). To determine if PKA is required for NE induced L-LTP, I co-applied a cell permeable cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA) inhibitor, PKI 14-22 Amide (PKI, 1 μ M), with NE + HFS. PKA activation was not necessary for NE-induced synaptic enhancement, as treatment with PKI did not alter the maintenance of NE-LTP (Fig. 3.3B: mean fEPSPs were $148 \pm 11\%$ of baseline; all following statistics reported for 120 min post-HFS) compared to PKI free control (Fig. 3.3A: mean fEPSPs were $146 \pm 7\%$ of baseline). An alternative route through which cAMP couples to downstream effectors through Epac has been implicated in β -AR-induced LTP (Gelinas et al., 2008) and longterm memory (Ma et al., 2009b). The bath application of the Epac signaling inhibitor brefeldin-A (BFA: 50 µM), returned NE-LTP to baseline levels (Fig. 3.3C: mean fEPSPs were 98.4 \pm 4% of baseline recording). I confirmed these results using a membrane permeant, highly specific inhibitor of Epac, ESI-09 (Almahariq et al., 2013) (Fig. 3.3D: mean fEPSPs were reduced to $102 \pm 7\%$ of baseline). As a preliminary step toward characterizing the downstream signaling of the cAMP-Epac pathway, I examined the role of MAPK by using PD 98059, a selective inhibitor of MAPK. Pairing HFS with overlapping PD 98059 application inhibited NE-LTP (Fig. 3.3E: mean fEPSPs were reduced to $101.28 \pm$ 5.12% of baseline). An ANOVA comparing fEPSPs of the Epac inhibitor-treated slices with inhibitor-free controls revealed a significant difference between groups

81

(F(4,31) = 7.84 ; p < 0.01) (Fig. 3.3F). Subsequent Tukey-Kramer *post hoc* tests revealed that maintenance of NE-LTP was prevented by application of BFA, ESI-09 and PD 98059 (p < 0.05) but not by PKI (p > 0.05). Thus, these data indicate that NE-mediated synaptic potentiation is dependent upon the Epac intracellular signaling pathway.



Figure 3.3: L-LTP induced by NE paired with 1 x 100 Hz stimulation requires Epac enzyme activity but not PKA.

A: L- LTP induced by NE paired with 100 Hz stimulation (open diamonds). B: Application of PKI did not cause NE-induced L-LTP to decay (filled diamonds). C: brefeldin A (BFA) inhibits persistence of NE-generated L-LTP maintenance (open circles). D: ESI-09 (ESI) prevented the expression of NE-induced L-LTP (open squares). E: PD98 blocked NE-LTP (open triangles). F: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation comparing effects of PKI, BFA, ESI and RAP on 100 Hz stimulation at S1 paired with NE application. All sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recording and 120 min after 100 Hz stimulation. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 100 Hz stimulation. Results in E represent means \pm SEM, p < 0.05. Calibration: 2 mV, 2 ms.

3.4 mTOR-dependent protein synthesis is upregulated by NE

The mechanisms underlying the persistence of memory and LTP share a requirement for translation regulation (Stanton and Sarvey, 1984; Frey et al., 1988; Nguyen and Kandel, 1996). Furthermore, upregulation of protein synthesis neuromodulatory receptor activation has following been demonstrated (Navakkode et al., 2007; Raymond et al., 2000; Huber et al., 2000). Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) activation is increased by β -AR stimulation during translation-dependent LTP (Gelinas et al., 2007). I sought to determine if NE similarly upregulates mTOR to bolster LTP. Application of the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin (RAP, 1 μ M) decreased the maintenance of NE-dependent LTP (Fig. 3.4B: mean fEPSPs were $114 \pm 6\%$ of baseline; all the following statistics are reported for 120 min post-HFS). NE-LTP also decayed (Fig. 3.4D: mean fEPSPs were $120 \pm 6\%$ of baseline) compared to drug-free control (Fig. 3.4A: mean fEPSPs were $155 \pm 10\%$ of baseline) when the translation repressor anisomycin (Aniso: 25 μ M) was bath applied with NE + 100 Hz stimulation. The validity of various translation inhibitors has recently been called into question due to offtarget effects (Routtenberg and Rekart, 2005; Alberini, 2008). To address this issue, I conducted a second series of experiments with cycloheximide (CHX: 80 μ M), another protein synthesis inhibitor which arrests translation through alternative mechanisms. Consistent with anisomycin, CHX treatment resulted in decaying LTP (Fig. 3.4C: mean fEPSPs were $100 \pm 3\%$ of baseline). An ANOVA comparing fEPSPs of treatments revealed a significant difference between groups (F(3,23) = 10.43; p < 0.001) (Fig. 3.4E). Tukey-Kramer post hoc test revealed that

85

inhibiting translation with either anisomycin or CHX reduced the duration of NE-LTP (p < 0.05). No significant differences were found between anisomycin and CHX treated groups (p > 0.05).



Figure 3.4: Protein synthesis through mTOR is required for NE-induced L-LTP.

A: L-LTP elicited by pairing 1x100 Hz stimulation with NE (open diamonds). B: rapamycin (RAP) caused decaying LTP when applied with NE + 1 x 100 Hz stimulation (open triangles). C: CHX (open squares) and Aniso (D, open circles)) inhibited the maintenance of L-LTP generated by NE paired with 1 x 100 Hz stimulation. E: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation paired with NE application at S1. All sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recording and 120 min after 100 Hz stimulation. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 100 Hz stimulation. Results in E represent means \pm SEM, p < 0.05. Calibration: 2 mV, 2 ms.

3.5 Nuclear signaling:

Transcription and NE-LTP

Neuronal stimulation associated with enduring forms of memory and synaptic plasticity results in modified gene expression (Sossin, 1996; Abraham et al., 1993; Nguyen et al., 1994; Frey et al., 1996; Sossin, 1996). To determine if NE stimulation recruits transcriptional components of L-LTP, I applied two different inhibitors of transcription: actinomycin D (Act-D: 25 µM) and 5,6-Dichlorobenzimidazole 1-β-D-ribofuranoside (DRB: 50 μM). Bath application of Act-D (Fig. 3.5B: mean fEPSPs were $106 \pm 7\%$ of baseline; all statistics given for 180 min post-HFS) or DRB (Fig. 3.5C: means fEPSPs were 118 \pm 6% of baseline) repressed NE-LTP relative to inhibitor-free controls (Fig. 3.5A: means fEPSPs were $189 \pm 16\%$ of baseline). An ANOVA comparing fEPSPs of Act-D & DRB treated slices revealed a significant difference between groups (F(2,14) = 20; p < 0.001) (Fig. 3.5D). Tukey-Kramer post hoc tests revealed that both Act-D and DRB prevented NE-LTP indicative of a transcription-dependent component (p < 0.05). No significant difference was observed between Act-D and DRB treated groups (p > 0.05).



Figure 3.5: L-LTP induced by NE paired with 1 x 100 Hz stimulation is transcription dependent.

A: Pairing 1 x 100 Hz electrical stimulation with NE application elicited L-LTP lasting several (>3) hours (open diamonds). Application of Act-D (B, open triangles) and DRB (C, open circles) prevented the L-LTP maintenance initiated by NE paired with 1 x 100 Hz electrical stimulation. D: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation comparing effects of Act-D and DRB on 100 Hz stimulation paired with NE application at S1. All sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recording and 180 min after 100 Hz stimulation. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 100 Hz stimulation. Results in D represent means \pm SEM, p < 0.05. Calibration: 2 mV, 2 ms.

3.6 Epigenetic modification in NE- LTP

Accumulating evidence suggests that epigenetic mechanisms are engaged during synaptic plasticity and learning and memory (Levenson et al., 2004b; Chwang et al., 2006b; Levenson et al., 2006b; Gupta et al., 2010b; Kramer et al., 2011; Monsey et al., 2011; Biergans et al., 2012). Recent evidence in non-neuronal tissue has indicated a putative interaction between noradrenergic receptor stimulation and epigenetic regulation (Ha et al., 2010; Haworth et al., 2012; Li et al., 2012; Chang et al., 2013). To probe a role for regulation of the epigenome in NE-mediated synaptic plasticity, I investigated several prominent epigenetic modifications including DNA methylation, histone acetylation and histone phosphorylation in response to NE + HFS.

DNA methylation in NE-LTP

To determine whether DNA methylation was recruited in NE-mediated synaptic plasticity, I used two specific inhibitors of DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases (DNMT): 5-Aza-2' deoxycytidine (AZA: 30μ M) and zebularine (ZEB: 25μ M). Treatment of slices with AZA resulted in decremental LTP when co-applied with NE + HFS (Fig. 3.6B: mean fEPSPs were $104 \pm 5\%$ of baseline; all statistics given for 120 min post-HFS) compared to AZA-free control (Fig. 3.6A: mean fEPSPs were 141 \pm 3% of baseline). Slices exposed to ZEB similarly blocked LTP expression (Fig. 3.6C: mean fEPSPs were 113 \pm 6% of baseline). An ANOVA comparing fEPSPs of AZA and ZEB treated slices revealed a significant difference between groups (*F*(2,19) = 17; *p* < 0.001) (Fig. 3.6D). *Post hoc* tests

revealed that both AZA and ZEB significantly reduced the enhancement of L-LTP by NE (p < 0.05). AZA and ZEB treated groups did not significantly differ (p > 0.05).


Figure 3.6: L-LTP induced by NE pairing with 1 x 100 Hz stimulation requires DNA methylation.

A: L-LTP elicited by pairing 1 x 100 Hz stimulation with NE (open diamonds). DNA methylation inhibitors AZA (B, open circles)) and ZEB (C, open squares) blocked NE-induced potentiation. D: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation comparing effects of AZA and ZEB on 100 Hz stimulation paired with NE application at S1. All sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recording and 120 min after 100 Hz stimulation. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 100 Hz stimulation. Results in D represent means \pm SEM, p < 0.05. Calibration: 2 mV, 2 ms.

3.7 Acetylation of histones is required for NE-LTP

Recent data suggest intrinsic histone acetyl transferase (HAT) activity of CBP and its homolog (p300) boosts synaptic plasticity and long-term memory formation (Wood et al., 2005; Alarcon et al., 2004; Korzus et al., 2004; Wood et al., 2006a; Oliveira et al., 2007; Oliveira et al., 2011). In the present study, I investigated whether acetylation of histone protein is required for maintenance of LTP induced by NE, using a potent and specific CBP/p300 inhibitor, C646 (Bowers et al., 2010). Pairing C646 (5 μ M) application with NE + HFS reduced the magnitude of NE-LTP (Fig. 3.7B: mean fEPSPs were $104 \pm 5\%$ of baseline; all statistics given for 120 min post-HFS) compared to control slices (Fig. 3.7A: mean fEPSPs were $145 \pm 12\%$ of baseline). Shifting C646 application 5 min after NE+HFS had no effect on LTP induced by NE (Fig. 3.7C: mean fEPSPs were $132 \pm 4\%$ of baseline). My western blot results complement my electrophysiological data by showing that acetylation of histone (H3) at Lys-14 is enhanced upon NE+HFS compared to control (Fig. 3.7E). An ANOVA was conducted to compare fEPSPs of slices treated with C646, either paired with or shifted relative to NE application. A significant effect of treatment was observed (F(2,19) = 8; p < 0.01) (Fig. 3.7D). Post hoc analysis revealed only a significant decrease (p < 0.05) in NE-LTP when C646 application was paired with NE but not when shifted to after NE application (p < 0.05). My result indicates that a transient activation of CBP/300 HAT enzymatic activity is sufficient for the induction of L-LTP by NE + HFS.



E.



*p<0.03; Student's t-test

Figure 3.7: Histone acetylation and its time restricted role in NE-LTP.

A: NE-induced L-LTP maintenance (open diamonds). B: Histone acetyl transferase (HAT) inhibitor C646 prevents L-LTP when co-applied with NE and 1 x 100 Hz stimulation (open circles). C: Shifting C646 application did not block L-LTP induced by NE paired with 1 x 100 Hz stimulation (open suqares). D: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation at S1. E: NE paired with 100 Hz increases H3 acetylation at lys-14 of polypeptide chain. All sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recording and 120 min after 100 Hz stimulation. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 100 Hz stimulation. Results in D represent means \pm SEM, p < 0.05. Calibration: 2 mV, 2 ms.

3.8 Inhibiting HDAC does not cause any further enhancement of NE-LTP

Previous research has shown that inhibition of HDACs by TSA causes a stabilization of E-LTP of hippocampal slices induced by HFS which is dependent on transcription. In fact, consolidation of contextual fear memory is also increased by enhancing acetylation of histones while TSA is injected intrahippocampally (Vecsey et al., 2007). Since I have shown that NE-LTP also recruits transcription mechanisms, I wondered if another signaling cascade could be recruited upon adrenergic receptor activation by NE. I used occlusion of NE-LTP by TSA.

The stabilization of NE-LTP (Fig. 3.8A: mean fEPSPs were $130.5 \pm 3.6\%$ of baseline; all statistics given for 120 min post-HFS) was not altered compared to either TSA alone (Fig. 3.8B: mean fEPSPs were $132.1 \pm 4.1\%$ of baseline) or when TSA was paired with NE application (Fig. 3.8C: mean fEPSPs were $135.1 \pm 6.7\%$ of baseline). A one-way ANOVA revealed no significant difference between groups (Fig. 3.8D: F(2,16) = 0.26; p > 0.05). This occlusion experiment further strengthens the notion that NE-LTP recruits the same signaling pathway as histone acetylation, since the HDAC inhibitor TSA did not enhance NE-LTP any further.



Figure 3.8: Occlusion of NE-LTP with HDAC inhibitor TSA.

The maintenance of NE-LTP (A, open diamonds) was not different from either TSA alone (B, open circles) or TSA paired with NE + 100 Hz (C, open squares). D: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation comparing effects of NE alone, TSA alone, and TSA + NE at S1. All sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recording and 120 min after 100 Hz stimulation. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 100 Hz stimulation. Results in D represent means \pm SEM, p > 0.05. Calibration: 2 mV, 2 ms.

3.9 Norepinephrine triggers histone phosphorylation through Aurora kinase To further probe what epigenetic mechanisms are recruited by NE, I assayed histone phosphorylation through a previously identified histone phosphorylation substrate, Aurora kinase. Importantly, Aurora kinase drives transcription of genes associated with synaptic modifications subserving memory genesis through phosphorylation of histones (Wei et al., 1999; Carmena and Earnshaw, 2003). The recent introduction of a novel, highly specific Aurora kinase B inhibitor AZD1152 (AZD) (Mori et al., 2011) allowed me to more directly determine the importance of Aurora kinase B relative to other isoforms of Aurora kinase (which include the Aurora A and C isoforms). Application of AZD (1 μ M) overlapping with NE + HFS prevented the maintenance of NE-LTP (Fig. 3.9B: mean fEPSPs were 121.5±5% of baseline; all statistics given for 120 min post-HFS) compared to AZD-free controls (Fig. 3.9A: mean fEPSPs were $155.5 \pm 8\%$ of baseline). Student's T-test revealed a significant difference between groups (Fig. 3.9C: p <0.01), suggesting that histone phosphorylation by Aurora kinase B is required for NE-induced synaptic plasticity.



Figure 3.9: Histone phosphorylation is required for NE-induced L-LTP.

A: Pairing 1 x 100 Hz stimulation with NE application causes LTP to maintain for hours (open diamonds). B: Inhibition of histone phosphorylation by AZD1152 (AZD) prevents the maintenance of LTP initiated by NE paired with 1 x 100 Hz stimulation (open circles). C: Summary histogram of fEPSP slopes obtained 120 min after 1 x 100 Hz stimulation comparing effect of AZD on 100 Hz stimulation paired with NE application at S1. All sample traces were taken 10 min after commencement of baseline recording and 120 min after 100 Hz stimulation. The addition of drugs did not alter basal synaptic transmission in a second independent pathway (S2) that did not receive 100 Hz stimulation. Results in C represent means \pm SEM, p < 0.05. Calibration: 4 mV, 4 ms.

Chapter 4: Discussion

4.1 Noradrenergic modulation of cognitive function

The LC noradrenergic system projects extensively to many other cortical and subcortical structures of the brain. Importantly, it is a part of the brainstem reticular activating system, which controls the sleep-wake cycle and vigilance state of individuals (Roussel et al., 1967; Aston-Jones and Bloom, 1981; Aston-Jones et al., 1991). In fact, inhibition of adrenergic receptors causes a deficit in attention and arousal responses (Stone and Quartermain, 1999). The extensive innervation of the forebrain by the LC noradrenergic system has been implicated in many cognitive functions including attention, sensory information processing, anxiety responses, reorganization of neuronal networks, memory formation and memory retrieval (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003; Bouret and Sara, 2005). Interestingly, an early theory by Amaral et al. (1977) described the noradrenergic system as the "cognitive arm" of the central nervous system. Korsakoff's syndrome, characterized by memory impairment, was the first pathophysiological study to link LC-noradrenergic function with cognitive ability (Mair and McEntee, 1983). Careful observation of Korsakoff's patients found a significant decrease in 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol (MHPG), the major metabolite of noradrenaline. The model of Korsakoff's syndrome has given rise to the hypothesis of noradrenergic function in mnemonic processing. Subsequently, several studies indicated a central noradrenergic role in memory processing (Brown and Silva, 2004; McGaugh, 2002; Harley, 2004).

100

4.1.1 Noradrenergic modulation of declarative memory: A role in consolidation and retrieval

Kety (1972) initially proposed a role for noradrenaline in transmission of "novel or significant stimuli" for learning. Later, pharmacological studies indicated that the noradrenergic system in the brain influences the consolidation of memory events (for review, see McGaugh and Roozendaal, 2009). Interestingly, consolidation of memory has been found to be β -AR dependent. For example, intracerebal injection of a β -AR antagonist 2 hr after learning impaired memory in rats when tested 48 hr later. However, there was no effect on memory when the rats were injected immediately after the learning session. This proves that a β -ARdependent critical time period is required for consolidation of memories (Sara et al., 1999; Tronel et al., 2004). Additionally, the LC-noradrenergic neurons in the rat brain have been shown to fire during slow wave sleep after a period of learning (Eschenko and Sara, 2008). This study strengthens the notion of noradrenergic influence in memory consolidation.

Noradrenaline is also involved in the retrieval of contextual and spatial memories. Increasing noradrenaline release either by pharmacological or electrical activation of LC enhances retrieval of memory in rats (Sara and Devauges, 1989; Sara and Devauges, 1988). This enhancement of memory retrieval is β -AR dependent (Devauges and Sara, 1991). In line with the evidence that the noradrenergic system plays a crucial role in memory retrieval, Murchison et al. (2004), by using the dbh^{-/-} mouse model, found that β -AR signaling is necessary for retrieval of

contextual information. In brief, mice lacking genes for dopamine β -hydroxylase, an enzyme of the noradrenaline biosynthesis pathway, showed a deficit in retention of contextual memory 48 hours after a training session. Interestingly, these mice were able to learn the task perfectly. The deficit in memory retention was restored by injection of a noradrenaline precursor between the training and test sessions. Additionally, injection of propranolol, a β -AR antagonist, before the training or test session impaired the retention of memory after 24 hr of training but not after 1 hr or 1 week. This further proves the selective role of the noradrenergic system in retrieval of recent but not remote memories.

4.1.2 Noradrenergic influence in emotional memory

Adrenergic and noradrenergic hormones have been implicated in the storage of emotionally charged events in animals as well as humans (Gold et al., 1977; Chamberlain et al., 2006). Initial studies found that blocking biosynthesis of noradrenaline in mice results in impairment of retention of aversive memories (Fernandez-Tome et al., 1979; Rainbow et al., 1976; Randt et al., 1971). Meanwhile, Gallagher et al. (1977) reported the same results with an intraamygdaloid injection of propranolol. Additionally, they also observed that the impairment of memory was reversed upon noradrenaline administration. This suggests that β -ARs are involved in emotional memory retention, which was later supported by Ellis et al. (1983) and Liang et al. (1986). Subsequently, literature provides evidence of an interaction between the LCamygdaloid system as well as modulation of emotional memory (Cahill and McGaugh, 1996). Studying healthy human volunteers, Cahill et al. (1994) investigated the effects of propranolol on formation of memories related to either an emotionally charged event or a neutral event. They reported that propranolol selectively impaired the emotional memory but not the neutral one. This further confirms the associativity of β -AR activation with emotional memory formation. Inspired by studies of noradrenergic influence on emotional memory, several groups have investigated and reported that propranolol applied at encoding or retrieval impaired recall for emotional events in humans (For reviews see van Stegeren, 2008; Chamberlain et al., 2006).

4.2 Novel signaling in noradrenaline-induced long term potentiation

Considering the importance of the noradrenergic system in learning and memory across species, I sought to characterize the signaling mechanisms that are involved in NE-induced synaptic plasticity in the mouse. My results indicate a novel signaling mechanism in which NE, upon binding to β -ARs, engages the Epac signaling pathway to recruit translation, transcription and epigenetic mechanisms for endurance of NE-induced synaptic plasticity (**Fig.4.1**).



Fig. 4.1: Schematic representation of signaling mechanisms in NE-LTP

4.2.1 Adrenergic receptor specificity and the role of NMDARs in NE-induced plasticity

Accumulating evidence indicate that adrenergic receptors play a crucial role in transmission of cell surface signals to the intracellular molecules to induce synaptic plasticity (Izumi et al., 1992; Puumala et al., 1998; Pussinen and Sirvio, 1998; Izumi and Zorumski, 1999; Ferry et al., 1999; Doze et al., 2011; Gazarini et al., 2013). The

enhancement of NE-induced synaptic plasticity and consolidation or retention of emotionally charged events has mostly been attributed to the activation of β -ARs (Cahill et al., 1994; Gelinas et al., 2005; Sara et al., 1999; Przybyslawski et al., 1999; McGaugh and Roozendaal, 2002). However, several studies also showed interesting results on the selectivity of adrenergic receptors for NE-induced plasticity and learning and memory. For example, Puumala et al. (1998) reported that stimulation of α 1-ARs facilitates formation of new memories in rats. This is in line with studies by Sternberg et al. (1985) and Sternberg et al. (1986); both studies have shown a receptor specificity (α 1-ARs) in NE-induced memory enhancements. More recently, Doze et al. (2011) observed that long term α 1-AR activation causes enhancement of synaptic plasticity and improvement in spatial cognitive tasks. These interesting discrepencies encouraged me to find the adrenergic receptor specificity in NE-induced synaptic plasticity using my stimulus protocol. I observed that NE-LTP is long-lasting (>3 hr minimum). The NE-LTP was significantly reduced in the presence of betaxolol (β 1 antagonist) and ICI (β 2 antagonist) but was unaltered in the presence of prazosin (α 1 antagonist) and yohimbine (α 2 antagonist). This showed that NE-LTP is dependent on β - (both β 1 & β 2) but not α -ARs. These discrepancies with previously published data on rats could be due to species variance, the stimulation protocol used to induce LTP, or the recording period after LTP induction. For example, I used a cut-off time of 2 or 3 hr as an indicator of LTP maintenance and HFS (1 x 100 Hz) to induce LTP, which is in contrast with a total 60 min recording period and θ -burst stimulation used by previous studies as a method of LTP induction. Together, my results suggest a unique signaling pathway of synaptic plasticity through β -ARs.

 β -ARs in the CA1 region of hippocampus are located in such a strategic position on the cell membrane surface that upon activation, they can serve as a triggering event for multimodal cellular effects including activation of other cell surface molecules, such as PSD-95 and NMDA receptors (Hu et al., 2000). It has been shown that LTP induction requires activation of NMDA receptors (Collingridge et al., 1983; Morris et al., 1990). Additionally, the strength of excitatory synapses can be potentiated upon a specific pattern of stimulation through the coupling of cell-surface receptors such as β -ARs to NMDARs (Moody et al., 2011). In my study, the enhancement of synaptic strength by NE application seems to be an NMDA receptor-dependent event, as application of APV (NMDAR antagonist) blocked the induction of LTP, demonstrating its requirement in LTP. One of the mechanisms of β -AR mediated synaptic plasticity is the phosphorylation and incorporation of AMPA receptors from extra-synaptic to synaptic sites (Tenorio et al., 2010), mediated through a transient period of NMDA receptor activation, known as metaplasticity (Abraham, 2008; Abraham and Bear, 1996). My results suggest that further investigation of the interaction between β -ARs and NMDARs should yield a mechanistic explanation of NE-induced synaptic plasticity as well as learning and memory.

4.2.2 Epac-dependent protein synthesis

 β -ARs are the transmembrane receptors, coupled to G_s-proteins, which upon activation, stimulate adenylyl cyclase to increase levels of the intracellular second messenger cAMP (Maguire et al., 1977; Minocherhomjee and Roufogalis, 1982). The role of cAMP in synaptic plasticity, learning and memory was reported in early studies by many groups (Libet et al., 1975; Brunelli et al., 1976). Using advanced genetic engineering and pharmacological techniques, it has been established that cAMP is an important molecule in the formation of memories (Randt et al., 1982; Bernabeu et al., 1997; Byers et al., 1981).

Considerable evidence has indicated that PKA, the best characterized downstream target of β -AR stimulation or cAMP signaling, is a major signaling molecule for synaptic plasticity and memory formation (Abel et al., 1997; Duffy et al., 2001; Woo et al., 2003; Abel and Nguyen, 2008). However, not much is known about Epac, the second target of cAMP signaling, in synaptic plasticity and memory

formation. Ouyang et al. (2008) found that beside PKA, Epac was recruited for retrieval of memories. Studies have also indicated an important role for Epac in bidirectional synaptic plasticity as well as learning and memory (Gelinas et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2009; Ostroveanu et al., 2010). I am the first to show that an NE-mediated increase synaptic response is PKA-independent but Epac-dependent, as blocking Epac activity pharmacologically, either with BFA or the more specific Epac inhibitor (ESI), disrupted NE-LTP. Hence, β -ARs stabilize NE-LTP through the Epac signaling pathway.

The long-term enhancement of synaptic strength as well as the formation of memory requires synthesis of new proteins (Costa-Mattioli et al., 2009; Klann et al., 2004; Richter and Sonenberg, 2005). Additionally, activation of β -ARs can induce translation dependent long-lasting enhancement of synaptic strength through the mTOR signaling pathways (Gelinas et al., 2007; Gelinas and Nguyen, 2005; Tang et al., 2002). Here I found that inhibition of mTOR signaling (by rapamycin) and of translation (by anisomycin or CHX) results in blocking of NE-LTP. My results also reveal that NE activates ERK to stabilize LTP, as inhibition of ERK (by PD 98,059) prevents NE-LTP. ERK is an important intracellular molecule which has been implicated in translational control of synaptic plasticity and memory (Sweatt et al., 2004; Thomas and Huganir, 2004; Banko et al., 2004). Further studies will be necessary to find a causal link between ERK-mTOR signaling and translation in synaptic plasticity. My results indicate a novel β -AR mediated signaling which activates Epac to recruit ERK- and mTOR-dependent translation for the persistence of NE-LTP. The involvement of Epac in NE-LTP

has physiological and clinical relevance. Many neurodegenerative diseases are characterized by altered levels of Epac expression (McPhee et al., 2005; Maillet et al., 2003). My results establish a foundation where Epac may be a crucial molecule for long-lasting enhancement of synaptic plasticity.

4.2.3 Transcription and epigenetic mechanisms in NE-induced synaptic plasticity

Hippocampal synapses are capable of maintaining long-lasting potentiation due to the presence of polyribosomes and protein synthetic machineries in the dendritic shafts as well as spines (Steward, 1997; Steward and Schuman, 2001; Eberwine et al., 2001; Huang and Kandel, 2005). However, gene expression at the transcriptional level has also been implicated in long term synaptic plasticity and memory formation (Sossin, 1996; Nguyen et al., 1994). My data suggest that a somatic or transcriptional component is included in NE-LTP as inhibition of transcription (by Act-D or DRB) decreased the magnitude and duration of NE-LTP. My results extend previous work by showing that different signaling (i.e., Epac) may recruit transcription in addition to local translation to form a stable memory trace. To this end, my results shed light on communication between the synapse and nucleus upon cell membrane receptor (i.e., β -AR) activation as such that the two separate pathways (a proximal, synapse-based translation and a distal, soma-based transcription) can operate simultaneously to generate plasticity proteins or mRNAs for the endurance of synaptic strength. Further research will be necessary to define which specific genes are transcribed in NE-LTP.

109

The requirement of somatic transcription suggests that NE may interact with epigenetic mechanisms to boost LTP. The epigenetic mechanisms and NEmediated transcription share the signaling pathway upon cell membrane receptor activation. For example, CBP has intrinsic HAT activity and inhibition of HDAC increases the expression of CRE reporter genes by cAMP (McManus and Hendzel, 2001; Fass et al., 2003). Thus, epigenetic modification (i.e., histone acetylation) could significantly alter NE-cAMP mediated transcription in synaptic plasticity. NE-induced epigenetic modification is reported in non-neuronal tissues (Ho et al., 2007; Price et al., 2009). However, few studies characterized the influence of neuromodulators on epigenetic mechanisms in hippocampal synaptic plasticity (Crosio et al., 2003). With recent advancements in the understanding of epigenetic mechanisms in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory (for review, see Roth et al., 2010), I explored this new avenue of NE-mediated epigenetic mechanisms in hippocampal synaptic plasticity. Many extracellular signaling paths integrate at the nuclear level by phosphorylating CREB and hence play an essential role in hippocampal plasticity and the memorial process in a broad spectrum of species (Frank and Greenberg, 1994; Yin et al., 1994; Lonze and Ginty, 2002). Phosphorylated CREB then recruits CBP/P300 (with HAT activity) for transcription of genes. In contrast to histone acetylation, DNA methylation works in a different way to alter transcription of genes. Generally, methylation of genes by DNMTs represses transcription and increases synaptic plasticity, learning and memory. On the other hand, acetylation of genes by CBP-HATs enhances transcription by removing transcriptional repressors and thus

enhances synaptic plasticity and memory (Nelson and Monteggia, 2011). These observations suggest that separate sets of genes are responsive to DNA methylation and acetylation.

My results reveal a unique mechanism by which NE can alter nucleosome structure by methylation of DNA and initiation of post-translational modifications (i.e., acetylation and phosphorylation) of core histone proteins. I found significantly reduced NE-LTP in the presence of inhibitors of DNA methylation (AZA and ZEB). This led me to hypothesize that NE activates DNMTs to methylate memory suppressor genes to transcriptionally silence them. The presence of AZA or ZAB blocks this effect of NE and transcriptionally activates the genes. Since I predicted that these genes are memory suppressor genes, transcription of these genes decreases synaptic strength and memory. Further studies will be needed to characterize the genes and to determine the expression pattern of DNMTs in response to NE+HFS. These data also suggest that neuromodulators such as NE can alter synaptic strength through two temporally congruous but mechanistically different mechanisms: one by upregulation of local protein synthesis at the synaptic site, and the other by modulation of mRNA through epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation, histone acetylation and phosphorylation. My results have shown that blockade of HDAC activity by TSA did not enhance NE-LTP. This further strengthens the notion that NE engages histone acetylation for endurance of NE-LTP. I also found that shifting CBP/P300 HAT inhibitor (C646) application to shortly after NE+HFS did not block NE-

LTP. This indicates that modification of the histone protein is temporally restricted, which is in line with evidence that transient histone acetylation is recruited upon consolidation of fear memories (Federman et al., 2009). Here, I have provided an initial characterization of a novel β -AR mediated epigenetic response which bolsters LTP in hippocampal slices. My results identified DNA methylation, histone acetylation and histone phosphorylation as epigenetic regulators triggered when NE is paired with HFS. Though I used HFS to induce LTP, my results may provide a cellular mechanism in memory consolidation during different brain activities. Memory enhancer or repressor genes (i.e., *bdnf* and *pp1*, respectively) are modified by epigenetic mechanisms in memory formation (Bredy et al., 2007; Martinowitch et al., 2003). Thus, it is of great interest to discover which genes are transcribed through epigenetic mechanisms in NE-LTP. A model is shown to describe the suggested mode of epigenetic modification in NE-LTP (**fig. 4.2**).



Fig. 4.2: Suggested model of epigenetic modification in NE-LTP

4.2.4 Therapeutic implication of noradrenaline signaling mechanisms

Synaptic plasticity is impaired in many neurodegenerative diseases which lead to cognitive dysfunction. Cell membrane receptors can initiate epigenetic modifications through intracellular signaling (i.e., ERK) to potentiate synaptic responses as well as to maintain proper cognitive abilities (Day and Sweatt, 2011). NE, a vital neurotransmitter, influences brain functions including attention, network reorganization, learning and memory. At the cellular level, NE acts on β-ARs to modulate synaptic plasticity as well as cognitive functions. My research aimed to determine how β -ARs engage translation and epigenetic mechanisms to modulate synaptic plasticity. To this end, my results will shed light on a new avenue of neuroscience by exploring the role of NE in epigenetic regulation of cognitive abilities. Altered noradrenergic neurotransmission has been implicated in many cognitive disorders as well as neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, PTSD, ADHD, and depression (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003). For example, NE concentration in the CSF is significantly higher than normal in PTSD patients (Geracioti, Jr. et al., 2001), and the β -AR blocker propranolol is used to reduce the probability of developing PTSD (Henry et al., 2007). Furthermore, the age-related dysfunction of the central noradrenergic function is implicated in memory loss (Leslie et al., 1985). On a different note, NE also acts as a neuroprotective agent by inducing neurogenesis (Jhaveri et al., 2010) and by modulating inflammatory gene expression in the brain (Feinstein et al., 2002).

A growing number of studies has revealed that epigenetic mechanisms are disrupted in memory-related cognitive impairments (Kosik et al., 2012; Day and Sweatt, 2012; Zovkic and Sweatt, 2013). Recent advancements in epigenetic research have made tremendous progress to the level that HDAC inhibitors are being used in clinical trials. The current century is the era, full of hopes and promises in both technologies and medical research. Developments in neuroscience have grown far beyond our modest expectations of the past. Modern psychopharmacology encompasses the knowledge of neuroscience. pharmacology, psychology and eventually, culminating into rational drug design. Besides other mainstream drugs, now we have access to drugs which are meant for enhancing cognitive function.

Overall, with previous data linking β -AR stimulation to translational upregulation, my results expand the knowledge of the noradrenergic signaling cascade and also identify key epigenetic modulators, such as CBP, that could be therapeutic targets in the treatment of neurological disorders related to memory dysfunctions.

4.3 Future directions

My results have opened up exploration of the role of epigenetic mechanisms (specifically, acetylation of histones by CBP) in NE-LTP. As histone acetylation and CREB-CBP activation are downstream to the ERK signaling pathway, which is also activated upon β -AR activation, CBP might then be an important target molecule in NE-LTP. The coupling of NE-LTP to epigenetic regulation of gene expression can be understood properly using both pharmacological and genetic approaches.

Currently, I am collaborating with Dr. Nahum Sonenberg from McGill University to characterize the acetylation pattern of H3-Lys-14 in response to different pharmacological treatments targeting signaling molecules in NE-LTP. For example, I have demonstrated that NE, preferentially through β -ARs, engages CBP histone acetylation and DNA methylation to stabilize LTP. Thus, treatment with propranolol or C646 should reduce the proportion of acetylated histones (H3). Considering the complicated nature of interactions between epigenetic modifications, a pharmacological intervention would not be enough to rule out a specific epigenetic modification such as histone acetylation in NE-LTP. Thus, a genetic approach where CBP-HAT activity is selectively disrupted should be used to determine if CBP-HAT is a critical component of NE-LTP.

To this end, CBP δ 1 transgenic mice would be helpful to start NE-LTP experiments. These mice express a transgene for CBP lacking the HAT domain

116

and do not possess any developmental disorder (Wood et al., 2005). These features make it a unique model to test NE-LTP. My preliminary electrophysiology data in wild type mice indicate that CBP/P300-HAT activity is required for NE-LTP, which is again confirmed by my Western blot result that NE+HFS significantly enhances the proportion of acetylated histone compared to control. Thus, the study of NE-LTP in CBP81 mice would shed light on the requirement of CBP-HAT activity. The relative contribution of P300-HAT activity should also be considered if we find no significant difference in NE-LTP. For example, the fEPSPs might be the same in wild type and CBPo1 mice after 2 hr of NE+HFS, which would indicate the masking effect of CBP-HAT by other HATs in NE-LTP. P300-HAT is another homologue of CBP-HAT, and P30081 or P300 conditional knockout mice (Olivera et al., 2007) have similar phenotypic characteristics to CBP\delta1. Thus, we also need to compare NE-LTP in those mice. These experiments will identify specific signaling molecules as epigenetic regulators of NE-LTP.

Chapter 5: References

Anderson P, Morris RG, Amaral D, Bliss T, O'Keefe J (2007) The hippocampus Book. Oxford University Press, New York.

Craik F (1979) Human memory. Annu Rev Psychol 30: 63-102

Corkin S (1984) Lasting consequences of bilateral medial temporal lobectomy:clinical course and experimental findings in H.M. Semin Neurol 4: 249-259.

James W (1890) The Principles of psychology. New York: Holt.

Kandel, E. R. (1976) The cellular basis of behaviour: An introduction to behavioural neurobiology. W. H. Freeman and Company: New York.

Maine de Biran, F. P. G. (1929). The influence of habit on the faculty of thinking. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins (first published in 1804).

Milner, B., Corkin, S., & Teuber, H. L. (1968). Further analysis of the hippocampal amnesic syndrome: 14 year follow-up study of H.M. Neuropsychologia, 6, 215–234.

Schacter, D. L., & Tulving, E. (1994). What are the memory systems of 1994?. In D. L. Schacter & E. Tulving (Eds.), Memory systems 1994 (pp. 1–38). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Waddington, C. H. (1957). The strategy of genes. New York: MacMillan

Abel T, Martin KC, Bartsch D, Kandel ER (1998) Memory suppressor genes: inhibitory constraints on the storage of long-term memory. Science 279:338-341.

Abel T, Nguyen PV (2008) Regulation of hippocampus-dependent memory by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. Prog Brain Res 169:97-115.

Abel T, Nguyen PV, Barad M, Deuel TA, Kandel ER, Bourtchouladze R (1997) Genetic demonstration of a role for PKA in the late phase of LTP and in hippocampus-based long-term memory. Cell 88:615-626.

Abraham WC (1999) Metaplasticity: Key Element in Memory and Learning? News Physiol Sci 14:85.

Abraham WC (2008) Metaplasticity: tuning synapses and networks for plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:387.

Abraham WC, Bear MF (1996) Metaplasticity: the plasticity of synaptic plasticity. Trends Neurosci 19:126-130.

Abraham WC, Logan B, Greenwood JM, Dragunow M (2002) Induction and experience-dependent consolidation of stable long-term potentiation lasting months in the hippocampus. J Neurosci 22:9626-9634.

Abraham WC, Mason SE, Demmer J, Williams JM, Richardson CL, Tate WP, Lawlor PA, Dragunow M (1993) Correlations between immediate early gene induction and the persistence of long-term potentiation. Neuroscience 56:717-727.

Abrajano JJ, Qureshi IA, Gokhan S, Zheng D, Bergman A, Mehler MF (2009) Differential deployment of REST and CoREST promotes glial subtype specification and oligodendrocyte lineage maturation. PLoS One 4:e7665.

Ajiro K, Yoda K, Utsumi K, Nishikawa Y (1996) Alteration of cell cycledependent histone phosphorylations by okadaic acid. Induction of mitosis-specific H3 phosphorylation and chromatin condensation in mammalian interphase cells. J Biol Chem 271:13197-13201.

Alarcon JM, Malleret G, Touzani K, Vronskaya S, Ishii S, Kandel ER, Barco A (2004) Chromatin acetylation, memory, and LTP are impaired in CBP+/- mice: a model for the cognitive deficit in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome and its amelioration. Neuron 42:947-959.

Alberini CM (2008) The role of protein synthesis during the labile phases of memory: revisiting the skepticism. Neurobiol Learn Mem 89:234-246.

Almahariq M, Tsalkova T, Mei FC, Chen H, Zhou J, Sastry SK, Schwede F, Cheng X (2013) A novel EPAC-specific inhibitor suppresses pancreatic cancer cell migration and invasion. Mol Pharmacol 83:122-128.

Alonso A, Llinas RR (1989) Subthreshold Na+-dependent theta-like rhythmicity in stellate cells of entorhinal cortex layer II. Nature 342:175-177.

Alvarez P, Squire LR (1994) Memory consolidation and the medial temporal lobe: a simple network model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:7041-7045.

Amaral DG, Sinnamon HM (1977) The locus coeruleus: neurobiology of a central noradrenergic nucleus. Prog Neurobiol 9:147-196.

Amaral DG, Witter MP (1989) The three-dimensional organization of the hippocampal formation: a review of anatomical data. Neuroscience 31:571-591.

Amir RE, Van den Veyver IB, Wan M, Tran CQ, Francke U, Zoghbi HY (1999) Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl-CpG-binding protein 2. Nat Genet 23:185-188. Andersen P, Sundberg SH, Sveen O, Wigstrom H (1977) Specific long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in hippocampal slices. Nature 266:736-737.

Andres ME, Burger C, Peral-Rubio MJ, Battaglioli E, Anderson ME, Grimes J, Dallman J, Ballas N, Mandel G (1999) CoREST: a functional corepressor required for regulation of neural-specific gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:9873-9878.

Anwyl R (1999) Metabotropic glutamate receptors: electrophysiological properties and role in plasticity. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 29:83-120.

Arney KL, Fisher AG (2004) Epigenetic aspects of differentiation. J Cell Sci 117:4355-4363.

Ashley CT, Sutcliffe JS, Kunst CB, Leiner HA, Eichler EE, Nelson DL, Warren ST (1993) Human and murine FMR-1: alternative splicing and translational initiation downstream of the CGG-repeat. Nat Genet 4:244-251.

Aston-Jones G, Bloom FE (1981) Activity of norepinephrine-containing locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats anticipates fluctuations in the sleep-waking cycle. J Neurosci 1:876-886.

Aston-Jones G, Chiang C, Alexinsky T (1991) Discharge of noradrenergic locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats and monkeys suggests a role in vigilance. Prog Brain Res 88:501-520.

Atkins CM, Selcher JC, Petraitis JJ, Trzaskos JM, Sweatt JD (1998) The MAPK cascade is required for mammalian associative learning. Nat Neurosci 1:602-609.

Auerbach AA, Bennett MV (1969) Chemically mediated transmission at a giant fiber synapse in the central nervous system of a vertebrate. J Gen Physiol 53:183-210.

Baddeley A (1996) The fractionation of working memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:13468-13472.

Baddeley A (2003) Working memory and language: an overview. J Commun Disord 36:189-208.

Bading H, Greenberg ME (1991) Stimulation of protein tyrosine phosphorylation by NMDA receptor activation. Science 253:912-914.

Balasubramanyam K, Altaf M, Varier RA, Swaminathan V, Ravindran A, Sadhale PP, Kundu TK (2004a) Polyisoprenylated benzophenone, garcinol, a natural histone acetyltransferase inhibitor, represses chromatin transcription and alters global gene expression. J Biol Chem 279:33716-33726.

Balasubramanyam K, Swaminathan V, Ranganathan A, Kundu TK (2003) Small molecule modulators of histone acetyltransferase p300. J Biol Chem 278:19134-19140.

Balasubramanyam K, Varier RA, Altaf M, Swaminathan V, Siddappa NB, Ranga U, Kundu TK (2004b) Curcumin, a novel p300/CREB-binding protein-specific inhibitor of acetyltransferase, represses the acetylation of histone/nonhistone proteins and histone acetyltransferase-dependent chromatin transcription. J Biol Chem 279:51163-51171.

Banko JL, Hou L, Klann E (2004) NMDA receptor activation results in PKA- and ERK-dependent Mnk1 activation and increased eIF4E phosphorylation in hippocampal area CA1. J Neurochem 91:462-470.

Banko JL, Hou L, Poulin F, Sonenberg N, Klann E (2006) Regulation of eukaryotic initiation factor 4E by converging signaling pathways during metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term depression. J Neurosci 26:2167-2173.

Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T (1996) The CBP co-activator is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature 384:641-643.

Barnes CA, Jung MW, McNaughton BL, Korol DL, Andreasson K, Worley PF (1994) LTP saturation and spatial learning disruption: effects of task variables and saturation levels. J Neurosci 14:5793-5806.

Barone FC, Wayner MJ, Tsai WH, Zarco dC, I (1981) Effects of ventral tegmental area stimulation and microiontophoretic application of dopamine and norepinephrine on hypothalamic neurons. Brain Res Bull 7:181-193.

Barres R, Yan J, Egan B, Treebak JT, Rasmussen M, Fritz T, Caidahl K, Krook A, O'Gorman DJ, Zierath JR (2012) Acute exercise remodels promoter methylation in human skeletal muscle. Cell Metab 15:405-411.

Barreto G, Schafer A, Marhold J, Stach D, Swaminathan SK, Handa V, Doderlein G, Maltry N, Wu W, Lyko F, Niehrs C (2007) Gadd45a promotes epigenetic gene activation by repair-mediated DNA demethylation. Nature 445:671-675.

Barrett RM, Wood MA (2008) Beyond transcription factors: the role of chromatin modifying enzymes in regulating transcription required for memory. Learn Mem 15:460-467.

Barros DM, Mello e Souza, De DT, Choi H, Aguzzoli A, Madche C, Ardenghi P, Medina JH, Izquierdo I (2001) Simultaneous modulation of retrieval by dopaminergic D(1), beta-noradrenergic, serotonergic-1A and cholinergic muscarinic receptors in cortical structures of the rat. Behav Brain Res 124:1-7.

Battaglioli E, Andres ME, Rose DW, Chenoweth JG, Rosenfeld MG, Anderson ME, Mandel G (2002) REST repression of neuronal genes requires components of the hSWI.SNF complex. J Biol Chem 277:41038-41045.

Benke TA, Luthi A, Isaac JT, Collingridge GL (1998) Modulation of AMPA receptor unitary conductance by synaptic activity. Nature 393:793-797.

Berger TW, Rinaldi PC, Weisz DJ, Thompson RF (1983) Single-unit analysis of different hippocampal cell types during classical conditioning of rabbit nictitating membrane response. J Neurophysiol 50:1197-1219.

Bergles DE, Doze VA, Madison DV, Smith SJ (1996) Excitatory actions of norepinephrine on multiple classes of hippocampal CA1 interneurons. J Neurosci 16:572-585.

Bernabeu R, Bevilaqua L, Ardenghi P, Bromberg E, Schmitz P, Bianchin M, Izquierdo I, Medina JH (1997) Involvement of hippocampal cAMP/cAMP-dependent protein kinase signaling pathways in a late memory consolidation phase of aversively motivated learning in rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:7041-7046.

Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD (2003) The locus coeruleus-noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 42:33-84.

Biergans SD, Jones JC, Treiber N, Galizia CG, Szyszka P (2012) DNA methylation mediates the discriminatory power of associative long-term memory in honeybees. PLoS One 7:e39349.

Binda O, LeRoy G, Bua DJ, Garcia BA, Gozani O, Richard S (2010) Trimethylation of histone H3 lysine 4 impairs methylation of histone H3 lysine 9: regulation of lysine methyltransferases by physical interaction with their substrates. Epigenetics 5:767-775.

Bird A (2002) DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev 16:6-21.

Bito H, Deisseroth K, Tsien RW (1996) CREB phosphorylation and dephosphorylation: a Ca(2+)- and stimulus duration-dependent switch for hippocampal gene expression. Cell 87:1203-1214.

Blackstad TW, Brink K, Hem J, Jeune B (1970) Distribution of hippocampal mossy fibers in the rat. An experimental study with silver impregnation methods. J Comp Neurol 138:433-449.

Blanton MG, Lo Turco JJ, Kriegstein AR (1989) Whole cell recording from neurons in slices of reptilian and mammalian cerebral cortex. J Neurosci Methods 30:203-210.

Bliss TV, Collingridge GL (1993) A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature 361:31-39.

Bliss TV, Gardner-Medwin AR (1973) Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the unanaestetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J Physiol 232:357-374.

Bliss TV, Lomo T (1973) Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J Physiol 232:331-356.

Blitzer RD, Connor JH, Brown GP, Wong T, Shenolikar S, Iyengar R, Landau EM (1998) Gating of CaMKII by cAMP-regulated protein phosphatase activity during LTP. Science 280:1940-1942.

Blough RI, Petrij F, Dauwerse JG, Milatovich-Cherry A, Weiss L, Saal HM, Rubinstein JH (2000) Variation in microdeletions of the cyclic AMP-responsive element-binding protein gene at chromosome band 16p13.3 in the Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Am J Med Genet 90:29-34.

Bochet P, Rossier J (1993) Molecular biology of excitatory amino acid receptors: subtypes and subunits. EXS 63:224-233.

Bontempi B, Laurent-Demir C, Destrade C, Jaffard R (1999) Time-dependent reorganization of brain circuitry underlying long-term memory storage. Nature 400:671-675.

Borrelli E, Nestler EJ, Allis CD, Sassone-Corsi P (2008) Decoding the epigenetic language of neuronal plasticity. Neuron 60:961-974.

Bouret S, Sara SJ (2005) Network reset: a simplified overarching theory of locus coeruleus noradrenaline function. Trends Neurosci 28:574-582.

Bourne JN, Sorra KE, Hurlburt J, Harris KM (2007) Polyribosomes are increased in spines of CA1 dendrites 2 h after the induction of LTP in mature rat hippocampal slices. Hippocampus 17:1-4.

Bourtchouladze R, Lidge R, Catapano R, Stanley J, Gossweiler S, Romashko D, Scott R, Tully T (2003) A mouse model of Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome: defective long-term memory is ameliorated by inhibitors of phosphodiesterase 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10518-10522.

Bowers EM, Yan G, Mukherjee C, Orry A, Wang L, Holbert MA, Crump NT, Hazzalin CA, Liszczak G, Yuan H, Larocca C, Saldanha SA, Abagyan R, Sun Y, Meyers DJ, Marmorstein R, Mahadevan LC, Alani RM, Cole PA (2010) Virtual ligand screening of the p300/CBP histone acetyltransferase: identification of a selective small molecule inhibitor. Chem Biol 17:471-482.

Bradbury EM, Inglis RJ, Matthews HR, Sarner N (1973) Phosphorylation of verylysine-rich histone in Physarum polycephalum. Correlation with chromosome condensation. Eur J Biochem 33:131-139.

Brami-Cherrier K, Roze E, Girault JA, Betuing S, Caboche J (2009) Role of the ERK/MSK1 signalling pathway in chromatin remodelling and brain responses to drugs of abuse. J Neurochem 108:1323-1335.

Bredy TW, Wu H, Crego C, Zellhoefer J, Sun YE, Barad M (2007) Histone modifications around individual BDNF gene promoters in prefrontal cortex are associated with extinction of conditioned fear. Learn Mem 14:268-276.

Brown R, Silva AJ (2004) Molecular and cellular cognition; the unraveling of memory retrieval. Cell 117:3-4.

Brunelli M, Castellucci V, Kandel ER (1976) Synaptic facilitation and behavioral sensitization in Aplysia: possible role of serotonin and cyclic AMP. Science 194:1178-1181.

Buzsaki G (1986) Hippocampal sharp waves: their origin and significance. Brain Res 398:242-252.

Byers D, Davis RL, Kiger JA, Jr. (1981) Defect in cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase due to the dunce mutation of learning in Drosophila melanogaster. Nature 289:79-81.

Byrne J, Castellucci V, Kandel ER (1974) Receptive fields and response properties of mechanoreceptor neurons innervating siphon skin and mantle shelf in Aplysia. J Neurophysiol 37:1041-1064.

Cahill L, McGaugh JL (1996) The neurobiology of memory for emotional events: adrenergic activation and the amygdala. Proc West Pharmacol Soc 39:81-84.

Cahill L, Pham CA, Setlow B (2000) Impaired memory consolidation in rats produced with beta-adrenergic blockade. Neurobiol Learn Mem 74:259-266.

Cahill L, Prins B, Weber M, McGaugh JL (1994) Beta-adrenergic activation and memory for emotional events. Nature 371:702-704.

Cao X, Sudhof TC (2001) A transcriptionally [correction of transcriptively] active complex of APP with Fe65 and histone acetyltransferase Tip60. Science 293:115-120.

Carmena M, Earnshaw WC (2003) The cellular geography of aurora kinases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:842-854.

Castellucci VF, Frost WN, Goelet P, Montarolo PG, Schacher S, Morgan JA, Blumenfeld H, Kandel ER (1986) Cell and molecular analysis of long-term sensitization in Aplysia. J Physiol (Paris) 81:349-357.

Castellucci VF, Kandel ER, Schwartz JH, Wilson FD, Nairn AC, Greengard P (1980) Intracellular injection of t he catalytic subunit of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase simulates facilitation of transmitter release underlying behavioral sensitization in Aplysia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:7492-7496.

Castillo PE, Malenka RC, Nicoll RA (1997) Kainate receptors mediate a slow postsynaptic current in hippocampal CA3 neurons. Nature 388:182-186.

Chahrour M, Jung SY, Shaw C, Zhou X, Wong ST, Qin J, Zoghbi HY (2008) MeCP2, a key contributor to neurological disease, activates and represses transcription. Science 320:1224-1229.

Chamberlain SR, Muller U, Blackwell AD, Clark L, Robbins TW, Sahakian BJ (2006) Neurochemical modulation of response inhibition and probabilistic learning in humans. Science 311:861-863.

Chang CW, Lee L, Yu D, Dao K, Bossuyt J, Bers DM (2013) Acute betaadrenergic activation triggers nuclear import of histone deacetylase 5 and delays G(q)-induced transcriptional activation. J Biol Chem 288:192-204.

Chaulk PC, Harley CW (1998) Intracerebroventricular norepinephrine potentiation of the perforant path-evoked potential in dentate gyrus of anesthetized and awake rats: A role for both alpha- and beta-adrenoceptor activation. Brain Res 787:59-70.

Chen HY, Sun JM, Zhang Y, Davie JR, Meistrich ML (1998a) Ubiquitination of histone H3 in elongating spermatids of rat testes. J Biol Chem 273:13165-13169.

Chen RZ, Akbarian S, Tudor M, Jaenisch R (2001) Deficiency of methyl-CpG binding protein-2 in CNS neurons results in a Rett-like phenotype in mice. Nat Genet 27:327-331.

Chen T, Ueda Y, Xie S, Li E (2002) A novel Dnmt3a isoform produced from an alternative promoter localizes to euchromatin and its expression correlates with active de novo methylation. J Biol Chem 277:38746-38754.

Chen WG, Chang Q, Lin Y, Meissner A, West AE, Griffith EC, Jaenisch R, Greenberg ME (2003) Derepression of BDNF transcription involves calciumdependent phosphorylation of MeCP2. Science 302:885-889.

Chen ZF, Paquette AJ, Anderson DJ (1998b) NRSF/REST is required in vivo for repression of multiple neuronal target genes during embryogenesis. Nat Genet 20:136-142.

Cheng JC, Yoo CB, Weisenberger DJ, Chuang J, Wozniak C, Liang G, Marquez VE, Greer S, Orntoft TF, Thykjaer T, Jones PA (2004) Preferential response of cancer cells to zebularine. Cancer Cell 6:151-158.

Cheung P, Lau P (2005) Epigenetic regulation by histone methylation and histone variants. Mol Endocrinol 19:563-573.

Chiang PK, Gordon RK, Tal J, Zeng GC, Doctor BP, Pardhasaradhi K, McCann PP (1996) S-Adenosylmethionine and methylation. FASEB J 10:471-480.

Chong JA, Tapia-Ramirez J, Kim S, Toledo-Aral JJ, Zheng Y, Boutros MC, Altshuller YM, Frohman MA, Kraner SD, Mandel G (1995) REST: a mammalian silencer protein that restricts sodium channel gene expression to neurons. Cell 80:949-957.

Christman JK (2002) 5-Azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine as inhibitors of DNA methylation: mechanistic studies and their implications for cancer therapy. Oncogene 21:5483-5495.

Chwang WB, Arthur JS, Schumacher A, Sweatt JD (2007) The nuclear kinase mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase 1 regulates hippocampal chromatin remodeling in memory formation. J Neurosci 27:12732-12742.

Chwang WB, O'Riordan KJ, Levenson JM, Sweatt JD (2006a) ERK/MAPK regulates hippocampal histone phosphorylation following contextual fear conditioning. Learn Mem 13:322-328.

Chwang WB, O'Riordan KJ, Levenson JM, Sweatt JD (2006b) ERK/MAPK regulates hippocampal histone phosphorylation following contextual fear conditioning. Learn Mem 13:322-328.

Cohen NJ, Squire LR (1980) Preserved learning and retention of patternanalyzing skill in amnesia: dissociation of knowing how and knowing that. Science 210:207-210.

Cohen S, Zhou Z, Greenberg ME (2008) Medicine. Activating a repressor. Science 320:1172-1173.

Collingridge GL, Herron CE, Lester RA (1988) Frequency-dependent N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated synaptic transmission in rat hippocampus. J Physiol 399:301-312.

Collingridge GL, Kehl SJ, McLennan H (1983) Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. J Physiol 334:33-46.

Collingridge GL, Randall AD, Davies CH, Alford S (1992) The synaptic activation of NMDA receptors and Ca2+ signalling in neurons. Ciba Found Symp 164:162-171.

Collins AL, Levenson JM, Vilaythong AP, Richman R, Armstrong DL, Noebels JL, David SJ, Zoghbi HY (2004) Mild overexpression of MeCP2 causes a progressive neurological disorder in mice. Hum Mol Genet 13:2679-2689.

Corkin S (2002) What's new with the amnesic patient H.M.? Nat Rev Neurosci 3:153-160.

Costa E, Chen Y, Davis J, Dong E, Noh JS, Tremolizzo L, Veldic M, Grayson DR, Guidotti A (2002) REELIN and schizophrenia: a disease at the interface of the genome and the epigenome. Mol Interv 2:47-57.

Cotecchia S, Kobilka BK, Daniel KW, Nolan RD, Lapetina EY, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ, Regan JW (1990) Multiple second messenger pathways of alphaadrenergic receptor subtypes expressed in eukaryotic cells. J Biol Chem 265:63-69.

Crick F (1984) Memory and molecular turnover. Nature 312:101.

Crosio C, Heitz E, Allis CD, Borrelli E, Sassone-Corsi P (2003) Chromatin remodeling and neuronal response: multiple signaling pathways induce specific histone H3 modifications and early gene expression in hippocampal neurons. J Cell Sci 116:4905-4914.

Cullis PM, Wolfenden R, Cousens LS, Alberts BM (1982) Inhibition of histone acetylation by N-[2-(S-coenzyme A)acetyl] spermidine amide, a multisubstrate analog. J Biol Chem 257:12165-12169.

Curet O, de MC (1988) Electrophysiological characterization of adrenoceptors in the rat dorsal hippocampus. I. Receptors mediating the effect of microiontophoretically applied norepinephrine. Brain Res 475:35-46.

Dahl D, Sarvey JM (1989) Norepinephrine induces pathway-specific long-lasting potentiation and depression in the hippocampal dentate gyrus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:4776-4780.

Davie JR (2003) MSK1 and MSK2 mediate mitogen- and stress-induced phosphorylation of histone H3: a controversy resolved. Sci STKE 2003:E33.

Davis S, Vanhoutte P, Pages C, Caboche J, Laroche S (2000) The MAPK/ERK cascade targets both Elk-1 and cAMP response element-binding protein to control long-term potentiation-dependent gene expression in the dentate gyrus in vivo. J Neurosci 20:4563-4572.
Day HE, Campeau S, Watson SJ, Jr., Akil H (1997) Distribution of alpha 1a-, alpha 1b- and alpha 1d-adrenergic receptor mRNA in the rat brain and spinal cord. J Chem Neuroanat 13:115-139.

Day JJ, Sweatt JD (2011) Epigenetic mechanisms in cognition. Neuron 70:813-829.

de la Barre AE, Gerson V, Gout S, Creaven M, Allis CD, Dimitrov S (2000) Core histone N-termini play an essential role in mitotic chromosome condensation. EMBO J 19:379-391.

De Souza CP, Osmani AH, Wu LP, Spotts JL, Osmani SA (2000) Mitotic histone H3 phosphorylation by the NIMA kinase in Aspergillus nidulans. Cell 102:293-302.

Deacon TW, Eichenbaum H, Rosenberg P, Eckmann KW (1983) Afferent connections of the perirhinal cortex in the rat. J Comp Neurol 220:168-190.

Deadwyler SA, Dunwiddie T, Lynch G (1987) A critical level of protein synthesis is required for long-term potentiation. Synapse 1:90-95.

Derkach V, Barria A, Soderling TR (1999) Ca2+/calmodulin-kinase II enhances channel conductance of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate type glutamate receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3269-3274.

Devauges V, Sara SJ (1991) Memory retrieval enhancement by locus coeruleus stimulation: evidence for mediation by beta-receptors. Behav Brain Res 43:93-97.

Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF (1999) The glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol Rev 51:7-61.

Dismukes K, de Boer AA, Mulder AH (1977) On the mechanism of alphareceptor mediated modulation of 3H-noradrenaline release from slices of rat brain neocortex. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 299:115-122.

Dismukes RK, Mulder AH (1976) Cyclic AMP and alpha-receptor-mediated modulation of noradrenaling release from rat brain slices. Eur J Pharmacol 39:383-388.

Dixon WR, Mosimann WF, Weiner N (1979) The role of presynatpic feedback mechanisms in regulation of norepinephrine release by nerve stimulation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 209:196-204.

Dokmanovic M, Clarke C, Marks PA (2007) Histone deacetylase inhibitors: overview and perspectives. Mol Cancer Res 5:981-989.

Domyancic AV, Morilak DA (1997) Distribution of alpha1A adrenergic receptor mRNA in the rat brain visualized by in situ hybridization. J Comp Neurol 386:358-378.

Drewell RA, Goddard CJ, Thomas JO, Surani MA (2002) Methylation-dependent silencing at the H19 imprinting control region by MeCP2. Nucleic Acids Res 30:1139-1144.

Dudek SM, Bear MF (1992) Homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of hippocampus and effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blockade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:4363-4367.

Duffy SN, Nguyen PV (2003) Postsynaptic application of a peptide inhibitor of cAMP-dependent protein kinase blocks expression of long-lasting synaptic potentiation in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 23:1142-1150.

Dunwiddie TV, Roberson NL, Worth T (1982) Modulation of long-term potentiation: effects of adrenergic and neuroleptic drugs. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 17:1257-1264.

Dunwiddie TV, Taylor M, Heginbotham LR, Proctor WR (1992) Long-term increases in excitability in the CA1 region of rat hippocampus induced by beta-adrenergic stimulation: possible mediation by cAMP. J Neurosci 12:506-517.

Eberwine J, Miyashiro K, Kacharmina JE, Job C (2001) Local translation of classes of mRNAs that are targeted to neuronal dendrites. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:7080-7085.

Eckel-Mahan KL, Phan T, Han S, Wang H, Chan GC, Scheiner ZS, Storm DR (2008) Circadian oscillation of hippocampal MAPK activity and cAmp: implications for memory persistence. Nat Neurosci 11:1074-1082.

Eichenbaum H, Otto T, Cohen NJ (1992) The hippocampus--what does it do? Behav Neural Biol 57:2-36.

Ellaway C, Christodoulou J (2001) Rett syndrome: clinical characteristics and recent genetic advances. Disabil Rehabil 23:98-106.

Ellis ME, Kesner RP (1983) The noradrenergic system of the amygdala and aversive information processing. Behav Neurosci 97:399-415.

Engert F, Bonhoeffer T (1999) Dendritic spine changes associated with hippocampal long-term synaptic plasticity. Nature 399:66-70.

English JD, Sweatt JD (1996) Activation of p42 mitogen-activated protein kinase in hippocampal long term potentiation. J Biol Chem 271:24329-24332.

English JD, Sweatt JD (1997) A requirement for the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in hippocampal long term potentiation. J Biol Chem 272:19103-19106.

Erwin BG, Persson L, Pegg AE (1984) Differential inhibition of histone and polyamine acetylases by multisubstrate analogues. Biochemistry 23:4250-4255.

Eschenko O, Sara SJ (2008) Learning-dependent, transient increase of activity in noradrenergic neurons of locus coeruleus during slow wave sleep in the rat: brain stem-cortex interplay for memory consolidation? Cereb Cortex 18:2596-2603.

Esteban JA, Shi SH, Wilson C, Nuriya M, Huganir RL, Malinow R (2003) PKA phosphorylation of AMPA receptor subunits controls synaptic trafficking underlying plasticity. Nat Neurosci 6:136-143.

Etkin A, Alarcon JM, Weisberg SP, Touzani K, Huang YY, Nordheim A, Kandel ER (2006) A role in learning for SRF: deletion in the adult forebrain disrupts LTD and the formation of an immediate memory of a novel context. Neuron 50:127-143.

Fass DM, Butler JE, Goodman RH (2003) Deacetylase activity is required for cAMP activation of a subset of CREB target genes. J Biol Chem 278:43014-43019.

Federman N, Fustinana MS, Romano A (2009) Histone acetylation is recruited in consolidation as a molecular feature of stronger memories. Learn Mem 16:600-606.

Feinstein DL, Heneka MT, Gavrilyuk V, Dello RC, Weinberg G, Galea E (2002) Noradrenergic regulation of inflammatory gene expression in brain. Neurochem Int 41:357-365.

Feng J, Chang H, Li E, Fan G (2005) Dynamic expression of de novo DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b in the central nervous system. J Neurosci Res 79:734-746.

Feng J, Fan G (2009) The role of DNA methylation in the central nervous system and neuropsychiatric disorders. Int Rev Neurobiol 89:67-84.

Feng J, Zhou Y, Campbell SL, Le T, Li E, Sweatt JD, Silva AJ, Fan G (2010) Dnmt1 and Dnmt3a maintain DNA methylation and regulate synaptic function in adult forebrain neurons. Nat Neurosci 13:423-430.

Fernandez-Tome MP, Sanchez-Blazquez P, del RJ (1979) Impairment by apomorphine of one-trial passive avoidance learning in mice: the opposing roles of the dopamine and noradrenaline systems. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 61:43-47.

Fiore RS, Murphy TH, Sanghera JS, Pelech SL, Baraban JM (1993) Activation of p42 mitogen-activated protein kinase by glutamate receptor stimulation in rat primary cortical cultures. J Neurochem 61:1626-1633.

Fisher R, Johnston D (1990) Differential modulation of single voltage-gated calcium channels by cholinergic and adrenergic agonists in adult hippocampal neurons. J Neurophysiol 64:1291-1302.

Fontan-Lozano A, Romero-Granados R, Troncoso J, Munera A, Delgado-Garcia JM, Carrion AM (2008) Histone deacetylase inhibitors improve learning consolidation in young and in KA-induced-neurodegeneration and SAMP-8-mutant mice. Mol Cell Neurosci 39:193-201.

Frank DA, Greenberg ME (1994) CREB: a mediator of long-term memory from mollusks to mammals. Cell 79:5-8.

Frankland PW, Bontempi B, Talton LE, Kaczmarek L, Silva AJ (2004) The involvement of the anterior cingulate cortex in remote contextual fear memory. Science 304:881-883.

Frerking M, Malenka RC, Nicoll RA (1998) Synaptic activation of kainate receptors on hippocampal interneurons. Nat Neurosci 1:479-486.

Frey U, Frey S, Schollmeier F, Krug M (1996) Influence of actinomycin D, a RNA synthesis inhibitor, on long-term potentiation in rat hippocampal neurons in vivo and in vitro. J Physiol 490 (Pt 3):703-711.

Frey U, Krug M, Brodemann R, Reymann K, Matthies H (1989) Long-term potentiation induced in dendrites separated from rat's CA1 pyramidal somata does not establish a late phase. Neurosci Lett 97:135-139.

Frey U, Krug M, Reymann KG, Matthies H (1988) Anisomycin, an inhibitor of protein synthesis, blocks late phases of LTP phenomena in the hippocampal CA1 region in vitro. Brain Res 452:57-65.

Frey U, Morris RG (1997) Synaptic tagging and long-term potentiation. Nature 385:533-536.

Fuks F, Hurd PJ, Wolf D, Nan X, Bird AP, Kouzarides T (2003) The methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 links DNA methylation to histone methylation. J Biol Chem 278:4035-4040.

Fuster JM (1998) Distributed memory for both short and long term. Neurobiol Learn Mem 70:268-274.

Gallagher M, Kapp BS, Musty RE, Driscoll PA (1977) Memory formation: evidence for a specific neurochemical system in the amygdala. Science 198:423-425.

Ge Y, Dong Z, Bagot RC, Howland JG, Phillips AG, Wong TP, Wang YT (2010) Hippocampal long-term depression is required for the consolidation of spatial memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:16697-16702.

Gearhart MD, Corcoran CM, Wamstad JA, Bardwell VJ (2006) Polycomb group and SCF ubiquitin ligases are found in a novel BCOR complex that is recruited to BCL6 targets. Mol Cell Biol 26:6880-6889.

Gecz J, Gedeon AK, Sutherland GR, Mulley JC (1996) Identification of the gene FMR2, associated with FRAXE mental retardation. Nat Genet 13:105-108.

Gelinas JN, Banko JL, Hou L, Sonenberg N, Weeber EJ, Klann E, Nguyen PV (2007) ERK and mTOR signaling couple beta-adrenergic receptors to translation initiation machinery to gate induction of protein synthesis-dependent long-term potentiation. J Biol Chem 282:27527-27535.

Gelinas JN, Banko JL, Peters MM, Klann E, Weeber EJ, Nguyen PV (2008) Activation of exchange protein activated by cyclic-AMP enhances long-lasting synaptic potentiation in the hippocampus. Learn Mem 15:403-411.

Gelinas JN, Nguyen PV (2005) Beta-adrenergic receptor activation facilitates induction of a protein synthesis-dependent late phase of long-term potentiation. J Neurosci 25:3294-3303.

Geracioti TD, Jr., Baker DG, Ekhator NN, West SA, Hill KK, Bruce AB, Schmidt D, Rounds-Kugler B, Yehuda R, Keck PE, Jr., Kasckow JW (2001) CSF norepinephrine concentrations in posttraumatic stress disorder. Am J Psychiatry 158:1227-1230.

Ghoshal K, Bai S (2007) DNA methyltransferases as targets for cancer therapy. Drugs Today (Barc) 43:395-422.

Giet R, Glover DM (2001) Drosophila aurora B kinase is required for histone H3 phosphorylation and condensin recruitment during chromosome condensation and to organize the central spindle during cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 152:669-682.

Glanzman DL, Mackey SL, Hawkins RD, Dyke AM, Lloyd PE, Kandel ER (1989) Depletion of serotonin in the nervous system of Aplysia reduces the behavioral enhancement of gill withdrawal as well as the heterosynaptic facilitation produced by tail shock. J Neurosci 9:4200-4213.

Gold JJ, Squire LR (2005) Quantifying medial temporal lobe damage in memoryimpaired patients. Hippocampus 15:79-85.

Gold PE, van BR, Haycock JW (1977) Effects of posttraining epinephrine injections on retention of avoidance training in mice. Behav Biol 20:197-204.

Goldknopf IL, Taylor CW, Baum RM, Yeoman LC, Olson MO, Prestayko AW, Busch H (1975) Isolation and characterization of protein A24, a "histone-like" non-histone chromosomal protein. J Biol Chem 250:7182-7187.

Gore SD, et al. (2006) Combined DNA methyltransferase and histone deacetylase inhibition in the treatment of myeloid neoplasms. Cancer Res 66:6361-6369.

Goto H, Tomono Y, Ajiro K, Kosako H, Fujita M, Sakurai M, Okawa K, Iwamatsu A, Okigaki T, Takahashi T, Inagaki M (1999) Identification of a novel phosphorylation site on histone H3 coupled with mitotic chromosome condensation. J Biol Chem 274:25543-25549.

Goto H, Yasui Y, Nigg EA, Inagaki M (2002) Aurora-B phosphorylates Histone H3 at serine28 with regard to the mitotic chromosome condensation. Genes Cells 7:11-17.

Graff J, Mansuy IM (2008) Epigenetic codes in cognition and behaviour. Behav Brain Res 192:70-87.

Griffith JS, Mahler HR (1969) DNA ticketing theory of memory. Nature 223:580-582.

Grimes JA, Nielsen SJ, Battaglioli E, Miska EA, Speh JC, Berry DL, Atouf F, Holdener BC, Mandel G, Kouzarides T (2000) The co-repressor mSin3A is a functional component of the REST-CoREST repressor complex. J Biol Chem 275:9461-9467.

Gruart A, Munoz MD, Delgado-Garcia JM (2006) Involvement of the CA3-CA1 synapse in the acquisition of associative learning in behaving mice. J Neurosci 26:1077-1087.

Gu W, Roeder RG (1997) Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA binding by acetylation of the p53 C-terminal domain. Cell 90:595-606.

Gu Y, Shen Y, Gibbs RA, Nelson DL (1996) Identification of FMR2, a novel gene associated with the FRAXE CCG repeat and CpG island. Nat Genet 13:109-113.

Guan JS, Haggarty SJ, Giacometti E, Dannenberg JH, Joseph N, Gao J, Nieland TJ, Zhou Y, Wang X, Mazitschek R, Bradner JE, DePinho RA, Jaenisch R, Tsai LH (2009) HDAC2 negatively regulates memory formation and synaptic plasticity. Nature 459:55-60.

Guan Z, Giustetto M, Lomvardas S, Kim JH, Miniaci MC, Schwartz JH, Thanos D, Kandel ER (2002) Integration of long-term-memory-related synaptic plasticity involves bidirectional regulation of gene expression and chromatin structure. Cell 111:483-493.

Guo JU, Ma DK, Mo H, Ball MP, Jang MH, Bonaguidi MA, Balazer JA, Eaves HL, Xie B, Ford E, Zhang K, Ming GL, Gao Y, Song H (2011a) Neuronal activity modifies the DNA methylation landscape in the adult brain. Nat Neurosci 14:1345-1351.

Guo JU, Su Y, Zhong C, Ming GL, Song H (2011b) Hydroxylation of 5methylcytosine by TET1 promotes active DNA demethylation in the adult brain. Cell 145:423-434.

Gupta S, Kim SY, Artis S, Molfese DL, Schumacher A, Sweatt JD, Paylor RE, Lubin FD (2010a) Histone methylation regulates memory formation. J Neurosci 30:3589-3599.

Gupta S, Kim SY, Artis S, Molfese DL, Schumacher A, Sweatt JD, Paylor RE, Lubin FD (2010b) Histone methylation regulates memory formation. J Neurosci 30:3589-3599.

Gurley LR, D'Anna JA, Barham SS, Deaven LL, Tobey RA (1978) Histone phosphorylation and chromatin structure during mitosis in Chinese hamster cells. Eur J Biochem 84:1-15.

Gurley LR, Walters RA, Tobey RA (1974) Cell cycle-specific changes in histone phosphorylation associated with cell proliferation and chromosome condensation. J Cell Biol 60:356-364.

Gustafsson B, Wigstrom H, Abraham WC, Huang YY (1987) Long-term potentiation in the hippocampus using depolarizing current pulses as the conditioning stimulus to single volley synaptic potentials. J Neurosci 7:774-780.

Ha CH, Kim JY, Zhao J, Wang W, Jhun BS, Wong C, Jin ZG (2010) PKA phosphorylates histone deacetylase 5 and prevents its nuclear export, leading to the inhibition of gene transcription and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:15467-15472.

Hablitz JJ, Langmoen IA (1982) Excitation of hippocampal pyramidal cells by glutamate in the guinea-pig and rat. J Physiol 325:317-331.

Happel N, Doenecke D (2009) Histone H1 and its isoforms: contribution to chromatin structure and function. Gene 431:1-12.

Harley C (1991) Noradrenergic and locus coeruleus modulation of the perforant path-evoked potential in rat dentate gyrus supports a role for the locus coeruleus in attentional and memorial processes. Prog Brain Res 88:307-321.

Harley CW (2004) Norepinephrine and dopamine as learning signals. Neural Plast 11:191-204.

Harrison JK, Pearson WR, Lynch KR (1991) Molecular characterization of alpha 1- and alpha 2-adrenoceptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci 12:62-67.

Hasselmo ME (1995) Neuromodulation and cortical function: modeling the physiological basis of behavior. Behav Brain Res 67:1-27.

Hawkins RD (1981) Interneurons involved in mediation and modulation of gillwithdrawal reflex in Aplysia. III. Identified facilitating neurons increase Ca2+ current in sensory neurons. J Neurophysiol 45:327-339.

Haworth RS, Stathopoulou K, Candasamy AJ, Avkiran M (2012) Neurohormonal regulation of cardiac histone deacetylase 5 nuclear localization by phosphorylation-dependent and phosphorylation-independent mechanisms. Circ Res 110:1585-1595.

Hayashi Y, Shi SH, Esteban JA, Piccini A, Poncer JC, Malinow R (2000) Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: requirement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction. Science 287:2262-2267.

Hebbes TR, Thorne AW, Crane-Robinson C (1988) A direct link between core histone acetylation and transcriptionally active chromatin. EMBO J 7:1395-1402.

Henry M, Fishman JR, Youngner SJ (2007) Propranolol and the prevention of post-traumatic stress disorder: is it wrong to erase the "sting" of bad memories? Am J Bioeth 7:12-20.

Herron CE, Lester RA, Coan EJ, Collingridge GL (1985) Intracellular demonstration of an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor mediated component of synaptic transmission in the rat hippocampus. Neurosci Lett 60:19-23.

Hestrin S, Nicoll RA, Perkel DJ, Sah P (1990) Analysis of excitatory synaptic action in pyramidal cells using whole-cell recording from rat hippocampal slices. J Physiol 422:203-225.

Heynen AJ, Abraham WC, Bear MF (1996) Bidirectional modification of CA1 synapses in the adult hippocampus in vivo. Nature 381:163-166.

Hjorth-Simonsen A (1973) Some intrinsic connections of the hippocampus in the rat: an experimental analysis. J Comp Neurol 147:145-161.

Hjorth-Simonsen A, Jeune B (1972) Origin and termination of the hippocampal perforant path in the rat studied by silver impregnation. J Comp Neurol 144:215-232.

Ho AK, Price DM, Dukewich WG, Steinberg N, Arnason TG, Chik CL (2007) Acetylation of histone H3 and adrenergic-regulated gene transcription in rat pinealocytes. Endocrinology 148:4592-4600. Hoffman DA, Johnston D (1999) Neuromodulation of dendritic action potentials. J Neurophysiol 81:408-411.

Holliday R (1999) Is there an epigenetic component in long-term memory? J Theor Biol 200:339-341.

Hollmann M, Heinemann S (1994) Cloned glutamate receptors. Annu Rev Neurosci 17:31-108.

Hoogland TM, Saggau P (2004) Facilitation of L-type Ca2+ channels in dendritic spines by activation of beta2 adrenergic receptors. J Neurosci 24:8416-8427.

Hopkins WF, Johnston D (1984) Frequency-dependent noradrenergic modulation of long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Science 226:350-352.

Hopkins WF, Johnston D (1988) Noradrenergic enhancement of long-term potentiation at mossy fiber synapses in the hippocampus. J Neurophysiol 59:667-687.

Hsu JY, Sun ZW, Li X, Reuben M, Tatchell K, Bishop DK, Grushcow JM, Brame CJ, Caldwell JA, Hunt DF, Lin R, Smith MM, Allis CD (2000) Mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 is governed by Ipl1/aurora kinase and Glc7/PP1 phosphatase in budding yeast and nematodes. Cell 102:279-291.

Hu GY, Hvalby O, Walaas SI, Albert KA, Skjeflo P, Andersen P, Greengard P (1987) Protein kinase C injection into hippocampal pyramidal cells elicits features of long term potentiation. Nature 328:426-429.

Hu LA, Tang Y, Miller WE, Cong M, Lau AG, Lefkowitz RJ, Hall RA (2000) beta 1-adrenergic receptor association with PSD-95. Inhibition of receptor internalization and facilitation of beta 1-adrenergic receptor interaction with N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Biol Chem 275:38659-38666.

Huang Y, Myers SJ, Dingledine R (1999) Transcriptional repression by REST: recruitment of Sin3A and histone deacetylase to neuronal genes. Nat Neurosci 2:867-872.

Huang YY, Kandel ER (1994) Recruitment of long-lasting and protein kinase Adependent long-term potentiation in the CA1 region of hippocampus requires repeated tetanization. Learn Mem 1:74-82.

Huang YY, Kandel ER (1996) Modulation of both the early and the late phase of mossy fiber LTP by the activation of beta-adrenergic receptors. Neuron 16:611-617.

Huang YY, Kandel ER (2005) Theta frequency stimulation induces a local form of late phase LTP in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. Learn Mem 12:587-593.

Huber KM, Kayser MS, Bear MF (2000) Role for rapid dendritic protein synthesis in hippocampal mGluR-dependent long-term depression. Science 288:1254-1257.

Hutnick LK, Golshani P, Namihira M, Xue Z, Matynia A, Yang XW, Silva AJ, Schweizer FE, Fan G (2009) DNA hypomethylation restricted to the murine forebrain induces cortical degeneration and impairs postnatal neuronal maturation. Hum Mol Genet 18:2875-2888.

Iguchi-Ariga SM, Schaffner W (1989) CpG methylation of the cAMP-responsive enhancer/promoter sequence TGACGTCA abolishes specific factor binding as well as transcriptional activation. Genes Dev 3:612-619.

Iino M, Ozawa S, Tsuzuki K (1990) Permeation of calcium through excitatory amino acid receptor channels in cultured rat hippocampal neurones. J Physiol 424:151-165.

Imhof A, Yang XJ, Ogryzko VV, Nakatani Y, Wolffe AP, Ge H (1997) Acetylation of general transcription factors by histone acetyltransferases. Curr Biol 7:689-692.

Impey S, Mark M, Villacres EC, Poser S, Chavkin C, Storm DR (1996) Induction of CRE-mediated gene expression by stimuli that generate long-lasting LTP in area CA1 of the hippocampus. Neuron 16:973-982.

Impey S, Obrietan K, Wong ST, Poser S, Yano S, Wayman G, Deloulme JC, Chan G, Storm DR (1998) Cross talk between ERK and PKA is required for Ca2+ stimulation of CREB-dependent transcription and ERK nuclear translocation. Neuron 21:869-883.

Issa JP (2005) Optimizing therapy with methylation inhibitors in myelodysplastic syndromes: dose, duration, and patient selection. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2 Suppl 1:S24-S29.

Izquierdo I, McGaugh JL (2000) Behavioural pharmacology and its contribution to the molecular basis of memory consolidation. Behav Pharmacol 11:517-534.

Izquierdo I, Medina JH, Izquierdo LA, Barros DM, de Souza MM, Mello e Souza (1998) Short- and long-term memory are differentially regulated by monoaminergic systems in the rat brain. Neurobiol Learn Mem 69:219-224.

Izquierdo I, Medina JH, Vianna MR, Izquierdo LA, Barros DM (1999) Separate mechanisms for short- and long-term memory. Behav Brain Res 103:1-11.

Izumi Y, Zorumski CF (1999) Norepinephrine promotes long-term potentiation in the adult rat hippocampus in vitro. Synapse 31:196-202.

Jhaveri DJ, Mackay EW, Hamlin AS, Marathe SV, Nandam LS, Vaidya VA, Bartlett PF (2010) Norepinephrine directly activates adult hippocampal precursors via beta3-adrenergic receptors. J Neurosci 30:2795-2806.

Ji JZ, Wang XM, Li BM (2003) Deficit in long-term contextual fear memory induced by blockade of beta-adrenoceptors in hippocampal CA1 region. Eur J Neurosci 17:1947-1952.

Jiang Y, Langley B, Lubin FD, Renthal W, Wood MA, Yasui DH, Kumar A, Nestler EJ, Akbarian S, Beckel-Mitchener AC (2008) Epigenetics in the nervous system. J Neurosci 28:11753-11759.

Johannessen M, Moens U (2007) Multisite phosphorylation of the cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) by a diversity of protein kinases. Front Biosci 12:1814-1832.

Jonas P, Racca C, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH, Monyer H (1994) Differences in Ca2+ permeability of AMPA-type glutamate receptor channels in neocortical neurons caused by differential GluR-B subunit expression. Neuron 12:1281-1289.

Jones LS, Gauger LL, Davis JN (1985) Anatomy of brain alpha 1-adrenergic receptors: in vitro autoradiography with [1251]-heat. J Comp Neurol 231:190-208.

Kandel ER (2001) The molecular biology of memory storage: a dialogue between genes and synapses. Science 294:1030-1038.

Kandel ER, Brunelli M, Byrne J, Castellucci V (1976) A common presynaptic locus for the synaptic changes underlying short-term habituation and sensitization of the gill-withdrawal reflex in Aplysia. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 40:465-482.

Kangaspeska S, Stride B, Metivier R, Polycarpou-Schwarz M, Ibberson D, Carmouche RP, Benes V, Gannon F, Reid G (2008) Transient cyclical methylation of promoter DNA. Nature 452:112-115.

Kanhema T, Dagestad G, Panja D, Tiron A, Messaoudi E, Havik B, Ying SW, Nairn AC, Sonenberg N, Bramham CR (2006) Dual regulation of translation initiation and peptide chain elongation during BDNF-induced LTP in vivo: evidence for compartment-specific translation control. J Neurochem 99:1328-1337.

Kartsounis LD, Rudge P, Stevens JM (1995) Bilateral lesions of CA1 and CA2 fields of the hippocampus are sufficient to cause a severe amnesic syndrome in humans. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 59:95-98.

Karymov MA, Tomschik M, Leuba SH, Caiafa P, Zlatanova J (2001) DNA methylation-dependent chromatin fiber compaction in vivo and in vitro: requirement for linker histone. FASEB J 15:2631-2641.

Katsuki H, Izumi Y, Zorumski CF (1997) Noradrenergic regulation of synaptic plasticity in the hippocampal CA1 region. J Neurophysiol 77:3013-3020.

Kelleher RJ, III, Govindarajan A, Jung HY, Kang H, Tonegawa S (2004) Translational control by MAPK signaling in long-term synaptic plasticity and memory. Cell 116:467-479.

Kemp A, Manahan-Vaughan D (2008) Beta-adrenoreceptors comprise a critical element in learning-facilitated long-term plasticity. Cereb Cortex 18:1326-1334.

Kety SS (1972) The possible role of the adrenergic systems of the cortex in learning. Res Publ Assoc Res Nerv Ment Dis 50:376-389.

Kim SM, Frank LM (2009) Hippocampal lesions impair rapid learning of a continuous spatial alternation task. PLoS One 4:e5494.

Kimberly WT, Zheng JB, Guenette SY, Selkoe DJ (2001) The intracellular domain of the beta-amyloid precursor protein is stabilized by Fe65 and translocates to the nucleus in a notch-like manner. J Biol Chem 276:40288-40292.

Klein M, Kandel ER (1980) Mechanism of calcium current modulation underlying presynaptic facilitation and behavioral sensitization in Aplysia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:6912-6916.

Korzus E, Rosenfeld MG, Mayford M (2004) CBP histone acetyltransferase activity is a critical component of memory consolidation. Neuron 42:961-972.

Koshibu K, Graff J, Beullens M, Heitz FD, Berchtold D, Russig H, Farinelli M, Bollen M, Mansuy IM (2009) Protein phosphatase 1 regulates the histone code for long-term memory. J Neurosci 29:13079-13089.

Kotini AG, Mpakali A, Agalioti T (2011) Dnmt3a1 upregulates transcription of distinct genes and targets chromosomal gene clusters for epigenetic silencing in mouse embryonic stem cells. Mol Cell Biol 31:1577-1592.

Kramer JM, Kochinke K, Oortveld MA, Marks H, Kramer D, de Jong EK, Asztalos Z, Westwood JT, Stunnenberg HG, Sokolowski MB, Keleman K, Zhou H, van BH, Schenck A (2011) Epigenetic regulation of learning and memory by Drosophila EHMT/G9a. PLoS Biol 9:e1000569.

Krnjevic K, Ropert N (1982) Electrophysiological and pharmacological characteristics of facilitation of hippocampal population spikes by stimulation of the medial septum. Neuroscience 7:2165-2183.

Kullmann DM (2003) Silent synapses: what are they telling us about long-term potentiation? Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 358:727-733.

Kumamoto E (1996) Neuromodulation by Mg2+ and polyamines of excitatory amino acid currents in rodent neurones in culture. Magnes Res 9:317-327.

Kuo YM, Emmerling MR, Vigo-Pelfrey C, Kasunic TC, Kirkpatrick JB, Murdoch GH, Ball MJ, Roher AE (1996) Water-soluble Abeta (N-40, N-42) oligomers in normal and Alzheimer disease brains. J Biol Chem 271:4077-4081.

Lakowski B, Roelens I, Jacob S (2006) CoREST-like complexes regulate chromatin modification and neuronal gene expression. J Mol Neurosci 29:227-239.

Langer SZ (1976) The role of alpha- and beta-presynaptic receptors in the regulation of noradrenaline release elicited by nerve stimulation. Clin Sci Mol Med Suppl 3:423s-426s.

Lau OD, Courtney AD, Vassilev A, Marzilli LA, Cotter RJ, Nakatani Y, Cole PA (2000) p300/CBP-associated factor histone acetyltransferase processing of a peptide substrate. Kinetic analysis of the catalytic mechanism. J Biol Chem 275:21953-21959.

Lee HK, Barbarosie M, Kameyama K, Bear MF, Huganir RL (2000) Regulation of distinct AMPA receptor phosphorylation sites during bidirectional synaptic plasticity. Nature 405:955-959.

Lee KA, Masson N (1993) Transcriptional regulation by CREB and its relatives. Biochim Biophys Acta 1174:221-233.

Lerea LS, McCarthy KD (1989) Astroglial cells in vitro are heterogeneous with respect to expression of the alpha 1-adrenergic receptor. Glia 2:135-147.

Leslie FM, Loughlin SE, Sternberg DB, McGaugh JL, Young LE, Zornetzer SF (1985) Noradrenergic changes and memory loss in aged mice. Brain Res 359:292-299.

Levenson JM, O'Riordan KJ, Brown KD, Trinh MA, Molfese DL, Sweatt JD (2004a) Regulation of histone acetylation during memory formation in the hippocampus. J Biol Chem 279:40545-40559.

Levenson JM, O'Riordan KJ, Brown KD, Trinh MA, Molfese DL, Sweatt JD (2004b) Regulation of histone acetylation during memory formation in the hippocampus. J Biol Chem 279:40545-40559.

Levenson JM, Roth TL, Lubin FD, Miller CA, Huang IC, Desai P, Malone LM, Sweatt JD (2006a) Evidence that DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferase regulates synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. J Biol Chem 281:15763-15773.

Levenson JM, Roth TL, Lubin FD, Miller CA, Huang IC, Desai P, Malone LM, Sweatt JD (2006b) Evidence that DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferase regulates synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. J Biol Chem 281:15763-15773.

Levenson JM, Sweatt JD (2005) Epigenetic mechanisms in memory formation. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:108-118.

Levy WB, Steward O (1979) Synapses as associative memory elements in the hippocampal formation. Brain Res 175:233-245.

Li L, Suzuki T, Mori N, Greengard P (1993) Identification of a functional silencer element involved in neuron-specific expression of the synapsin I gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:1460-1464.

Li Y, He J, Sui S, Hu X, Zhao Y, Li N (2012) Clenbuterol upregulates histone demethylase JHDM2a via the beta2-adrenoceptor/cAMP/PKA/p-CREB signaling pathway. Cell Signal 24:2297-2306.

Liang KC, Juler RG, McGaugh JL (1986) Modulating effects of posttraining epinephrine on memory: involvement of the amygdala noradrenergic system. Brain Res 368:125-133.

Libet B, Kobayashi H, Tanaka T (1975) Synaptic coupling into the production and storage of a neuronal memory trace. Nature 258:155-157.

Liu K, Wang YF, Cantemir C, Muller MT (2003) Endogenous assays of DNA methyltransferases: Evidence for differential activities of DNMT1, DNMT2, and DNMT3 in mammalian cells in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 23:2709-2719.

Liu SJ, Cull-Candy SG (2002) Activity-dependent change in AMPA receptor properties in cerebellar stellate cells. J Neurosci 22:3881-3889.

Lonze BE, Ginty DD (2002) Function and regulation of CREB family transcription factors in the nervous system. Neuron 35:605-623.

Lubin FD, Roth TL, Sweatt JD (2008) Epigenetic regulation of BDNF gene transcription in the consolidation of fear memory. J Neurosci 28:10576-10586.

Lubin FD, Sweatt JD (2007) The IkappaB kinase regulates chromatin structure during reconsolidation of conditioned fear memories. Neuron 55:942-957.

Luger K, Mader AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ (1997) Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature 389:251-260.

Lynch G, Larson J, Kelso S, Barrionuevo G, Schottler F (1983) Intracellular injections of EGTA block induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation. Nature 305:719-721.

Lynch MA (2004) Long-term potentiation and memory. Physiol Rev 84:87-136.

Ma DK, Jang MH, Guo JU, Kitabatake Y, Chang ML, Pow-Anpongkul N, Flavell RA, Lu B, Ming GL, Song H (2009a) Neuronal activity-induced Gadd45b promotes epigenetic DNA demethylation and adult neurogenesis. Science 323:1074-1077.

Ma N, Abel T, Hernandez PJ (2009b) Exchange protein activated by cAMP enhances long-term memory formation independent of protein kinase A. Learn Mem 16:367-370.

MacDermott AB, Mayer ML, Westbrook GL, Smith SJ, Barker JL (1986) NMDA-receptor activation increases cytoplasmic calcium concentration in cultured spinal cord neurones. Nature 321:519-522.

Mackey SL, Kandel ER, Hawkins RD (1989) Identified serotonergic neurons LCB1 and RCB1 in the cerebral ganglia of Aplysia produce presynaptic facilitation of siphon sensory neurons. J Neurosci 9:4227-4235.

Maguire ME, Ross EM, Gilman AG (1977) beta-Adrenergic receptor: ligand binding properties and the interaction with adenylyl cyclase. Adv Cyclic Nucleotide Res 8:1-83.

Mahadevan LC, Willis AC, Barratt MJ (1991) Rapid histone H3 phosphorylation in response to growth factors, phorbol esters, okadaic acid, and protein synthesis inhibitors. Cell 65:775-783.

Maillet M, Robert SJ, Cacquevel M, Gastineau M, Vivien D, Bertoglio J, Zugaza JL, Fischmeister R, Lezoualc'h F (2003) Crosstalk between Rap1 and Rac regulates secretion of sAPPalpha. Nat Cell Biol 5:633-639.

Mair RG, McEntee WJ (1983) Korsakoff's psychosis: noradrenergic systems and cognitive impairment. Behav Brain Res 9:1-32.

Malenka RC (1991) Postsynaptic factors control the duration of synaptic enhancement in area CA1 of the hippocampus. Neuron 6:53-60.

Malenka RC, Bear MF (2004) LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 44:5-21.

Malenka RC, Kauer JA, Zucker RS, Nicoll RA (1988) Postsynaptic calcium is sufficient for potentiation of hippocampal synaptic transmission. Science 242:81-84.

Malenka RC, Nicoll RA (1999) Long-term potentiation--a decade of progress? Science 285:1870-1874.

Malinow R, Schulman H, Tsien RW (1989) Inhibition of postsynaptic PKC or CaMKII blocks induction but not expression of LTP. Science 245:862-866.

Manahan-Vaughan D, Braunewell KH (1999) Novelty acquisition is associated with induction of hippocampal long-term depression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:8739-8744.

Marks PA, Richon VM, Rifkind RA (2000) Histone deacetylase inhibitors: inducers of differentiation or apoptosis of transformed cells. J Natl Cancer Inst 92:1210-1216.

Martin KC, Sun YE (2004) To learn better, keep the HAT on. Neuron 42:879-881.

Martin SJ, Grimwood PD, Morris RG (2000) Synaptic plasticity and memory: an evaluation of the hypothesis. Annu Rev Neurosci 23:649-711.

Martin SJ, Morris RG (2002) New life in an old idea: the synaptic plasticity and memory hypothesis revisited. Hippocampus 12:609-636.

Martinez-Iglesias O, Ruiz-Llorente L, Sanchez-Martinez R, Garcia L, Zambrano A, Aranda A (2008) Histone deacetylase inhibitors: mechanism of action and therapeutic use in cancer. Clin Transl Oncol 10:395-398.

Martinowich K, Hattori D, Wu H, Fouse S, He F, Hu Y, Fan G, Sun YE (2003) DNA methylation-related chromatin remodeling in activity-dependent BDNF gene regulation. Science 302:890-893.

Maue RA, Kraner SD, Goodman RH, Mandel G (1990) Neuron-specific expression of the rat brain type II sodium channel gene is directed by upstream regulatory elements. Neuron 4:223-231.

Maurice T, Duclot F, Meunier J, Naert G, Givalois L, Meffre J, Celerier A, Jacquet C, Copois V, Mechti N, Ozato K, Gongora C (2008) Altered memory capacities and response to stress in p300/CBP-associated factor (PCAF) histone acetylase knockout mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:1584-1602.

Mayer ML, Westbrook GL (1987) Permeation and block of N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor channels by divalent cations in mouse cultured central neurones. J Physiol 394:501-527.

Mayer ML, Westbrook GL, Guthrie PB (1984) Voltage-dependent block by Mg2+ of NMDA responses in spinal cord neurones. Nature 309:261-263.

Mayford M, Bach ME, Huang YY, Wang L, Hawkins RD, Kandel ER (1996) Control of memory formation through regulated expression of a CaMKII transgene. Science 274:1678-1683. McEchron MD, Tseng W, Disterhoft JF (2003) Single neurons in CA1 hippocampus encode trace interval duration during trace heart rate (fear) conditioning in rabbit. J Neurosci 23:1535-1547.

McGaugh JL (2000) Memory--a century of consolidation. Science 287:248-251.

McGaugh JL (2002) Memory consolidation and the amygdala: a systems perspective. Trends Neurosci 25:456.

McGaugh JL, Roozendaal B (2002) Role of adrenal stress hormones in forming lasting memories in the brain. Curr Opin Neurobiol 12:205-210.

McGaugh JL, Roozendaal B (2009) Drug enhancement of memory consolidation: historical perspective and neurobiological implications. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 202:3-14.

McManus KJ, Hendzel MJ (2001) CBP, a transcriptional coactivator and acetyltransferase. Biochem Cell Biol 79:253-266.

McNaughton BL, Douglas RM, Goddard GV (1978) Synaptic enhancement in fascia dentata: cooperativity among coactive afferents. Brain Res 157:277-293.

McPhee I, Gibson LC, Kewney J, Darroch C, Stevens PA, Spinks D, Cooreman A, MacKenzie SJ (2005) Cyclic nucleotide signalling: a molecular approach to drug discovery for Alzheimer's disease. Biochem Soc Trans 33:1330-1332.

Metivier R, Gallais R, Tiffoche C, Le PC, Jurkowska RZ, Carmouche RP, Ibberson D, Barath P, Demay F, Reid G, Benes V, Jeltsch A, Gannon F, Salbert G (2008) Cyclical DNA methylation of a transcriptionally active promoter. Nature 452:45-50.

Miller CA, Campbell SL, Sweatt JD (2008) DNA methylation and histone acetylation work in concert to regulate memory formation and synaptic plasticity. Neurobiol Learn Mem 89:599-603.

Miller CA, Gavin CF, White JA, Parrish RR, Honasoge A, Yancey CR, Rivera IM, Rubio MD, Rumbaugh G, Sweatt JD (2010) Cortical DNA methylation maintains remote memory. Nat Neurosci 13:664-666.

Miller CA, Sweatt JD (2007) Covalent modification of DNA regulates memory formation. Neuron 53:857-869.

Milner AJ, Cummings DM, Spencer JP, Murphy KP (2004) Bi-directional plasticity and age-dependent long-term depression at mouse CA3-CA1 hippocampal synapses. Neurosci Lett 367:1-5.

Milner TA, Lee A, Aicher SA, Rosin DL (1998) Hippocampal alpha2a-adrenergic receptors are located predominantly presynaptically but are also found postsynaptically and in selective astrocytes. J Comp Neurol 395:310-327.

Minocherhomjee AM, Roufogalis BD (1982) Mechanisms of coupling of the beta-adrenergic receptor to adenylate cyclase--an overview. Gen Pharmacol 13:87-93.

Mishkin M, Vargha-Khadem F, Gadian DG (1998) Amnesia and the organization of the hippocampal system. Hippocampus 8:212-216.

Mitsuyama F, Niimi G, Kato K, Hirosawa K, Mikoshiba K, Okuya M, Karagiozov K, Kato Y, Kanno T, Sanoe H, Koide T (2008) Redistribution of microtubules in dendrites of hippocampal CA1 neurons after tetanic stimulation during long-term potentiation. Ital J Anat Embryol 113:17-27.

Mizobe T (1997) [Adrenergic receptors and alpha 2 agonists--1) Molecular biological study of adrenoceptors]. Masui 46:650-657.

Mizzen CA, Allis CD (1998) Linking histone acetylation to transcriptional regulation. Cell Mol Life Sci 54:6-20.

Momparler RL (2005) Pharmacology of 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine). Semin Hematol 42:S9-16.

Monsey MS, Ota KT, Akingbade IF, Hong ES, Schafe GE (2011) Epigenetic alterations are critical for fear memory consolidation and synaptic plasticity in the lateral amygdala. PLoS One 6:e19958.

Moody TD, Carlisle HJ, O'Dell TJ (1999) A nitric oxide-independent and betaadrenergic receptor-sensitive form of metaplasticity limits theta-frequency stimulation-induced LTP in the hippocampal CA1 region. Learn Mem 6:619-633.

Moody TD, Watabe AM, Indersmitten T, Komiyama NH, Grant SG, O'Dell TJ (2011) Beta-adrenergic receptor activation rescues theta frequency stimulationinduced LTP deficits in mice expressing C-terminally truncated NMDA receptor GluN2A subunits. Learn Mem 18:118-127.

Moon IS, Cho SJ, Seog DH, Walikonis R (2009) Neuronal activation increases the density of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E mRNA clusters in dendrites of cultured hippocampal neurons. Exp Mol Med 41:601-610.

Moore RY, Bloom FE (1979) Central catecholamine neuron systems: anatomy and physiology of the norepinephrine and epinephrine systems. Annu Rev Neurosci 2:113-168.

Mori N, Ishikawa C, Senba M, Kimura M, Okano Y (2011) Effects of AZD1152, a selective Aurora B kinase inhibitor, on Burkitt's and Hodgkin's lymphomas. Biochem Pharmacol 81:1106-1115.

Mori N, Schoenherr C, Vandenbergh DJ, Anderson DJ (1992) A common silencer element in the SCG10 and type II Na+ channel genes binds a factor present in nonneuronal cells but not in neuronal cells. Neuron 9:45-54.

Morris AJ, Malbon CC (1999) Physiological regulation of G protein-linked signaling. Physiol Rev 79:1373-1430.

Morris RG, Anderson E, Lynch GS, Baudry M (1986) Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5. Nature 319:774-776.

Morris RG, Davis S, Butcher SP (1990) Hippocampal synaptic plasticity and NMDA receptors: a role in information storage? Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 329:187-204.

Morrison JH, Foote SL (1986) Noradrenergic and serotoninergic innervation of cortical, thalamic, and tectal visual structures in Old and New World monkeys. J Comp Neurol 243:117-138.

Moser EI, Krobert KA, Moser MB, Morris RG (1998) Impaired spatial learning after saturation of long-term potentiation. Science 281:2038-2042.

Moyer JR, Jr., Deyo RA, Disterhoft JF (1990) Hippocampectomy disrupts trace eye-blink conditioning in rabbits. Behav Neurosci 104:243-252.

Mueller AL, Hoffer BJ, Dunwiddie TV (1981) Noradrenergic responses in rat hippocampus: evidence for medication by alpha and beta receptors in the in vitro slice. Brain Res 214:113-126.

Mueller AL, Palmer MR, Hoffer BJ, Dunwiddie TV (1982) Hippocampal noradrenergic responses in vivo and in vitro. Characterization of alpha and beta components. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 318:259-266.

Muhlbacher F, Schiessel H, Holm C (2006) Tail-induced attraction between nucleosome core particles. Phys Rev E Stat Nonlin Soft Matter Phys 74:031919.

Mujtaba S, Zeng L, Zhou MM (2007) Structure and acetyl-lysine recognition of the bromodomain. Oncogene 26:5521-5527.

Munera A, Gruart A, Munoz MD, Fernandez-Mas R, Delgado-Garcia JM (2001) Hippocampal pyramidal cell activity encodes conditioned stimulus predictive value during classical conditioning in alert cats. J Neurophysiol 86:2571-2582. Munro CA, Walling SG, Evans JH, Harley CW (2001) Beta-adrenergic blockade in the dentate gyrus in vivo prevents high frequency-induced long-term potentiation of EPSP slope, but not long-term potentiation of population spike amplitude. Hippocampus 11:322-328.

Murchison CF, Schutsky K, Jin SH, Thomas SA (2011) Norepinephrine and ss(1)-adrenergic signaling facilitate activation of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons during contextual memory retrieval. Neuroscience 181:109-116.

Murchison CF, Zhang XY, Zhang WP, Ouyang M, Lee A, Thomas SA (2004) A distinct role for norepinephrine in memory retrieval. Cell 117:131-143.

MURRAY K (1964) THE OCCURRENCE OF EPSILON-N-METHYL LYSINE IN HISTONES. Biochemistry 3:10-15.

Mynlieff M, Dunwiddie TV (1988) Noradrenergic depression of synaptic responses in hippocampus of rat: evidence for mediation by alpha 1-receptors. Neuropharmacology 27:391-398.

Nakao K, Ikegaya Y, Yamada MK, Nishiyama N, Matsuki N (2002) Hippocampal long-term depression as an index of spatial working memory. Eur J Neurosci 16:970-974.

Nakao M (2001) Epigenetics: interaction of DNA methylation and chromatin. Gene 278:25-31.

Nakazawa K, Quirk MC, Chitwood RA, Watanabe M, Yeckel MF, Sun LD, Kato A, Carr CA, Johnston D, Wilson MA, Tonegawa S (2002) Requirement for hippocampal CA3 NMDA receptors in associative memory recall. Science 297:211-218.

Naruse Y, Aoki T, Kojima T, Mori N (1999) Neural restrictive silencer factor recruits mSin3 and histone deacetylase complex to repress neuron-specific target genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:13691-13696.

Navakkode S, Sajikumar S, Frey JU (2007) Synergistic requirements for the induction of dopaminergic D1/D5-receptor-mediated LTP in hippocampal slices of rat CA1 in vitro. Neuropharmacology 52:1547-1554.

Nayak A, Zastrow DJ, Lickteig R, Zahniser NR, Browning MD (1998) Maintenance of late-phase LTP is accompanied by PKA-dependent increase in AMPA receptor synthesis. Nature 394:680-683.

Nelson ED, Monteggia LM (2011) Epigenetics in the mature mammalian brain: effects on behavior and synaptic transmission. Neurobiol Learn Mem 96:53-60.

Nguyen PV, Abel T, Kandel ER (1994) Requirement of a critical period of transcription for induction of a late phase of LTP. Science 265:1104-1107.

Nguyen PV, Kandel ER (1996) A macromolecular synthesis-dependent late phase of long-term potentiation requiring cAMP in the medial perforant pathway of rat hippocampal slices. J Neurosci 16:3189-3198.

Nicholas AP, Pieribone V, Hokfelt T (1993) Distributions of mRNAs for alpha-2 adrenergic receptor subtypes in rat brain: an in situ hybridization study. J Comp Neurol 328:575-594.

Nowak L, Bregestovski P, Ascher P, Herbet A, Prochiantz A (1984) Magnesium gates glutamate-activated channels in mouse central neurones. Nature 307:462-465.

Nowak SJ, Pai CY, Corces VG (2003) Protein phosphatase 2A activity affects histone H3 phosphorylation and transcription in Drosophila melanogaster. Mol Cell Biol 23:6129-6138.

O'Keefe J, Dostrovsky J (1971) The hippocampus as a spatial map. Preliminary evidence from unit activity in the freely-moving rat. Brain Res 34:171-175.

O'shea M, Rowell CH (1976) The neuronal basis of a sensory analyser, the acridid movement detector system. II. response decrement, convergence, and the nature of the excitatory afferents to the fan-like dendrites of the LGMD. J Exp Biol 65:289-308.

Ogawa H, Ishiguro K, Gaubatz S, Livingston DM, Nakatani Y (2002) A complex with chromatin modifiers that occupies E2F- and Myc-responsive genes in G0 cells. Science 296:1132-1136.

Ogita K, Kuramoto N, Yoneda Y (1998) [Calcium channels associated with glutamate receptors]. Nihon Rinsho 56:1819-1823.

Ogryzko VV, Schiltz RL, Russanova V, Howard BH, Nakatani Y (1996) The transcriptional coactivators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases. Cell 87:953-959.

Oike Y, Hata A, Mamiya T, Kaname T, Noda Y, Suzuki M, Yasue H, Nabeshima T, Araki K, Yamamura K (1999) Truncated CBP protein leads to classical Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome phenotypes in mice: implications for a dominant-negative mechanism. Hum Mol Genet 8:387-396.

Oliveira AM, Estevez MA, Hawk JD, Grimes S, Brindle PK, Abel T (2011) Subregion-specific p300 conditional knock-out mice exhibit long-term memory impairments. Learn Mem 18:161-169.

Oliveira AM, Wood MA, McDonough CB, Abel T (2007) Transgenic mice expressing an inhibitory truncated form of p300 exhibit long-term memory deficits. Learn Mem 14:564-572.

Ostroff LE, Fiala JC, Allwardt B, Harris KM (2002) Polyribosomes redistribute from dendritic shafts into spines with enlarged synapses during LTP in developing rat hippocampal slices. Neuron 35:535-545.

Otnaess MK, Brun VH, Moser MB, Moser EI (1999) Pretraining prevents spatial learning impairment after saturation of hippocampal long-term potentiation. J Neurosci 19:RC49.

Otto T, Eichenbaum H, Wiener SI, Wible CG (1991) Learning-related patterns of CA1 spike trains parallel stimulation parameters optimal for inducing hippocampal long-term potentiation. Hippocampus 1:181-192.

Ouyang M, Thomas SA (2005) A requirement for memory retrieval during and after long-term extinction learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:9347-9352.

Ouyang M, Zhang L, Zhu JJ, Schwede F, Thomas SA (2008) Epac signaling is required for hippocampus-dependent memory retrieval. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:11993-11997.

Pang K, Rose GM (1987) Differential effects of norepinephrine on hippocampal complex-spike and theta-neurons. Brain Res 425:146-158.

Paquette AJ, Perez SE, Anderson DJ (2000) Constitutive expression of the neuron-restrictive silencer factor (NRSF)/REST in differentiating neurons disrupts neuronal gene expression and causes axon pathfinding errors in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:12318-12323.

Peters AH, Schubeler D (2005) Methylation of histones: playing memory with DNA. Curr Opin Cell Biol 17:230-238.

Petrij F, Giles RH, Dauwerse HG, Saris JJ, Hennekam RC, Masuno M, Tommerup N, van Ommen GJ, Goodman RH, Peters DJ, . (1995) Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome caused by mutations in the transcriptional co-activator CBP. Nature 376:348-351.

Pham AD, Sauer F (2000) Ubiquitin-activating/conjugating activity of TAFII250, a mediator of activation of gene expression in Drosophila. Science 289:2357-2360.

Pickering SJ (2001) Cognitive approaches to the fractionation of visuo-spatial working memory. Cortex 37:457-473.

Pieribone VA, Nicholas AP, Dagerlind A, Hokfelt T (1994) Distribution of alpha 1 adrenoceptors in rat brain revealed by in situ hybridization experiments utilizing subtype-specific probes. J Neurosci 14:4252-4268.

Pinsker HM, Hening WA, Carew TJ, Kandel ER (1973) Long-term sensitization of a defensive withdrawal reflex in Aplysia. Science 182:1039-1042.

Pokorska A, Vanhoutte P, Arnold FJ, Silvagno F, Hardingham GE, Bading H (2003) Synaptic activity induces signalling to CREB without increasing global levels of cAMP in hippocampal neurons. J Neurochem 84:447-452.

Poncer JC (2003) Hippocampal long term potentiation: silent synapses and beyond. J Physiol Paris 97:415-422.

Preuss U, Landsberg G, Scheidtmann KH (2003) Novel mitosis-specific phosphorylation of histone H3 at Thr11 mediated by Dlk/ZIP kinase. Nucleic Acids Res 31:878-885.

Price DM, Kanyo R, Steinberg N, Chik CL, Ho AK (2009) Nocturnal activation of aurora C in rat pineal gland: its role in the norepinephrine-induced phosphorylation of histone H3 and gene expression. Endocrinology 150:2334-2341.

Price JC, Guan S, Burlingame A, Prusiner SB, Ghaemmaghami S (2010) Analysis of proteome dynamics in the mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:14508-14513.

Przybyslawski J, Roullet P, Sara SJ (1999) Attenuation of emotional and nonemotional memories after their reactivation: role of beta adrenergic receptors. J Neurosci 19:6623-6628.

Pussinen R, Sirvio J (1998) Minor role for alpha1-adrenoceptors in the facilitation of induction and early maintenance of long-term potentiation in the CA1 field of the hippocampus. J Neurosci Res 51:309-315.

Quina AS, Buschbeck M, Di CL (2006) Chromatin structure and epigenetics. Biochem Pharmacol 72:1563-1569.

Qureshi IA, Gokhan S, Mehler MF (2010) REST and CoREST are transcriptional and epigenetic regulators of seminal neural fate decisions. Cell Cycle 9:4477-4486.

Rainbow TC, Adler JE, Flexner LB (1976) Comparison in mice of the amnestic effects of cycloheximide and 6-hydroxydopamine in a one-trial passive avoidance task. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 4:347-349.

Raman IM, Tong G, Jahr CE (1996) Beta-adrenergic regulation of synaptic NMDA receptors by cAMP-dependent protein kinase. Neuron 16:415-421.

Randt CT, Judge ME, Bonnet KA, Quartermain D (1982) Brain cyclic AMP and memory in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 17:677-680.

Randt CT, Quartermain D, Goldstein M, Anagnoste B (1971) Norepinephrine biosynthesis inhibition: effects on memory in mice. Science 172:498-499.

Raymond CR, Thompson VL, Tate WP, Abraham WC (2000) Metabotropic glutamate receptors trigger homosynaptic protein synthesis to prolong long-term potentiation. J Neurosci 20:969-976.

Raymond JR (1995) Multiple mechanisms of receptor-G protein signaling specificity. Am J Physiol 269:F141-F158.

Repovs G, Baddeley A (2006) The multi-component model of working memory: explorations in experimental cognitive psychology. Neuroscience 139:5-21.

Reul JM, Chandramohan Y (2007) Epigenetic mechanisms in stress-related memory formation. Psychoneuroendocrinology 32 Suppl 1:S21-S25.

Reul JM, Hesketh SA, Collins A, Mecinas MG (2009) Epigenetic mechanisms in the dentate gyrus act as a molecular switch in hippocampus-associated memory formation. Epigenetics 4:434-439.

Reznikoff GA, Manaker S, Rhodes CH, Winokur A, Rainbow TC (1986) Localization and quantification of beta-adrenergic receptors in human brain. Neurology 36:1067-1073.

Roberson ED, English JD, Adams JP, Selcher JC, Kondratick C, Sweatt JD (1999) The mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade couples PKA and PKC to cAMP response element binding protein phosphorylation in area CA1 of hippocampus. J Neurosci 19:4337-4348.

Roche KW, O'Brien RJ, Mammen AL, Bernhardt J, Huganir RL (1996) Characterization of multiple phosphorylation sites on the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit. Neuron 16:1179-1188.

Rogan MT, Staubli UV, LeDoux JE (1997) Fear conditioning induces associative long-term potentiation in the amygdala. Nature 390:604-607.

Roopra A, Sharling L, Wood IC, Briggs T, Bachfischer U, Paquette AJ, Buckley NJ (2000) Transcriptional repression by neuron-restrictive silencer factor is mediated via the Sin3-histone deacetylase complex. Mol Cell Biol 20:2147-2157.

Roozendaal B, Hernandez A, Cabrera SM, Hagewoud R, Malvaez M, Stefanko DP, Haettig J, Wood MA (2010) Membrane-associated glucocorticoid activity is necessary for modulation of long-term memory via chromatin modification. J Neurosci 30:5037-5046.

Roth TL, Sweatt JD (2009) Regulation of chromatin structure in memory formation. Curr Opin Neurobiol 19:336-342.

Roussel B, Buguet A, Bobillier P, Jouvet M (1967) [Locus ceruleus, paradoxal sleep, and cerebral noradrenaline]. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil 161:2537-2541.

Routtenberg A, Rekart JL (2005) Post-translational protein modification as the substrate for long-lasting memory. Trends Neurosci 28:12-19.

Rutecki PA (1995) Noradrenergic modulation of epileptiform activity in the hippocampus. Epilepsy Res 20:125-136.

Sanchez ML, Gutierrez C (2009) Novel insights into the plant histone code: lessons from ORC1. Epigenetics 4:205-208.

Sanchez-Andres JV, Alkon DL (1991) Voltage-clamp analysis of the effects of classical conditioning on the hippocampus. J Neurophysiol 65:796-807.

Sanes JR, Lichtman JW (1999) Can molecules explain long-term potentiation? Nat Neurosci 2:597-604.

Sara SJ (2009) The locus coeruleus and noradrenergic modulation of cognition. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:211-223.

Sara SJ, Devauges V (1988) Priming stimulation of locus coeruleus facilitates memory retrieval in the rat. Brain Res 438:299-303.

Sara SJ, Devauges V (1989) Idazoxan, an alpha-2 antagonist, facilitates memory retrieval in the rat. Behav Neural Biol 51:401-411.

Sara SJ, Roullet P, Przybyslawski J (1999) Consolidation of memory for odorreward association: beta-adrenergic receptor involvement in the late phase. Learn Mem 6:88-96.

Sarvey JM, Burgard EC, Decker G (1989) Long-term potentiation: studies in the hippocampal slice. J Neurosci Methods 28:109-124.

Sassone-Corsi P, Mizzen CA, Cheung P, Crosio C, Monaco L, Jacquot S, Hanauer A, Allis CD (1999) Requirement of Rsk-2 for epidermal growth factoractivated phosphorylation of histone H3. Science 285:886-891.

Sastre M, Steiner H, Fuchs K, Capell A, Multhaup G, Condron MM, Teplow DB, Haass C (2001) Presenilin-dependent gamma-secretase processing of betaamyloid precursor protein at a site corresponding to the S3 cleavage of Notch. EMBO Rep 2:835-841.

Schacter DL (1990) Perceptual representation systems and implicit memory. Toward a resolution of the multiple memory systems debate. Ann N Y Acad Sci 608:543-567.

Schafe GE, Atkins CM, Swank MW, Bauer EP, Sweatt JD, LeDoux JE (2000) Activation of ERK/MAP kinase in the amygdala is required for memory consolidation of pavlovian fear conditioning. J Neurosci 20:8177-8187.

Scheiderer CL, Dobrunz LE, McMahon LL (2004) Novel form of long-term synaptic depression in rat hippocampus induced by activation of alpha 1 adrenergic receptors. J Neurophysiol 91:1071-1077.

Schimanski LA, Wahlsten D, Nguyen PV (2002) Selective modification of shortterm hippocampal synaptic plasticity and impaired memory extinction in mice with a congenitally reduced hippocampal commissure. J Neurosci 22:8277-8286.

Scoville WB, Milner B (1957) Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 20: 11-21

Shaywitz AJ, Greenberg ME (1999) CREB: a stimulus-induced transcription factor activated by a diverse array of extracellular signals. Annu Rev Biochem 68:821-861.

Shi S, Hayashi Y, Esteban JA, Malinow R (2001) Subunit-specific rules governing AMPA receptor trafficking to synapses in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. Cell 105:331-343.

Silva AJ, Stevens CF, Tonegawa S, Wang Y (1992) Deficient hippocampal longterm potentiation in alpha-calcium-calmodulin kinase II mutant mice. Science 257:201-206.

Sirianni N, Naidu S, Pereira J, Pillotto RF, Hoffman EP (1998) Rett syndrome: confirmation of X-linked dominant inheritance, and localization of the gene to Xq28. Am J Hum Genet 63:1552-1558.

Sirvio J, MacDonald E (1999) Central alpha1-adrenoceptors: their role in the modulation of attention and memory formation. Pharmacol Ther 83:49-65.

Smart FM, Edelman GM, Vanderklish PW (2003) BDNF induces translocation of initiation factor 4E to mRNA granules: evidence for a role of synaptic microfilaments and integrins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:14403-14408.

Soderling TR, Derkach VA (2000) Postsynaptic protein phosphorylation and LTP. Trends Neurosci 23:75-80.

Sossin WS (1996) Mechanisms for the generation of synapse specificity in longterm memory: the implications of a requirement for transcription. Trends Neurosci 19:215-218.

Sossin WS, Sacktor TC, Schwartz JH (1994) Persistent activation of protein kinase C during the development of long-term facilitation in Aplysia. Learn Mem 1:189-202.

Squire LR (1992) Memory and the hippocampus: a synthesis from findings with rats, monkeys, and humans. Psychol Rev 99:195-231.

Squire LR, Alvarez P (1995) Retrograde amnesia and memory consolidation: a neurobiological perspective. Curr Opin Neurobiol 5:169-177.

Squire LR, McKee RD (1993) Declarative and nondeclarative memory in opposition: when prior events influence amnesic patients more than normal subjects. Mem Cognit 21:424-430.

Squire LR, Zola SM (1997) Amnesia, memory and brain systems. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 352:1663-1673.

Squire LR, Zola-Morgan S (1988) Memory: brain systems and behavior. Trends Neurosci 11:170-175.

Squire LR, Zola-Morgan S (1991) The medial temporal lobe memory system. Science 253:1380-1386.

Stanton PK, Sarvey JM (1984) Blockade of long-term potentiation in rat hippocampal CA1 region by inhibitors of protein synthesis. J Neurosci 4:3080-3088.

Stanton PK, Sarvey JM (1987) Norepinephrine regulates long-term potentiation of both the population spike and dendritic EPSP in hippocampal dentate gyrus. Brain Res Bull 18:115-119.

Staubli U, Lynch G (1987) Stable hippocampal long-term potentiation elicited by 'theta' pattern stimulation. Brain Res 435:227-234.

Stefanko DP, Barrett RM, Ly AR, Reolon GK, Wood MA (2009) Modulation of long-term memory for object recognition via HDAC inhibition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:9447-9452.

Stent GS (1973) A physiological mechanism for Hebb's postulate of learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 70:997-1001.

Sternberg DB, Isaacs KR, Gold PE, McGaugh JL (1985) Epinephrine facilitation of appetitive learning: attenuation with adrenergic receptor antagonists. Behav Neural Biol 44:447-453.

Sternberg DB, Korol D, Novack GD, McGaugh JL (1986) Epinephrine-induced memory facilitation: attenuation by adrenoceptor antagonists. Eur J Pharmacol 129:189-193.

Steward O (1997) mRNA localization in neurons: a multipurpose mechanism? Neuron 18:9-12.

Steward O, Schuman EM (2001) Protein synthesis at synaptic sites on dendrites. Annu Rev Neurosci 24:299-325.

Steward O, Schuman EM (2003) Compartmentalized synthesis and degradation of proteins in neurons. Neuron 40:347-359.

Stone EA, Quartermain D (1999) Alpha-1-noradrenergic neurotransmission, corticosterone, and behavioral depression. Biol Psychiatry 46:1287-1300.

Strahl BD, Allis CD (2000) The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403:41-45.

Stresemann C, Brueckner B, Musch T, Stopper H, Lyko F (2006) Functional diversity of DNA methyltransferase inhibitors in human cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 66:2794-2800.

Stresemann C, Lyko F (2008) Modes of action of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitors azacytidine and decitabine. Int J Cancer 123:8-13.

Struhl K (1998) Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. Genes Dev 12:599-606.

Suthana NA, Ekstrom AD, Moshirvaziri S, Knowlton B, Bookheimer SY (2009) Human hippocampal CA1 involvement during allocentric encoding of spatial information. J Neurosci 29:10512-10519.

Suzuki WA, Amaral DG (1994a) Perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices of the macaque monkey: cortical afferents. J Comp Neurol 350:497-533.

Suzuki WA, Amaral DG (1994b) Topographic organization of the reciprocal connections between the monkey entorhinal cortex and the perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices. J Neurosci 14:1856-1877.

Swank MW, Sweatt JD (2001) Increased histone acetyltransferase and lysine acetyltransferase activity and biphasic activation of the ERK/RSK cascade in insular cortex during novel taste learning. J Neurosci 21:3383-3391.

Swanson-Park JL, Coussens CM, Mason-Parker SE, Raymond CR, Hargreaves EL, Dragunow M, Cohen AS, Abraham WC (1999) A double dissociation within the hippocampus of dopamine D1/D5 receptor and beta-adrenergic receptor contributions to the persistence of long-term potentiation. Neuroscience 92:485-497.

Sweatt JD (2001) The neuronal MAP kinase cascade: a biochemical signal integration system subserving synaptic plasticity and memory. J Neurochem 76:1-10.

Sweatt JD (2004) Mitogen-activated protein kinases in synaptic plasticity and memory. Curr Opin Neurobiol 14:311-317.

Sweatt JD, Kandel ER (1989) Persistent and transcriptionally-dependent increase in protein phosphorylation in long-term facilitation of Aplysia sensory neurons. Nature 339:51-54.

Tanaka H, Grooms SY, Bennett MV, Zukin RS (2000) The AMPAR subunit GluR2: still front and center-stage. Brain Res 886:190-207.

Tang SJ, Reis G, Kang H, Gingras AC, Sonenberg N, Schuman EM (2002) A rapamycin-sensitive signaling pathway contributes to long-term synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:467-472.

Tang SJ, Schuman EM (2002) Protein synthesis in the dendrite. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 357:521-529.

Tanner KG, Langer MR, Denu JM (2000a) Kinetic mechanism of human histone acetyltransferase P/CAF. Biochemistry 39:11961-11969.

Tanner KG, Langer MR, Kim Y, Denu JM (2000b) Kinetic mechanism of the histone acetyltransferase GCN5 from yeast. J Biol Chem 275:22048-22055.

Tanner KG, Trievel RC, Kuo MH, Howard RM, Berger SL, Allis CD, Marmorstein R, Denu JM (1999) Catalytic mechanism and function of invariant glutamic acid 173 from the histone acetyltransferase GCN5 transcriptional coactivator. J Biol Chem 274:18157-18160.

Teng E, Squire LR (1999) Memory for places learned long ago is intact after hippocampal damage. Nature 400:675-677.

Tenorio G, Connor SA, Guevremont D, Abraham WC, Williams J, O'Dell TJ, Nguyen PV (2010) 'Silent' priming of translation-dependent LTP by ss-adrenergic receptors involves phosphorylation and recruitment of AMPA receptors. Learn Mem 17:627-638.

Thiagalingam S, Cheng KH, Lee HJ, Mineva N, Thiagalingam A, Ponte JF (2003) Histone deacetylases: unique players in shaping the epigenetic histone code. Ann N Y Acad Sci 983:84-100.

Thomas GM, Huganir RL (2004) MAPK cascade signalling and synaptic plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:173-183.

Thomas MJ, Moody TD, Makhinson M, O'Dell TJ (1996) Activity-dependent beta-adrenergic modulation of low frequency stimulation induced LTP in the hippocampal CA1 region. Neuron 17:475-482.

Thompson RF (1988) The neural basis of basic associative learning of discrete behavioral responses. Trends Neurosci 11:152-155.

Thomson S, Clayton AL, Hazzalin CA, Rose S, Barratt MJ, Mahadevan LC (1999) The nucleosomal response associated with immediate-early gene induction is mediated via alternative MAP kinase cascades: MSK1 as a potential histone H3/HMG-14 kinase. EMBO J 18:4779-4793.

Tian JH, Wang XM, Han JS (1996) [Transcriptional regulation by CREB and proteins of CREB family]. Sheng Li Ke Xue Jin Zhan 27:227-232.

TOLMAN EC (1948) Cognitive maps in rats and men. Psychol Rev 55:189-208.

Tronel S, Feenstra MG, Sara SJ (2004) Noradrenergic action in prefrontal cortex in the late stage of memory consolidation. Learn Mem 11:453-458.

Tsien JZ, Huerta PT, Tonegawa S (1996) The essential role of hippocampal CA1 NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity in spatial memory. Cell 87:1327-1338.

Tsokas P, Ma T, Iyengar R, Landau EM, Blitzer RD (2007) Mitogen-activated protein kinase upregulates the dendritic translation machinery in long-term potentiation by controlling the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway. J Neurosci 27:5885-5894.

Tsujioka T, Yokoi A, Uesugi M, Kishimoto M, Tochigi A, Suemori S, Tohyama Y, Tohyama K (2013) Effects of DNA methyltransferase inhibitors (DNMTIs) on MDS-derived cell lines. Exp Hematol 41:189-197.

Tulving E, Schacter DL (1990) Priming and human memory systems. Science 247:301-306.

Turker MS (1999) The establishment and maintenance of DNA methylation patterns in mouse somatic cells. Semin Cancer Biol 9:329-337.

Turner G, Webb T, Wake S, Robinson H (1996) Prevalence of fragile X syndrome. Am J Med Genet 64:196-197.

Van Hoesen GW, Pandya DN, Butters N (1972) Cortical afferents to the entorhinal cortex of the Rhesus monkey. Science 175:1471-1473.

van Stegeren AH (2008) The role of the noradrenergic system in emotional memory. Acta Psychol (Amst) 127:532-541.

Vanhoose AM, Clements JM, Winder DG (2006) Novel blockade of protein kinase A-mediated phosphorylation of AMPA receptors. J Neurosci 26:1138-1145.

Vanhoose AM, Winder DG (2003) NMDA and beta1-adrenergic receptors differentially signal phosphorylation of glutamate receptor type 1 in area CA1 of hippocampus. J Neurosci 23:5827-5834.

Vecsey CG, Hawk JD, Lattal KM, Stein JM, Fabian SA, Attner MA, Cabrera SM, McDonough CB, Brindle PK, Abel T, Wood MA (2007) Histone deacetylase inhibitors enhance memory and synaptic plasticity via CREB:CBP-dependent transcriptional activation. J Neurosci 27:6128-6140.

Veldic M, Caruncho HJ, Liu WS, Davis J, Satta R, Grayson DR, Guidotti A, Costa E (2004) DNA-methyltransferase 1 mRNA is selectively overexpressed in telencephalic GABAergic interneurons of schizophrenia brains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:348-353.

Veldic M, Guidotti A, Maloku E, Davis JM, Costa E (2005) In psychosis, cortical interneurons overexpress DNA-methyltransferase 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:2152-2157.

Vetting MW, Carvalho LP Sd, Yu M, Hegde SS, Magnet S, Roderick SL, Blanchard JS (2005) Structure and functions of the GNAT superfamily of acetyltransferases. Arch Biochem Biophys 433:212-226.

Vignes M, Collingridge GL (1997) The synaptic activation of kainate receptors. Nature 388:179-182.

VOGT M (1954) Norepinephrine and epinephrine in the central nervous system. Pharmacol Rev 6:31-32.

von Rotz RC, Kohli BM, Bosset J, Meier M, Suzuki T, Nitsch RM, Konietzko U (2004) The APP intracellular domain forms nuclear multiprotein complexes and regulates the transcription of its own precursor. J Cell Sci 117:4435-4448.

Wanaka A, Kiyama H, Murakami T, Matsumoto M, Kamada T, Malbon CC, Tohyama M (1989) Immunocytochemical localization of beta-adrenergic receptors in the rat brain. Brain Res 485:125-140.

Warrington EK, Weiskrantz L (1968) New method of testing long-term retention with special reference to amnesic patients. Nature 217:972-974.

Watkins JC, Evans RH (1981) Excitatory amino acid transmitters. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 21:165-204.

Wei Y, Yu L, Bowen J, Gorovsky MA, Allis CD (1999) Phosphorylation of histone H3 is required for proper chromosome condensation and segregation. Cell 97:99-109.

Weisenberger DJ, Velicescu M, Cheng JC, Gonzales FA, Liang G, Jones PA (2004) Role of the DNA methyltransferase variant DNMT3b3 in DNA methylation. Mol Cancer Res 2:62-72.

West MH, Bonner WM (1980) Histone 2B can be modified by the attachment of ubiquitin. Nucleic Acids Res 8:4671-4680.

Whitlock JR, Heynen AJ, Shuler MG, Bear MF (2006) Learning induces long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Science 313:1093-1097.

Winder DG, Martin KC, Muzzio IA, Rohrer D, Chruscinski A, Kobilka B, Kandel ER (1999) ERK plays a regulatory role in induction of LTP by theta frequency stimulation and its modulation by beta-adrenergic receptors. Neuron 24:715-726.

Wolffe AP, Matzke MA (1999) Epigenetics: regulation through repression. Science 286:481-486.

Woo NH, Abel T, Nguyen PV (2002) Genetic and pharmacological demonstration of a role for cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase-mediated suppression of protein phosphatases in gating the expression of late LTP. Eur J Neurosci 16:1871-1876.

Wood MA, Attner MA, Oliveira AM, Brindle PK, Abel T (2006a) A transcription factor-binding domain of the coactivator CBP is essential for long-term memory and the expression of specific target genes. Learn Mem 13:609-617.

Wood MA, Hawk JD, Abel T (2006b) Combinatorial chromatin modifications and memory storage: a code for memory? Learn Mem 13:241-244.

Wood MA, Kaplan MP, Park A, Blanchard EJ, Oliveira AM, Lombardi TL, Abel T (2005) Transgenic mice expressing a truncated form of CREB-binding protein (CBP) exhibit deficits in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and memory storage. Learn Mem 12:111-119.

Wu SP, Lu KT, Chang WC, Gean PW (1999) Involvement of mitogen-activated protein kinase in hippocampal long-term potentiation. J Biomed Sci 6:409-417.

Xu WS, Parmigiani RB, Marks PA (2007) Histone deacetylase inhibitors: molecular mechanisms of action. Oncogene 26:5541-5552.

Yang XJ, Ogryzko VV, Nishikawa J, Howard BH, Nakatani Y (1996) A p300/CBP-associated factor that competes with the adenoviral oncoprotein E1A. Nature 382:319-324.

Yin JC, Wallach JS, Del VM, Wilder EL, Zhou H, Quinn WG, Tully T (1994) Induction of a dominant negative CREB transgene specifically blocks long-term memory in Drosophila. Cell 79:49-58.

Zalutsky RA, Nicoll RA (1990) Comparison of two forms of long-term potentiation in single hippocampal neurons. Science 248:1619-1624.

Zhou L, Cheng X, Connolly BA, Dickman MJ, Hurd PJ, Hornby DP (2002) Zebularine: a novel DNA methylation inhibitor that forms a covalent complex with DNA methyltransferases. J Mol Biol 321:591-599.

Zilber-Gachelin NF, Chartier MP (1973) Modification of the motor reflex responses due to repetition of the peripheral stimulus in the cockroach. I. Habituation at the level of an isolated abdominal ganglion. J Exp Biol 59:359-381.

Zilles K, Gross G, Schleicher A, Schildgen S, Bauer A, Bahro M, Schwendemann G, Zech K, Kolassa N (1991) Regional and laminar distributions of alpha 1-adrenoceptors and their subtypes in human and rat hippocampus. Neuroscience 40:307-320.

Zola-Morgan S, Squire LR, Amaral DG (1986) Human amnesia and the medial temporal region: enduring memory impairment following a bilateral lesion limited to field CA1 of the hippocampus. J Neurosci 6:2950-2967.

Zucker RS (1972) Crayfish escape behavior and central synapses. II. Physiological mechanisms underlying behavioral habituation. J Neurophysiol 35:621-637.